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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

At AmSouth, we pride ourselves on being The
Relationship People. With those three powerful words we
express our commitment to knowing our customers
personally and understanding their needs to serve them
better. And we recognize that it’s our customers’ deep and
long-lasting relationships with us that help AmSouth suc-
ceed. In 2004, we worked together across every area of our
business to build and strengthen our relationships with
our customers, our comimunities and our shareholders.

We know that our customers’ hopes and plans are at
the heart of their business with us. Their goals become our
goals, and together we make them happen. That’s what we
mean when we say we are The Relationship People. In
serving customers, we strive to enrich lives, professionally
and personally. In 2004, we helped our customers rebuild
more than just homes in the aftermath of destructive hur-
ricanes, and we assisted many others to achieve their
financial goals. I know we'’re fulfilling our commitment
when our customers take the time to tell us about their
individual experiences and say they are pleased with our
service as well as our products. The letters I've received this
year from customers across our markets are a testament to
our people, efforts and goals.

The quality of our relationships in all of our markets
is evident in our 2004 results. Qur reported earnings
were $623.5 million or $1.74 per diluted share in 2004.
This includes third quarter, pre-tax charges of $54.0
million or $0.15 per diluted share incurred as part of our
settlement relating to compliance issues with the Bank
Secrecy Act. When these costs are excluded; the strength
of our performance is clear. Net income was $675.9 mil-
lion or $1.89 per diluted share, an 8.0 percent increase in
net income over 2003. On the same basis, our return on
equity remained strong at 20.17 percent, our return on
assets was 1.41 percent, and our efficiency ratio was 55.00
percent. These profitable results were driven by strong
growth in both loans and deposits, a stable net interest
margin, continued strength in credit quality and disci-
plined expense management.

Our solid performance in 2004 enabled us to increase
our dividend to shareholders for the 34th consecutive year.
This achievement keeps AmSouth in the top one percent
of all public companies with regard to dividend growth.
Combining this dividend growth with the increase in our
stock price of 5.7 percent this year resulted in a total return
to shareholders of 9.9 percent, one percent below the




34 YEARS OF DIVIDEND GROWTH
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return on the S&P 500 Index. During the last five years,
AmSouth shareholders have experienced, on average, a
total return of 10.9 percent per year, compared with a neg-
ative 2.3 percent annual total return from the S&P 500.

2004 Highlights

2004 marked the first year of our current three-year
strategic planning cycle. The strategic initiatives set out in
this plan are built on the success of our previous three-
year plan.

By focusing our efforts as The Relationship People on
individual customer needs, we sustained growth in
Consumer Banking. Consumer Banking continues to be a
key growth driver, having contributed more than half of
our pre-tax earnings. We continue to see tremendous
market opportunity in this line of business. Consumer
low-cost deposits grew 10.7 percent during 2004 and
continue to be an important funding source for earning
asset growth.

This year, we also continued to produce strong home
equity origination volume. On average, home equity
loans increased 12.0 percent during the year. By collabo-
rating across lines of business to grow our household

base and the number of products used by each house-
hold, we are on track to grow deeper, more profitable
relationships with our Consumer Banking customers.

Being The Relationship People includes helping small
businesses succeed in the communities where we live and
work. Aggressive growth in Business Banking contributed
significantly to our performance and is an excellent
source for continued low-cost deposit growth. Small busi-
ness loans were up 8.3 percent over the prior year, and
Business Banking deposits increased 16.3 percent. With
our focus on meeting both the business and personal
financial needs of small business owners, we anticipate
double-digit growth in the coming year.

In Commercial Banking, AmSouth is focused on
deepening existing relationships with our customers as
well as generating new customer relationships. Efforts to
grow Commercial Banking with improved credit quality
provided the primary catalyst for commercial and com-
mercial real estate loan growth in 2004. Key areas
of expansion included commercial middle market and
commercial real estate. Commercial middle market expe-
rienced strong growth in new business, resulting from its
new relationship campaign. The campaign generated




“Today, with more of our people to serve the growing needs of the
Florida market, we are better able to build enduring relationships
with existing and prospective customers.”

more than 10,250 sales calls to prospects, resulting in 578
new relationships with approximately $27.8 million in
annualized revenues during 2004. Commercial real estate
loans in 2004 were up 15.3 percent on average over the
prior year, driven by growth in construction lending.
Commercial real estate loans closed totaled $5.6 billion in
2004, 34 percent higher than 2003’s level.

Our ability to match our Wealth Management expertise
with customers’ specialized needs further demonstrates
our value as The Relationiship People. Consistent with our
goal, we grew our Wealth Management revenues by double
digits in 2004. Trust revenue increased 13.8 percent and
investment services revenues rose by 11.6 percent. We
added 3,494 new private client households, an increase of
20.4 percent over 2003, as a result of aggressive calling and
referral campaigns with existing relationships, and the
addition of more relationship managers in rapidly growing
markets. This effort generated significant portfolio
assets, including loans, deposits and investments. By
expanding our customer base and the number of products
and services that customiers use, we are on track to keep
growing revenues at a double-digit pace.

Our focus in Florida to grow its pre-tax contribution
resulted in an increase of 28.0 percent in 2004. Florida is
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one of the fastest growing states in the country, and we
accelerated our branch expansion there several years ago
to take advantage of this growth. Today, with more of our
people to serve the growing needs of the Florida market,
we are better able to build enduring relationships with
existing and prospective customers. Currently, we have
221 branches in Florida—more than in any other state.
Since the beginning of 2002, we have opened 80 new
branches in Florida. These branches have contributed
$610 million in deposit growth or 16 percent of our total
deposit growth this year. They also added $398 million of
consumer and small business loans. Our Florida branches
also provide an excellent platform for expansion of our
Wealth Management, Small Business, Commercial and
Commercial Real Estate products and services.

By leveraging technology across all lines of our business—
with an increasing emphasis on Internet services—we are
deepening our relationships with customers and providing
them with multiple ways to access our services. We
have more than one million registered Internet Banking
customers with either a checking or savings account, rep-
resenting an ever-growing number of our customers. Each
day, we handle more than 400,000 customer transactions
through Internet Banking, ATMs or the Call Center. That’s




“Providing the highest possible service quality is at the core of our
culture. It’s fundamental to our success. And, it’s another way we
help build strong and lasting relationships with our customers.”

like having an additional 600 customers walking into each
one of our 685-plus branches each day.

We remain focused on providing the highest possible
service quality, while enhancing sales productivity and
customer retention. This strategic initiative is at the core
of our culture and is fundamental to our success. It’s
another way we help build strong and lasting relationships
with our customers.

One of our key measurements of service quality is a
third-party survey conducted by a leading research com-
pany. More than 6,850 customers are contacted each
month—10 from each of our branches—to talk about the
service they received on a recent visit. We are pleased to
report that the results in 2004 rank us in the top quartile
among our peers.

Although we’ve had much success in the first year of
our strategic plan in several areas, there is room to
improve. Our focus over the next two years is to achieve
the goals as detailed in our plan and, when possible, to
exceed them.

Noteworthy Events
There were some significant events that had an impact
on our business in 2004.

The first was a series of back-to-back hurricanes in
the Southeast, which especially challenged our Florida
operations. We lost 650 branch days during this time, and
30 percent of our branch network was damaged to some
degree. Several branches had to be rebuilt. Even while our
business was disrupted, we offered assistance to customers
and neighbors almost immediately after the storms
passed. We remained open for business wherever possible,
and we supported communities by donating money and
goods to local charities. By being there for customers, our
employees proved their dedication and demonstrated, in a
very tangible way, what it means to have relationships in
the communities we serve.

The impact of the hurricanes will continue to be a
factor in 2005. As insurance claims are settled, we anticipate
seeing growth in deposits followed by new construction
lending to consumers and small businesses. We also
expect home equity loan volume to increase as repairs
continue to be made.

The second event was the divesture of our credit card
portfolio. In November, we announced our decision to sell
this business to MBNA Corporation for a pre-tax net gain
of $166 million. While the business was strong, it lacked
scale and, given the competitive credit card market, we felt
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“We believe our dedicated people, working together to meet our
customers’ needs and living out our vision and values, help
distinguish AmSouth in the marketplace.”

our customers would be better served. In fact, as part of
AmSouth’s agreement with MBNA, our customers will
have the advantage of enhanced features and products,
while continuing to carry AmSouth branded cards.

The Evolving Banking Environment

The environment in which we conduct our business con-
tinues to change. And our workforce continues to prove
that it is well equipped to respond to the market.

With unprecedented merger and acquisition activity
by some of the country’s largest banks, the competitive
landscape is shifting. This activity has direct implications
in our markets and provides us with new opportunities,
including the ability to recruit quality people who bring
AmSouth key accounts across our business lines. When
our competitors seem to change daily, customers want
more stability from their bank. They come to AmSouth
because of our commitment to lasting relationships.

Another area of change is the regulatory environment.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 seeks to improve the
transparency and integrity of companies, and our core
values provide a strong foundation for meeting the Act’s
requirements. We have always maintained sound internal
controls over financial reporting. Section 404 of the Act
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formalizes the testing and documentation of the internal
control structure and lays the groundwork for improved
and more reliable financial reporting for all companies.
AmSouth is determined to exceed the requirements.

The Patriot Act of 2001 amended the Bank Secrecy
Act, expanding the role the government expects banks to
play in detecting and reporting suspicious activity. We are
committed to continue strengthening our processes and
ensuring that we are meeting our obligations.

From hurricanes to market changes, our people
continued to execute our plan with discipline, solutions
and quality service. We believe our dedicated people,
working together to meet our customers’ needs and living
out our vision and values, help distinguish AmSouth in
the marketplace.

Our Vision
In last year’s annual report, we spelled out our vision for
AmSouth—To Be The Best By Any Measure. This vision is
founded on our six Basic Values, which have long defined
how we conduct ourselves in our relationships with our
customers, shareholders, communities and each other.

In 2004, we shared our vision with every one of our
employees. Having the words in place to describe our




BASIC VALUES

* Do the right thing
> Do more than is expected
> Make a difference

o Make time for people
s Improve someone’s life

o If something’s wrong, make it right

vision and bring it to life for our customers and commu-
nities has proven valuable in every facet of our business.
By working together to achieve our vision, we enhance
our relationships with our customers and provide value
to our shareholders.

Looking Ahead

As we move into 2005, we are working to offer every
customer the best banking relationship. With each trans-
action and at each opportunity, we are building and
strengthening our relationships with our customers, our
communities and each other, all the while working toward

superior returns for our shareholders. That’s what we
mean when we say we are The Relationship People.

Thank you for your continued relationship with us.
We welcome your feedback.

Sincerely,

Clud St

C. DOWD RITTER
CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT, AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

*GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation

Settlement agreements and

GAAP related professional fees Non-GAAP
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

(Dollars in millions, except per share}

Noninterest expense $ 14569 $ 12056 $ (54.0) - $ 14029 $ 1,205.6
Net income $ 623.5 $ 626.1 ] 52.4 - $ 675.9 8 626.1
Earnings per common share $ 1.77 $ 1.79 3 0.15 - 3$ 1.92 8 1.79
Earnings per common share-diluted $ 1.74 $ 1.77 $ 0.15 - $ 1.89 3 1.77
Return on average assets 1.30% 1.47% 0.11% - 1.41% 1.47%
Return on shareholders’ equity 18.60% 20.08% 1.57% - 20.17% 20.08%
Efficiency ratio 57.12% 52.08% (2.12%} - 55.00% 52.08%

 Adjustment represents expenses related to a settlement agreement and related professional fees which management believes are not indicative of AmSouth’s legal and regulatory

affairs arising in the normal course of business.
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a story of:

SEED CAPITAL

BUSINESS PLAN ADVICE
INTERNATIONAL EXPANSION

“VE HELPED MY
CLIENT SAVE LIVES”
PEOPLE

SIXTEEN YEARS AGO, A TORNADC SWEPT THROUGH HUNTSVILLE, ALABAMA, WITH LITTLE
warning, killing 21 people. Bob Baron, an AmSouth customer and local meteorologist, was
especially moved by the disaster and wanted to help. Bob set out to develop a better track-
ing and alert system. He went to AmSouth for advice in developing his business plan. “It has
always been a close relationship,” says AmSouth Relationship Manager Duke Hinds. “We
talked to Bob almost every day as he dealt with issues like whether to go international, how
to hedge risk and how to protect his company.” The bank also provided the working capital
to develop, produce and market the new system.

Today, Baron Services has three divisions, 18 unique products and 20 patents, with a
signature product able to pinpoint disturbances in the atmosphere that are as small as a neigh-
borhood block, AmSouth continues to support Bob Baron’s vision and provide financing
strategies to help his company grow internationally. Last year, when Inc. magazine named Bob
one of 2004’s Top 10 Entrepreneurs, AmSouth employees were filled with pride. “Bob Baron
has saved lives,” says one AmSouth team member. “And we’ve been a part of that”

from left: AmSouth Relationship Manager Duke Hinds and Sales Manager Harry Waugh
with Baron Services’ John Wessinger and Bob Baron
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“CONSIDER ME A MEMBER
OF THE FAMILY”

FOR MORE THAN 100 YEARS, BIRMINGHAM-BASED CITY PAPER HAS BEEN A WHOLESALER AND
retailer of paper products, including printed-paper shopping bags used by major depart-
ment stores and restaurants. A multigenerational family business, City Paper values close
relationships, especially with its customers and bank. Greg King, City Paper’s AmSouth
Relationship Manager, knows this well. Calling on and meeting with them frequently, Greg
has relationships with all of the company’s management.

City Paper often seeks AmSouth’s advice on strategic ideas. To help address this long-
term customer’s diverse needs, Greg involves other AmSouth experts. AmSouth recently
provided a line of credit to help City Paper form a separate company to improve its supply
chain and buying power. It’s no surprise that City Paper values AmSouth and the one-on-
one time Greg spends working to help the company grow.

from left: City Paper’s Scott Fleisig, Paul Friedman, Jr., with AmSouth Relationship

Manager Greg King and City Paper’s Paul Friedman, Sr., Sandy Friedman, Mark Friedman
and Barry Zern
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a story of:
BEGINNINGS

LOCAL EVENTS
TOWN PARTNERSHIP

“M AT THE HEART
OF THIS TOWN”
PECPLE

GEOGRAPHICALLY, AMSOUTH BANK IS AT THE CENTER OF ROSEMARY BEACH, A RESIDENTIAL
development in Florida with stunning views of the Gulf of Mexico. The branch is also at
the heart of the community, offering friendly service and guidance for the townspeople.
Local merchants bank with AmSouth, as do most residents. The relationship with the town
even extends to its culture. AmSouth contributes to the local school and sponsors the annual
Christmas Tree Lighting and the American Cancer Society Relay for Life fundraiser.

The Town Manager, Jim Bagby, moved his accounts to AmSouth and referred others to
the branch. “Now we partner with Jim nearly every day,” says the area branch manager.
Rosemary Beach is a close-knit community where everyone knows each other—and every-
one knows AmSouth. The branch employees enjoy working in a town with a strong sense of
community. “We were with Rosemary Beach at the very beginning. And now, we’re helping
the town flourish.”

from left: Town Manager Jim Bagby and Area Branch Manager Cathy Brush with
Rosemary Beach Town Center restaurant and inn owner Penny Dragonette
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a story of:

COMMUNITY INSIGHT

EASY RELOCATION
EXPANDING RELATIONSHIPS

THE
“WE CAN HELP YOU FIND
YOUR WAY AROUND”
PEOPLE

WHEN THE CEO OF A HOSPITAL IN JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, PURSUED HIRING TWO MICHIGAN-
based neurosurgeons, he knew just who to call: AmSouth Relationship Manager and long-
time Jackson resident Kathy Johnson. After all, the CEO enjoyed working with AmSouth and
thought Kathy’s knowledge of the community would help the doctors see all that Jackson
offered. When the doctors’ wives came to visit, Kathy met them for lunch and showed them
around. “I answered all their questions about the city, the neighborhoods, the school systems
and more,” says Kathy. She also made suggestions about how AmSouth could help the two
families make the transition.

A few weeks later, their husbands accepted the hospital’s offer, as well as the bank’s
invitation to expand the relationships. Both the Jones and DeMeira families financed their
home purchases through AmSouth and established personal banking relationships. The
physicians and the CEO appreciate the efforts and insight Kathy and her fellow AmSouth
colleagues contributed. In fact, AmSouth is working with the hospital to expand the relation-
ship and to help meet the needs of other physicians and employees in the community.

from left: AmSouth customers Dr. Elio DeMeira, Rita Jones and Dr. Moses Jones with
Personal Banker Kathy Johnson and Wealth Manager Greg Broadbridge
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a story of:

COMMUNITY ASSISTANCE
CUSTOMER CUTREACH
EMPLOYEE TEAMWORK

“I CAN MAKE
A DIFFERENCE”

PECRILE
LAl IS S
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WHEN HURRICANE CHARLEY STRUCK THE FLORIDA COAST IN 2004, THE WEEK-OLD VISTA
Lakes branch sustained considerable damage, along with many other AmSouth branches
throughout the state. “We lost our computers, our furniture—everything,” recalls Jim Waller,
Vista Lakes branch manager. Employees quickly mobilized to check on their customers, The
Vista Lakes team called customers to offer assistance and assure them that their assets were
safe. Then they joined with employees from other AmSouth branches to distribute water and
gift cards for a nearby home improvement store.

Soon after, a second hurricane struck. The patched roof and all the newly replaced fur-
nishings were destroyed. Undaunted, the Vista Lakes team reached out to their customers to
help and reassure them once again. They also filled in at nearby branches for colleagues fac-
ing damage or loss. Today, Vista Lakes is under its third roof and thriving. “We really are a
neighborhood bank,” says Kevin Tavakoli, Vista Lakes assistant manager. “Our customers tell
us they’re sticking with us for life, because they know we really care about them.”

middle picture from left: AmSouth Vista Lakes Branch Diana Nino, Kevin Tavakoli and
Pamela Kennedy; bottom picture: AmSouth’s Nadia Seerattan
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a story of:

WORKING TOGETHER
TUNDING A VISION
COMMUNITY CORNERSTONE

“I’M HELPING MAKE
A DREAM REAL”
PEOPLE
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AFTER MORE THAN 30 YEARS IN HIS THRIVING PRACTICE, VETERINARIAN DR. JOSEPH
Kendrick had a new vision: to build an animal hospital. Like his practice, the hospital would
be a family affair: his children and their spouses—all vets—working together. They chose to
take their dream to AmSouth, their personal bank. “We knew Dr. Kendrick’s reputation,” says
Allan Beall, Relationship Manager. “He is highly regarded for his service to Knoxville and for
his work at the University of Tennessee. When he shared his business plan with us, we were
impressed and excited to be a part of it.”

The plan detailed a state-of-the-art animal hospital with a greeting center, a photo studio,
a grooming area and a customized ventilation system to protect the animals. “The day we
approved his construction loan, six family members signed for it,” says Allan. “Then we all
went out to dinner and celebrated together. Dr. Kendrick has worked hard for this for many
years, and I'm honored to help make it happen.”

from left: Relationship Manager Allan Beall with AmSouth customer Dr. Joseph Kendrick
in Knoxville, TN
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ROBIN HANES, CREDIT UNDERWRITER; KIMBERLY TEW, INSTITUTIONAL INVESTMENT SPECIALIST; GREG KING, COMMERCIAL MIDDLE MARKET

RELATIONSHIP MANAGER; CINDY MEFFORD, TREASURY MANAGEMENT SALES MANAGER; AND MIKE THCMAS, PRIVATE CLIENT SERVICES

RELATIONSHIP MANAGER | BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

Greg King knew that a longtime AmSouth client was also a partner in
another company in insurance. Greg brought together a team to build a
relationship with the company and determine how AmSouth could
help. When the customer’s partner gave the team a chance to win some

business, the team worked together and delivered flawlessly. Later, when
the customer requested a letter of credit, the team provided one in 24
hours. The customer’s partner was so impressed that he decided to move
all of his business to AmSouth, including his personal accounts.

BILLY BOYETTE, I}, PROPERTY MANAGER/TIMBER; CAROLL BLOW, TRUST OFFICER; VERN SCHUERMAN, PROPERTY MANAGER/REAL ESTATE;

MARK WYATT, PROPERTY MANAGER/GEOLOGIST; AND KEN NIEMEYER, TRUST OFFICER [ MOBILE, ALABAMA

When one of the partners of a Mobile-based limited partnership
passed away, the family looked to AmSouth for advice and security.
After the assets were distributed, AmSouth’s team showed the family
members how to increase their net worth and generate significant sus-

tained income. AmSouth helped reorganize the assets and shifted
management of the family’s holdings to an AmSouth financial advisor.
Most important, the AmSouth team was honored to help the family
protect a legacy that took years to build.

DINA FOSTER, CENTERPOINT BRANCH MANAGER; AND WESLEY WORSHAM, TREASURY MANAGEMENT RELATIONSHIP MANAGER | BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

Taking steps to get to know one of her customers better, Dina Foster
learned that the customer’s employer was looking for a new banking
relationship. After meeting with the customer and understanding the
company’s needs, Dina teamed up with Wesley Worsham on a proposal
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to move the company’s banking relationship to AmSouth. The leaders
of the organization were impressed, and AmSouth won new business
accounts, a secured line of credit, Treasury Management services and
an organization full of employees with more needs to be met.




MIKE CROSSON, AREA CREDIT OFFICER; LEE BLANK, PRIVATE CLIENT SERVICES TEAM LEADER; CAROLYN CRAIN, TREASURY MANAGEMENT
SPECIALIST; AND TOM PATRONIS, COMMERCIAL MIDDLE MARKET RELATIONSHIP MANAGER I MEMPHIS AND NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE

For four years Tor Patronis tirelessly worked to build a relationship with a
growing company with offices in multiple cities. His break finally came
when the prospect’s bank was inflexible in renewing its loans. Tom quickly
assembled a team and designed a solution that simplified the company’s

loan structure and consolidated millions in noninterest-bearing deposits.
The team also assisted one of the principals of the company in relocating
to Nashville. The team’s creative solutions won over the customers, and
in return, AmSouth earned additional opportunities to serve them.

GRIER POWERS, HEALTHCARE BANKING RELATIONSHIP MANAGER; DAVID SMITH, COMMERCIAL MIDDLE MARKET RELATIONSHIP MANAGER; KAY

NIKOOKARY, AMSOUTH LEASING; AND JEFF NOEL, COMMERCIAL CREDIT GROUP SENIOR CREDIT OFFICER 4 NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE;, CLEARWATER

AND TAMPA, FLORIDA; AND BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

‘When the CEO of an AmSouth client moved to Tampa to take the top
position of a healthcare company, he relied on his relationship with
David Smith. Working with Grier Powers, David discovered that the
customer needed new equipment, so he asked Kay Nikookary to
show some leasing options. The customer was so impressed with the

group’s professionalism that he moved the company’s banking
relationship to AmSouth. This also required a team effort to close the
deal quickly to meet the customer’s deadline. By collaborating closely
and meeting the customer’s needs, the team won additional accounts
as well as referrals.

B. WOOD, COMMERCIAL RELATIONSHIP MANAGER; DON HEATH, NATURAL RESOURCES MANAGER; AND ALLEN CHRISTIAN, COMMERCIAL

RELATIONSHIP MANAGER ’ MOBILE, HUNTSVILLE AND BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

Two AmSouth customers became interested in purchasing a large
tract of timberland. They separately approached Allen Christian and
B. Wood about the purchase. Luckily, AmSouth’s Don Heath had
already investigated the land, considering it for AmSouth’s Timber

Fund. This groundwork became vital when Christian and Wood
aligned their efforts to serve both customers. They structured a deal
well suited to everyone involved and satisfied the customers’ needs

with AmSouth’s expertise.
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LOULIS COSTANZA, COMMERCIAL RELATIONSEIP MANAGER; KIMBERLY KUTLENICS, INSTITUTIONAL TRUST CLIENT SERVICES; AND FRED
JACKSONVILLE AND ORLANDO, FLORIDA

JGHNSTON, ORLANDO INSTIFUTIONAL SALES
to the customer’s proposal, ultimately closing a sizable commercial loan.
As a result of the group’s hard work and the extended relationship, the
client moved additional assets to AmSouth’s Trust area. The group’s
work will yield significant annual fees and potential future referrals.

AmSouth already managed dssets for a commercial customer when the
CEO contacted Kimberly Kutlenios and Fred Johnston to advise on
a possible acquisition. The duo joined forces with Commercial
Relationship Manager Louis Costanza and developed a loan plan suited

KIM HOMUTH, MORTGAGE LOAN OFFICER; AND DAVE HOMUTH, MORTGAGE LOAN OFFICER ] NAPLES, FLORIDA

Dave surpassed her with a new company record. The professional
rivalry spurs them to be at their best for their customers and great

examples to AmSouth employees.

The more Kim Homuth and Dave Homuth compete with one another,
the more AmSouth customers benefit with first-in-class service. One
month after Kim set an AmSouth record in mortgage loan closings,

STEVE TIMBERLAKE, SENIOR TRUST SPECIALIST; MARIE WALLACE, TRUST ASSISTANT; TINA BARTH, ESCROW SPECIALIST; AND STEVE HARROD,

AIS FINANCIAL CONSULTANT | PENSACOLA, FLORIDA
providing greater convenience for builders and purchasers. AmSouth’s
Northwest Florida Trust Division directed more than 50 escrow projects
and, in the process, added to their growing roster of Commercial Real
Estate relationships.

Along the Gulf Coast, where development continues to boom,
this AmSouth team saw an opportunity to better serve the
market. The Northwest [Florida group created a unique sales and
service model to capture and manage escrow funds, while simultaneously
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LAURA TUCKER, TRUST SPECIALIST; PHYLLIS GAMBLE, PRTVATE CLIENT SERVICES RELATIONSHIP MANAGER; KEVIN MCMAHON, COMMERCIAL TEAM

LEADER; DEBBIE CROWNOVER, FINANCIAL CONSULTANT; AND SHERI ROBINSON, FINANCIAL PLANNER l TUSCALOOSA AND BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

Laura Tucker knows it takes teamwork to build trust. After receiving a
referral from Commercial Middle Market, she met with the client and
discovered the need for financial and estate planning. Laura brought in
Sheri Robinson to work with the customer. Others on the Wealth
Management and Commercial teams devoted time to the customer’s

needs, inspiring him to deepen his relationship with AmSouth by
consolidating his investments through AIS and Trust, naming
AmSouth as the executor of his estate, establishing a significant
Commercial relationship and referring several other prospects, who
also became AmSouth customers.

PATRICK MARTIN, PORTFOLIO MANAGER; CINDY COOK, TRUST ADMINISTRATOR; JERRY MITCHELL, PRIVATE CLIENT SERVICES REPRESENTATIVE;

AND PHIL DORTCH, FINANCIAL PLANNER I KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE

Cindy Cook and Patrick Martin had already earned the privilege of
managing 11 trust accounts for a Knoxville family when they recognized
an opportunity to improve AmSouth’s service to the family members.
Surveying the family’s needs, they discovered that members had questions

about other areas of Wealth Management. With the help of Jerry Mitchell
and Phil Dortch, they recommended several investments that were well
suited for the family. The team’s work to serve the family’s interests added
two new households, deepening the relationship with the entire family.

ANTHONY THOMAS, COMMERCIAL RELATIONSHIP MANAGER; JOHN FRAISER, TREASURY MANAGEMENT SALES MANAGER; AND TIM THORSON,

MANAGER, TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACH OPERATIONS l JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, AND BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

On New Year’s Eve 2003, an AmSouth client discovered that its system
was set to process retirement payments three days late. Unless the error
was corrected, retirees would not receive their payments as expected,
and the client would face tens of thousands of customer service calls.
The AmSouth team transformed a potential disaster into a positive

outcome for the client. Working late, Anthony Thomas, John Fraiser
(who left his personal vacation to attend to the problem) and Tim
Thorson saved the client from a customer relations disaster. The team’s
work has opened the door to discuss other services from other lines
of business.
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RUSS FORD, COMMERCIAL MIDIDLE MARKET RELATIONSHIP MANAGER; AND GLENN SIGLER, INTERNATIONAL SALES REPRESENTATIVE ‘ MOBILE, ALABAMA

When an AmSouth competitor closed its international office in Mobile,
Glenn Sigler saw an opportunity. He had long pursued relationships
with two local companies that banked with the competitor. When the
office closed, he discovered they had been unsatisfied. Partnering with

Russ Ford and many others, Glenn listened carefully to identify the
companies’ needs. As a result of their reccommendation, AmSouth now
handles all of the companies’ operating business and has improved
their expectations of a bank.

MARY HARTLEY, PRIVATE CLIENT SERVICES RELATIONSHIP MANAGER; RICHARD THOMPSON, FINANCIAL PLANNER; PAIGE DANIEL, ASSET MANAGER;
JASON WATERS, PORTFOLIO MANAGER; DONNA SAVAGE, TRUST SPECTALIST; WADE SADLER, FINANCIAL CONSULTANT; DUKE HINDS, COMMERCIAL

RELATIONSHIP MANAGER; AND RICHARD GEORGE, TRUST MANAGER | NORTH ALABAMA

When a Huntsville customer was unable to invest in a new real estate
project because his assets were tied up in international stocks, Duke
Hinds, Paige Daniel and Mary Hartley created a solution. The AmSouth
team made a loan available by offering the customer a solution that
helped the individual gain cash from the investment without incurring
capital gains. To assist furtherlin planning and managing the customer’s

KEVIN SMITH, COMMERCIAL RELATIONSHIP MANAGER , BOSSIER CITY, LOUISIANA

When Kevin Smith came to AmSouth in 2002, he brought with him a
clear understanding of the valuie of partnership. When Kevin discovered
that one of the owners of a large commercial customer lived in Bossier City,
he introduced the client to the branch manager there. The customer was so
impressed with the attention and good advice, he insisted on conducting
all of his personal banking with AmSouth. The relationship ultimately
extended to his employees, 35 of whom became AmSouth customers.
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financial portfolio, Jason Waters introduced asset management
opportunities, Richard George and Richard Thompson advised on
Estate and Financial Planning, and Wade Sadler and Donna Savage
helped the customer move additional assets. The result was a signif-
icantly enhanced service relationship for the customer, who trans-
ferred additional assets to AmSouth.

MIKE DIMARCO, GROUP SALES MANAGER | TAMPA, FLORIDA

In the highly competitive Tampa area, Mike DiMarco has helped
AmSouth branches grow consumer deposits and loans, as well as
business deposits. The secret to his success is simple: He helps his
colleagues succeed. Mike works in the field to supply branches with
the information and resources needed to improve performance,
bringing in leaders and experts to inspire and assist. And nominating
him for this award, his employees clearly value Mike’s support.




SUSAN ROBERTS, GROUP SALES MANAGER l KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE

Susan Roberts builds success by building leaders who serve customers
well. In just one short year, she helped her branch managers increase
their branches’ scorecard averages. She led them in achieving a better
monthly average of opening new checking accounts and increases in
consumer loans. And she coached them into working to exceed their
platform investment and business loan goals. Best of all, she helped to
build a culture of leadership and excellence that understands how to
meet our customers’ needs.

ROBERT EMMONS, NORTHGATE BRANCH MANAGER | HIXSON, TENNESSEE

With contagious games and staff contests, Robert Emmons does more
than inspire smiles. He delivers results by motivating his employees.
His employees serve customers with uncommon energy, and the returns
are impressive. Robert’s branch cross sells 5.7 products per household,
putting it in the top 10 percent companywide. And, the customers
highly regard the branch for its service.

SHANE SPRAY, BUSINESS BANKER | BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

For Shane Spray to transfer a large construction loan to AmSouth, he
would have to convince all five of the venture’s partners. Complicating
the challenge was a competitor who kept matching his bids. The odds
of winning the business were low. Despite the competition outbidding
him, the partners were so impressed with Shane’s diligence to build a
strong partnership with them that they agreed to move their business
to AmSouth anyway.

GLORIA ALLEN HILL, AMSOUTH AT WORK MANAGER | JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

Some said her goal was impossible. But Gloria Allen Hill succeeded
by focusing her 37 years of experience on serving Mississippi’s small
business owners and employees with the AmSouth at Work system.
Working with all the branches in her area, Gloria coached her colleagues
across the state on the product and promoted it across other lines of
business. Her “impossible” performance resulted in a 307 percent
production increase, as well as 2,200 new customer relationships
opened in one month.

SYLVIA AMNIONS, SENIOR FINANCIAL SERVICES SPECIALIST | PENSACOLA, FLORIDA

Financially, Sylvia Ammons is one of the top salespeople in AmSouth.
Yet when it comes to relationships, Sylvia shines even brighter. Her cus-
tomers come to her branch to seek her out and are willing to wait to
meet with her. Her colleagues come to her for mentoring and to
increase their platform sales. She surpasses her goals because she focuses
on relationships, caring for each person with whom she has contact.
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OVERVIEW

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This section of the annual report provides a narrative dis-
cussion and analysis of AmSouth Bancorporation’s (AmSouth
or the Company) consolidated financial condition and results
of operations for the previous three years, although some
tables may cover more than three years to comply with
Securities and Exchange Commission disclosure require-
ments or to illustrate trends over a longer period of time.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis discusses the key fac-
tors that drive AmSouth’s performance as well as the associated
risks to future profitability and liquidity. All tables, graphs
and financial statements included in this report should be con-
sidered an integral part of this analysis. The Management’s
Discussion and Analysis is divided into six main sections:
“Executive Summary, “Earnings Performance,”“Consolidated
Balance Sheet Analysis,” “Risk Management,”“Line of Business
Results” and “Comparison of 2003 with 2002”

The “Executive Summary” provides an overview of
AmSouth’s businesses, its business strategy, key performance
metrics tracked by AmSouth, an overview of the economy, a
discussion of regulatory agreements and related settlements,
a GAAP to non-GAAP reconciliation table, a financial high-
lights section, a summary of results for 2004 and 2003, an
earnings outlook for 2005, and a summary of critical account-
ing estimates used by Management in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. The “Earnings Performance”
section presents a discussion of the main components of the
consolidated statements of earnings. Sources of revenue and
expense items are defined and trends in each area are dis-
cussed in detail. The “Consolidated Balance Sheet Analysis” covers
the main components of the consolidated balance sheets. It
discusses the different categories and related trends in loans,
investments and other earning assets as well as deposits, other
funding sources and shareholders’ equity. The “Risk Management”
section of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis defines
the main areas of risk encountered by AmSouth, how those risks
are managed and relevant trends in each area. Also included
is a discussion of results from AmSouth’s principal lines of
business and a summary comparison of 2003 to 2002 results.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains
forward-looking statements that involve inherent risks and
uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those
contained in these forward-looking statements. For addi-
tional information regarding forward-looking statements,
see the section titled “Forward-Looking Statements” in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
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Business Overview

AmSouth is a regional bank holding company headquartered
in Birmingham, Alabama, with approximately $50 billion in
assets, more than 685 branch banking offices and more than
1,250 ATMs. AmSouth operates in Alabama, Tennessee,
Florida, Mississippi, Louisiana and Georgia. AmSouth is a
leader among regional banks in the Southeast and has three
principal business segments: Consumer Banking, which
includes Mortgage Lending and Small Business Banking,
Commercial Banking, and Wealth Management. Consumer
Banking delivers a full range of financial services to individ-
uals and small businesses through the retail branches, ATM
networks and the Internet. Services include both loan and
deposit products. Commercial Banking provides commer-
cial and commercial real estate lending, equipment leasing,
international, capital markets and corporate cash manage-
ment services to large and middle market commercial
customers. Wealth Management provides financial and estate
planning, investment management services for both institu-
tional and individual clients, trust services, annuity and
mutual fund product distribution through the branches and
discount brokerage services. It produces net interest income
from clients’ loan and deposit balances as well as fee-based
income associated with trust, private client services, con-
sumer investment services and AmSouth Mutual Funds.
AmSouth also offers a complete line of banking products
and services at its website, www.amsouth.com.

Business Mix

AmSouth’s business model is based on a balanced and diver-
sified business mix that provides a broad range of financial
products and services, delivered through multiple distri-
bution channels. In addition to typical lending and
deposit-taking activities, AmSouth also offers investment
products and services for both individual and institutional
clients. This business mix produces revenue both from the
interest income earned on loans and securities, less the cost
of funding those assets from sources such as customer
deposits and borrowed funds, as well as fee income from ser-
vice charges, asset management, retail brokerage, trust,
interchange (electronic transactions) fees, and other prod-
ucts and services. AmSouth also incurs noninterest expense,
which represents costs of doing business, including items
such as personnel, occupancy and equipment.
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Business Strategy

AmSouth’s ultimate goal is to manage its business to pro-
duce sustained, quality earnings growth over time. AmSouth’s
strategy for achieving this goal focuses on internally gener-
ated earnings growth, primarily driven by seven strategic
initiatives which were established by Management and
approved by the Board of Directors. The seven initiatives
include several operating tactics that AmSouth believes can
generate the strongest earnings growth and returns for share-
holders without creating undue concentrations of risk and
reflect the primary areas where resources are invested. The
initiatives for the current three-year strategic planning cycle,
which began in 2004, include:

+ Sustained growth in Consumer Banking;

+ Continued aggressive growth in Business
Banking;

+ Grow Commercial Banking with improved credit
quality;

* Double the contribution from Wealth
Management;

* Double Florida’s contribution;

+ Emphasis on sales productivity, service quality
and customer retention; and

* Leverage technology across all lines of business
with increasing emphasis on Internet services.

While these strategic initiatives are impacted to varying
degrees by the performance of the financial markets and other
external factors, such as economic growth rates and the level
of interest rates, AmSouth believes that its demographics,
business mix and strategy position the Company for sus-
tained earnings growth throughout any economic cycle.

Key Performance Measures
To measure its overall performance, AmSouth monitors sev-
eral key metrics that are common for banks,

Profitability Measures
* Diluted Earnings Per Share represents the net
income earned for each share of stock outstanding
on a fully diluted basis, which includes the effect
of stock options to the extent that the market
value of the options exceeds their exercise price.

* Return on Equity measures the profit earned by

a company through investing shareholders’ equity.
It is computed by dividing net income by average
shareholders’ equity for the period being measured.
Return on Assets measures how efficiently a com-
pany utilizes its assets to generate net income. It is
computed by dividing net income by average
total assets.

The Efficiency Ratio measures productivity in
banking and represents the amount of expense
utilized to generate a dollar of revenue. The
efficiency ratio is calculated by dividing total
noninterest expense by the sum of (i} net interest
income, on a fully taxable-equivalent basis, and
(ii) total noninterest revenue.

The Net Interest Margin measures how effectively

a company utilizes its interest-earning assets in
relationship to the interest cost of funding them. It
is computed by dividing net interest income, on a
tully taxable-equivalent basis, by average earning
assets for the period being measured.

Credit Quality Measures

* The Net Charge-off Ratio measures the level of
net charge-offs or net loan losses, relative to the
average loans outstanding for the period being
measured.

+ The Nonperforming Assets Ratio measures the
level of nonaccrual loans, foreclosed properties
and repossessed assets relative to total loans,
foreclosed properties and repossessed assets.

+ The Allowance for Loan Losses Ratio represents
the allowance for loan losses expressed as a
percentage of total net loans at the end of the
period being measured.

+ The ratio of the Allowance for Loan Losses to
Nonperforming Loans measures the extent to
which the allowance for loan losses covers
nonperforming loans. The higher the ratio, the
greater the coverage of nonperforming loans
by the allowance.
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Economic Overview

The U.S. economy expanded at the fastest pace in five years
during 2004, boosted by both strong consumer and corpo-
rate spending. Growth in real Gross Domestic Product
(GDP), the broadest measure of the nation’s output of goods
and services adjusted for inflation, was 4.4 percent in 2004,
up from 3.0 percent in 2003 and 1.9 percent in 2002. The
widening trade deficit and continuation of strong consumer
spending have recently begun to raise concerns by some
economists regarding the sustainability of the broad recovery
at this pace.

Economic growth, along with longer-term inflation con-
cerns, led the Federal Reserve (Fed) to increase short-term
interest rates five times from June 30, 2004 to December 31,
2004, with a total increase of 125 basis points in the Fed
benchmark rate (Fed Funds rate). Since December 31, 2004,
the Fed has raised the target Fed Funds rate once, by 25 basis
points, to its current level of 2.50 percent (as of February
28,2005). These increases resulted in equal increases in the
Prime lending rate. The Federal Reserve’s objective is to shift
from a highly stimulative monetary policy to a more neutral
policy. Additional interest rate increases are expected in 2005
to achieve this objective. For a variety of reasons, however,
long-term financial market interest rates did not trend
upward as might have been expected under normal cir-
cumstances. Rather, long-term (defined as 10 years or greater)
interest rates declined from peak levels reached in May 2004,
resulting in a flattening of the yield curve (i.e., short-term inter-
est rates increased while long-term interest rates decreased,
resulting in a narrower than normal spread between short-
term and long-term interest rates). A variety of factors
contributed to this asymmetrical movement in interest rates,
including extraordinarily strong foreign buying of U.S.
Treasury securities, heightened terrorism/geopolitical con-
cerns and continued concerns about the longevity of the U.S.
economic recovery. This flattening yield curve has adverse
consequences for financial institutions because the differ-
ence between the interest earned on longer-term investments
and loans and the interest paid for shorter-term deposits
and borrowings is compressed.

The improved economy in 2004 resulted in steady growth
in consumer lending, especially residential mortgages and
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home equity loans. Of particular significance in 2004 was
the very strong and steady growth in commercial loans
attributable to the much stronger pace of overall capital
spending throughout the economy and AmSouth’s markets.
While interest rates and the equity market did increase
moderately in 2004, they did not adversely impact deposit
trends which experienced strong and broad-based growth
throughout the year.

Regulatory Agreements and Related Settlements

In October 2004, AmSouth entered into a deferred prosecution
agreement with the U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of
Mississippi relating to deficiencies in AmSouth Bank’s report-
ing of suspicious activities under the Bank Secrecy Act. At the
same time, AmSouth entered into a cease and desist order with
the Federal Reserve and the Alabama Department of Banking
and an order with the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network
(FinCEN), relating to AmSouth’s deficiencies in compliance
with the Bank Secrecy Act.

Under the deferred prosecution agreement, AmSouth
made a payment of $40 million to the United States. With
respect to the cease and desist order and the FinCEN order,
AmSouth paid a civil money penalty in the amount of $10
million, and in addition, the Federal Reserve has indicated
it will restrict the Company’s expansion activities, includ-
ing the branch expansion program, until such time as it
believes that AmSouth is in substantial compliance with the
requirements of the cease and desist order.

The pre-tax cost of the settlement agreements and related
legal, consulting and other costs totaled $54.0 million ($52.4
million, net of taxes) in the third quarter of 2004.

Pursuant to the settlement agreements, AmSouth has
taken additional actions to ensure compliance with the Bank
Secrecy Act. Among other things, these actions include inde-
pendent third-party reviews of all of the Company’s activities
related to compliance with the Bank Secrecy Act, enhanced
training of personnel, submission of a revised compliance
program and the adoption of new policies and procedures.
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The following table presents AmSouth’s results of operations under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and
the results of operations excluding the effects of the aforementioned agreements and settlements (referred to as Non-GAAP).

TABLE 1 - GAAP TO NON-GAAP RECONCILIATION

Settlement

agreements

and related
(Dollars in millions, except per share data) GAAP professional fees ~ Non-GAAP
2004
Noninterest expense $ 14569 $ (54.0) $ 1,402.9
Net income $ 623.5 $ 524 $ 6759
Earnings per common share $ 1.77 $ 0.15 $ 1.92
Earnings per common share — diluted $ 1.74 $ 0.15 $ 1.89
Return on average assets 1.30% 0.11% 1.41%
Return on shareholders’ equity 18.60% 1.57% 20.17%
Efficiency ratio 57.12% (2.12%) 55.00%
2003
Noninterest expense $  1,205.6 - $ 1,205.6
Net income $ 626.1 - $ 6261
Earnings per common share $ 1.79 - $ 1.79
Earnings per common share — diluted $ 1.77 - $ 1.77
Return on average assets © 1.47% - 1.47%
Return on shareholders’ equity 20.08% - 20.08%
Efficiency ratio 52.08% - 52.08%

Management believes non-GAAP financial measures provide information useful to investors in understanding the performance of underlying operations, business and performance
trends, and for comparison of AmSouth’s results to those of others in the financial services industry. Specifically, these measures permit evaluation and a comparison of results for
ongoing business operations, and it is on this basis that Management internally assesses the performance of AmSouth’s operations.

Although AmSouth believes that the above mentioned non-GAAP financial measures enhance investors’ understanding of the Company’s business and performance, these
non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered an alternative to GAAP.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS - AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

2004

(Dollars in thousands except per share data) GAAP Non-GAAP*
EARNINGS SUMMARY
Net INTEreSt INCOMIE L . o o vttt ittt ettt i i e ettt a e et ieie e enennns $ 1,476,025 $ 1,476,025
Provision for [0an 108Ses . .. ...covveveernn i 127,750 127,750
Net interest income after provision for loan losses .....................coooiii 1,348,275 1,348,275
NONINTETESE FEVEIUES & . v vttt ittt it ittt it e s i a s 1,032,142 1,032,142
NODINTETEST EXPEIISES & . v ettt te et ettt st in ot rananeennes 1,456,938 1,402,966
Income before INCOME tAXES . . .. v vt ivvt e v ie e 923,479 977,451
Incometaxes ... ...t 299,981 301,510
N IICOIMIE .« vt ettt ettt ettt et e e e e e et e e et e e e e $ 623,498 $ 675,941
Earnings per commonshare .......... ..o i $ 1.77 $ 1.92
Diluted earnings per common share ............ .o i 1.74 1.89
Return on average assets .............oouiuniieiiii it 1.30% 1.41%
Return on average eqUity .. .o.vvvvinin ittt 18.60 20.17
Operating efficiency™ . ... o . i 57.12 55.00
BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY
At year-end

Loans net of unearned INCOME .. ...ttt en $ 32,801,337 —

A S BES & ottt e e 49,548,371 -

DePOSItS . o 34,232,779 -

Shareholders’ equIty . ....o.vrin i 3,568,841 -
Average balances

Loans net of Unearned INCOIMIE . . .. ..ttt ittt et e 31,241,987 -

A S 4 ittt e e e e 48,010,625 -

Deposits . oo 32,014,976 -

Shareholders’ equity ... ...vvvtn i 3,351,754 -
SELECTED RATIOS
Average eqUItY t0 aVerage assets ... ...ttt it 6.98% -
Allowance for loan losses to loans net of unearned income . ...................... 1.12 -
COMMON STOCK DATA
Cash dividendsdeclared . .........ooiiiiiii $ 0.97 -
BooKValtle . ..o e 10.02 -
Tangible book value ... ... 9.17 -
Market value atyear-end ......ooovuiuiiiiiii s 25.90 -
Market price range:

High o e 27.00 -

oW e 2191 -
Total trading volume (V) ... e 229,380 -
Dividend yield at year-end ... .. ...ttt 3.86% -
Dividend payout ratio ...ttt 54.80 -
Shareholders of record at year-end .......... ... . i 26,549 -
Average shares outstanding (7 ... ... L 352,684 -
Average diluted shares outstanding @ ..., ... e 357,952 -

) In thousands
*Refer to Table 1 for a GAAP to non-GAAP reconciliation.
**The efficiency ratio is presented on a fully taxable-equivalent (FTE) basis. The computation of the FTE adjustment is based on the statutory federal income tax rate of 35%,
adjusted for applicable staté income taxes net of the related federal tax benefit.
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2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
1,414,635 $ 1,472,640 $ 1,366,722 $ 1,361,198 $ 1,507,944
173,700 213,550 187,100 227,600 165,626
1,240,935 1,259,090 1,179,622 1,133,598 1,342,318
855,778 739,361 748,222 669,494 847,560
1,205,577 1,126,622 1,157,232 1,348,530 1,648,507
891,136 871,829 770,612 454,562 541,371
265,015 262,682 234,266 125,435 200,903
626,121 $ 609,147 $ 536,346 $ 329,127 $§ 340,468
1.79 $ 1.70 $ 1.46 $ 0.86 $ 0.87
1.77 1.68 1.45 0.86 0.86
1.47% 1.58% 1.40% 0.79% 0.81%
20.08 20.10 18.56 11.57 10.69
52.08 49.78 53.12 64.42 69.24
29,339,364 $ 27,350,918 $ 25,124,493 $ 24,616,435 $ 26,266,759
45,615,516 40,571,272 38,600,414 38,935,978 43,415,351
30,440,353 27,315,624 26,167,017 26,623,304 27,912,443
3,229,669 3,115,997 2,955,099 2,813,407 2,959,205
28,511,159 25,921,769 24,763,798 25,879,910 25,471,295
42,730,516 38,564,568 38,238,393 41,860,171 41,817,240
28,582,616 25,943,534 25,916,181 27,323,133 27,718,029
3,117,362 3,030,901 2,889,248 2,844,987 3,185,084
7.30% 7.86% 7.56% 6.80% 7.62%
131 1.40 1.45 1.55 1.35
0.93 $ 0.89 $ 0.85 $ 0.81 $ 0.71
9.18 8.82 8.14 7.53 7.56
8.32 7.96 7.29 6.61 6.48
24.50 19.20 18.90 15.25 19.31
24.62 23.00 20.15 19.88 33.92
19.05 18.21 15.13 11.88 18.94
251,403 254,700 178,939 236,154 195,110
3.92% 4.79% 4.66% 5.51% 4.14%
51.96 52.35 58.22 94.19 81.61
27,250 33,689 34,798 35,746 27,103
350,237 358,176 367,404 382,031 391,136
354,308 362,329 370,948 384,677 396,515
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Summary Results

For AmSouth, 2004 was another year of solid performance
that produced growth in loans and deposits, higher non-
interest revenues and lower credit costs due to continuing
improvement in credit quality. Net income reached $623.5
million in 2004, which resulted in diluted earnings per share
of $1.74, a decrease from 2003 diluted earnings per share of
$1.77. Return on equity for 2004 was 18.6 percent, return
on assets was 1.30 percent and the efficiency ratio was
57.12 percent.

In addition to the results of operations presented in
accordance with GAAP, Management uses, and this annual
report contains, certain non-GAAP financial measures, such
as net income, noninterest expense and earnings-related
ratios such as earnings per common share, return on aver-
age assets, return on shareholders’ equity and the efficiency
ratio, each excluding the $54.0 million ($52.4 million, net
of taxes) in costs associated with the settlement agreements
and related professional fees.

Excluding the impact of the settlement agreements and
related professional fees, 2004 net income was $675.9 million
or $1.89 per diluted share, resulting in a return on equity
of 20.17 percent and return on assets of 1.41 percent. The effi-
clency ratio was 55.0 percent on the same basis. (See GAAP
to Non-GAAP Reconciliation in Table 1.)

Net interest income ended the year at $1.48 billion, up
4 percent or $61 million from 2003. The net interest margin
declined to 3.47 percent for 2004 from 3.78 percent in 2003.
However, the net interest margin stabilized as the year
progressed. The net interest margin was 3.43 percent for
the fourth quarter of 2004, essentially unchanged from the
two previous quarters. During the period from June 30, 2004
through December 31, 2004, the Federal Reserve raised
interest rates five times, the yield curve flattened and market
spreads tightened. The stability of AmSouth’s net interest
margin for the last three quarters of 2004 reflects the results
of Management’s decision to maintain an essentially neutral
interest rate sensitivity position as well as the management of
the timing and magnitude of loan and deposit pricing.
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Earnings growth in 2004 reflects higher noninterest rev-
enues from service charges and other noninterest revenues
including trust, investment services and interchange fees.
Decreases in mortgage and portfolio income were partially
offsetting to these improvements. A lower loan loss provi-
sion also contributed to increased earnings primarily due
to lower levels of net charge-offs in 2004. The lower levels
of net charge-offs are related to the stronger economy and
the benefit of tightened underwriting on the home equity
and indirect loan portfolios. Also impacting earnings was a
$166.1 million gain from the sale of the Company’s $550
million credit card portfolio to MBNA Corporation, which
is reflected in noninterest revenues.

The year also presented challenges, primarily related to
net interest income growth. Interest rates remained low
throughout the early part of the year and did little to bol-
ster the net interest margin. The runoff of higher yielding
assets with replacement of those assets at lower yields also
adversely impacted net interest income. Countering the
lower rates, interest-earning asset and deposit growth were
strong. Loan demand rebounded during the year, with the
additional volumes providing net interest income support.
Growth in low-cost deposits was also robust and provided
strong support from the funding side of the balance sheet.

Noninterest expenses were significantly higher in 2004.
The largest two components of the increase are the $54.0
million settlement and related professional fees described
on page 36 and $129.6 million of cost related to the pre-
payment of $1.25 billion of Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB)
borrowings. This prepayment enabled the Company to replace
these borrowings with a variety of lower-cost funding instru-
ments having an average maturity of three years. Noninterest
expense was up $67.7 million, or 5.6 percent over 2003 exclud-
ing these two items. The increase was largely the result of
increases in personnel costs and professional fees. Occupancy
expenses were also higher, reflecting branch expansion as
called for in the Company’s strategic planning initiatives.
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Earnings Outlook
AmSouth expects diluted earnings per share for 2005 to be
in a range of $2.00 to $2.06. This forecast does not reflect
the anticipated impact of the adoption of a new accounting
standard related to expensing share-based payments (e.g., stock
options) which becomes effective July 1, 2005. See further dis-
cussion in the “Future Application of Accounting Standards”
section of Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
This forecast generally assumes an improving economy,
a moderately rising interest rate environment and flat equity
markets, as well as these factors:

» Higher net interest income reflecting a relatively
stable net interest margin, improved balance sheet
growth with commercial loan growth continuing
at current levels, improving loan demand in con-
sumer categories, and continued strong low-cost
deposit growth;

+ Stable credit quality metrics;

« Total noninterest revenues, including categories
such as service charges, trust, and investment
services, should experience steady growth,
excluding the $166.1 million gain from the sale
of the credit card portfolio;

» Modest noninterest expense growth in the mid-
single digits, calculated from a noninterest base
expense level primarily excluding the pre-tax
$129.6 million FHLB prepayment cost and the
pre-tax $54.0 million settlement charge.

Also key to achieving AmSouth’s earnings target in 2005
is the successful execution of the initiatives in the strategic
plan as described earlier. See the “Forward-Looking Statements”
section on page 80 for a discussion of other factors that could
affect AmSouth’s earnings outlook.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of AmSouth’s financial statements requires
Management to make subjective and sometimes complex
judgments associated with estimates for which the impact is
inherently uncertain. These estimates are important and
necessary to ensure compliance with GAAP. In Management’s
opinion, some areas of financial disclosure involve estimates
that are more significant than others in terms of their
importance to AmSouth’s results. These areas include the
accounting for:

» Allowance for loan losses,

* Pensions,

* Derivative and hedging activities, and
+ Income taxes.

These areas include estimates that are considered criti-
cal due to either the subjectivity involved in the estimate
and/or the potential impact that changes in the estimates
can have on the reported financial results.

Allowance for Loan Losses— The allowance for loan losses
is recorded as a contra-asset to loans in the balance sheet.
Determining the appropriate level of the allowance for loan
losses is one of the most critical and complex accounting
estimates. Accounting guidance requires AmSouth to make
a number of estimates related to the level of credit losses
inherent in the portfolio at year-end. A full discussion of
these estimates can be found within the “Risk Management”
section of this report.

The allowance is sensitive to both internally assigned
risk ratings (see “Credit Risk Management Process and Loan
Quality,” page 68) and assumptions about loss severity.
Management reviews scenarios with reasonably different
assumptions concerning variables which could result in
increases or decreases in probable inherent credit losses that
may materially impact AmSouth’s estimate of the allowance
and results of operations.
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Management’s estimate of the allowance for the com-
mercial portfolio could be affected by risk rating upgrades
or downgrades as a result of fluctuations in the general econ-
omy, developments within a particular industry, or changes
in an individual credit due to factors particular to that credit
such as competition, management or business performance.
A reasonably possible scenario would be an estimated 10
percent migration of lower risk-related pass credits to crit-
icized status which could increase the inherent losses by
$39.7 million. A 10 percent reduction in the level of criti-
cized credits is also possible, which would result in an
estimated $5.8 million lower inherent loss.

For the consumer portfolio, where individual products
are reviewed on a group basis or in loan pools (e.g., resi-
dential first mortgage pool) losses can be affected by such things
as collateral value, loss severity, the economy and other uncon-
trollable factors. The consumer portfolio is largely comprised
of loans that are secured by primary residences, such as
residential mortgage and home equity lines and loans, which
represent 76.0 percent of total consumer loans. A 10 basis point
increase or decrease in the estimated loss rates on the resi-
dential mortgage and home equity line and loan portfolios
would change the inherent losses by $12.8 million. The
remaining consumer portfolio inherent loss analysis includes
reasonably possible scenarios with estimated loss rates
increasing or decreasing by 25 basis points, which would
change the related inherent losses by $9.8 million.

Additionally, the estimate of the allowance for loan losses
for the entire portfolio may change due to modifications in
the mix and level of loan balances outstanding and general
economic conditions as evidenced by changes in interest
rates, unemployment rates, bankruptcy filings, used car
prices and real estate values. While no one factor is dominant,
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each has the ability to result in actual loan losses which differ
from originally estimated amounts.

The information presented above demonstrates the sen-
sitivity of the allowance to key assumptions. This sensitivity
analysis does not reflect an expected outcome.

Pensions — Accounting for pensions is an area that requires
Management to make various assumptions to appropriately
value any pension asset or liability reflected in the consolidated
balance sheet as “other assets” or “other liabilities” These
assumptions include the expected long-term rate of return
on plan assets, the discount rate and the rate of compen-
sation increase (i.e., the expected weighted-average annual
increase in compensation for participants until their expected
retirement dates). Changes in these assumptions could
impact earnings and would be reflected in noninterest
expense as “salaries and employee benefits” in the consol-
idated statements of earnings. For example, a lower expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets could negatively
impact earnings as would a lower estimated discount rate
or a higher rate of compensation increase. In determining
the appropriate long-term rate of return on plan assets,
AmSouth begins by reviewing historic returns earned on
its plan, then reviews the current asset allocation of the plan
and the current capital market assumption of each asset
class. AmSouth uses the Moody’s Aa Corporate Bond Rate
as the high-quality fixed income investment basis for estab-
lishing the discount rate. In order to ensure that this basis
is appropriate from a duration standpoint, AmSouth regu-
larly monitors the duration of its benefit liabilities versus
the duration of the bonds in the Moody’s Aa portfolio.
AmSouth reviews long-term inflation rates and makes
estimates of long-term merit increases to determine the rate
of compensation increase to utilize.
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In 2004, AmSouth made several changes to the plan
assumptions used in its pension calculation. The assumed
return on plan assets assumption for 2004 was 8.50 per-
cent, a decrease from 8.75 percent assumed in 2003. This
assumption reflects the plan’s asset allocation and a com-
bination of historical returns and expected future returns for
that asset allocation. The discount rate was reduced by 65
basis points to 6.00 percent to reflect the lower interest rate
environment. AmSouth also decreased the rate of compen-
sation increase used to determine its pension cost to 4.13
percent for 2004 from 4.40 percent used in 2003. This change
reflects Management’s expectations for long-term merit and
special increases.

To illustrate the sensitivity of earnings to changes in
AmSouth’s pension plan assumptions, a 25 basis point increase
or decrease in the plan discount rate used by AmSouth would
have resulted in a $3.5 million increase or a $3.7 million
decrease, respectively, in 2004 pre-tax earnings. In addition,
pre-tax earnings would have increased or decreased by approx-
imately $1.9 million as a result of a 25 basis point increase or
decrease in the rate of return on plan assets assumption,
respectively. Pre-tax earnings would have increased or decreased
by approximately $600,000 associated with a 25 basis point
decrease or increase in the assumption for the rate of increase
in compensation, respectively.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities— AmSouth uses various
derivative financial instruments to assist in managing inter-
est rate risk. AmSouth accounts for these derivative instruments
using the guidance of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities” as amended (Statement 133). During
2004 and 2003, AmSouth had both fair value hedges and
cash flow hedges recorded in the consolidated balance sheet
as “other assets” or “other liabilities” as applicable. For both

fair value and cash flow hedges, certain assumptions and
forecasts related to the impact of changes in interest rates
on the fair value of the derivative and the item being hedged
must be documented at the inception of the hedging rela-
tionship to demonstrate that the derivative instrument will
be effective in hedging the designated risk. If these assump-
tions or forecasts do not accurately reflect subsequent
changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument or the
designated item being hedged, AmSouth might be required
to discontinue the use of hedge accounting for that deriv-
ative instrument. Once hedge accounting is terminated, all
subsequent changes in the fair market value of the deriva-
tive instrument must flow through the consolidated statements
of earnings in “other noninterest revenues,” possibly result-
ing in greater volatility in AmSouth’s earnings. If AmSouth
changed its assumptions such that the derivatives were no
longer considered effective, and thus did not qualify as
hedges, the impact in 2004 would have been to lower pre-
tax earnings by approximately $17 million.

Income Taxes — The calculation of AmSouth’s income tax
provision is complex and requires the use of estimates and
judgments in its determination. AmSouth’s estimated tax
expense is reported in the consolidated statements of earn-
ings as “income taxes.” Accrued taxes represent the net estimated
amount due or to be received from taxing jurisdictions either
currently or in the future and are reported as a component of
“accrued expenses and other liabilities” in the consolidated
balance sheet.

From time to time AmSouth engages in business trans-
actions that may have an effect on its tax liabilities. Management
believes that its subsidiaries will generate sufficient operat-
ing earnings to realize related deferred tax assets. AmSouth
has obtained the opinion of advisors, when available, that
the tax aspects of business transactions should prevail and
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has assessed the relative merits and risks of the appropriate
tax treatment of business transactions taking into account
statutory, judicial and regulatory guidance in the context of
its tax position. However, changes to AmSouth’s estimated
accrued taxes can occur periodically due to changes in tax
rates, implementation of new business strategies, resolution
of issues with taxing authorities regarding previously taken
tax positions and newly enacted statutory, judicial and reg-
ulatory guidance. These changes, when they occur, affect
accrued taxes and can be material to AmSouth’s operating
results for any particular reporting period. The potential
impact to AmSouth’s operating results for any of these changes
cannot be reasonably estimated.

EARNINGS PERFORMANCE

Net Interest Income and Margin

Net interest income is AmSouth’s principal source of revenue
and is one of the most important elements of AmSouth’s
ability to meet its overall performance goals. Net interest income
is the interest earned on investment securities, loans (including
yield-related loan fees) and other interest-earning assets minus
the interest paid for deposits and debt. The net interest margin
is net interest income expressed as a percentage of average
earning assets for the period being measured. The net interest
margin is presented on a fully taxable-equivalent basis to
consistently reflect income from taxable and tax-exempt loans
and securities.

TABLE 2 - COMPOSITION OF INTEREST-EARNING ASSETS

2004

2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)

Average Percent
Balance of Total

Average Percent
Balance of Total

Average Percent
Balance of Total

Loans net of unearned income $ 31,241,987 71.4% $ 28,511,159 73.7% $ 25,921,769 74.0%
Available-for-sale securities 6,450,678 14.7 5,402,077 14.0 4,474,383 12.8
Held-to-maturity securities 5,779,715 13.2 4,496,978 11.6 4,082,989 11.7
Other interest-earning assets 294,919 0.7 274,700 0.7 518,512 1.5

$ 43,767,299 100.0% $ 38,684,914 100.0% $ 34,997,653 100.0%
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Net interest income was $1.476 billion in 2004, com-
pared to $1.415 billion in 2003, an increase of 4 percent.
The increase was primarily due to robust loan growth funded
by strong low-cost deposit growth. The net interest margin
for 2004 decreased 31 basis points to 3.47 percent from 3.78
percent in 2003. The decrease was primarily due to a decline
in the net interest spread, a result of lower earning asset
yields. Although the Fed raised short-term rates during the
year, the impact on long-term earning asset yields was not
as significant. They remained low and as new volumes were
added to the loan and investment securities portfolios, they
were made at yields that were lower than the yield on the
existing portfolios as a whole, which resulted in an overall earn-
ing asset yield decrease. Partially offsetting the earning asset
yield decrease was lower funding costs, reflecting both the rel-
atively low rates paid on new deposits as compared to the overall
deposit base and strong growth in low-cost deposits. The
net interest margin stabilized over the last three quarters of
the year, reflecting efforts to structure the balance sheet and
loan and deposit pricing decisions to neutralize the impact
that changes in market interest rates might have on earn-
ings. AmSouth remains essentially neutral in terms of interest
rate risk and has a well-established process in place to man-
age the timing and magnitude of loan and deposit pricing
changes in response to movement of rates in the overall mar-
ket as well as the interest rate policies of the Fed.

Interest Earning Assets— Average earning assets, consist-
ing primarily of loans and investment securities, grew $5.1 billion
in 2004 compared to 2003, reflecting growth in commercial
loans, commercial real estate loans and, within the consumer
category, growth in residential mortgage and home equity
lending. Efforts to earn new customer relationships in
Commercial Banking were a key driver of commercial loan
growth. Specifically, sales calling activity was intensified with
a particular focus on businesses having annual sales rang-
ing from $5 million to $100 million, the commercial “middle
market” line of business. As a result, AmSouth experienced
steady growth in middle market loans, with the added ben-
efit of increased deposits and fee revenue. Favorable interest

rates, general economic growth and an increase in new
commercial real estate projects in AmSouth’s markets, com-
bined with sustained calling activity, were key drivers of
growth in commercial real estate lending. The growth in
residential mortgages reflects continued low mortgage rates,
AmSouths decision to place greater sales emphasis on mort-
gage lending, and Management’s decision to retain a greater
proportion of adjustable rate residential mortgages on the
balance sheet. Growth in the home equity portfolio pri-
marily reflects AmSouth’s continuing sales emphasis on
home equity lending. Demand for home equity products
remained strong in 2004 due to the flexibility and tax advan-
tages for the borrower associated with this product. Earning
assets were also impacted by the strategic sale of AmSouth’s
$550 million credit card portfolio to MBNA Corporation
during the fourth quarter of 2004. For 2004, average loans
comprised 71.4 percent of total average earning assets, a
decrease of 2.3 percent from the 2003 level. See further dis-
cussion of loans in the “Consolidated Balance Sheet Analysis”
section of this report.

NET YIELD ON INTEREST-EARNING ASSETS
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TABLE 3 - YIELDS EARNED ON AVERAGE INTEREST-EARNING ASSETS AND RATES PAID ON AVERAGE

INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

2004
Average Revenue/ Yield/
(Taxable equivalent basis - dollars in thousands) Balance EXPEHSE Rate
Assets
Interest-earning assets:
Loans net of unearned income ()@ $ 31,241,987 1,590,835 5.09%
Available-for-sale securities, amortized cost:
Taxable 6,437,800 320,366 4.98
Tax-free 47,270 3,855 8.16
Market valuation-on AFS securities® (34,392) -
Total available-for-sale securities 4 ) 6,450,678 324,221 5.00
Held-to-maturity securities:
Taxable 5,442,618 253,891 4.66
Tax-free 337,097 24,999 7.42
Total held-to-maturity securities 5,779,715 278,890 4.83
Total investment securities & 12,230,393 603,111 4.92
Trading securities 4,690 232 4.95
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell 43,281 529 1.22
Loans held for sale 216,355 13,277 6.14
Other interest-earning assets 30,593 247 0.81
Total interest-earning assets ) 43,767,299 2,208,231 5.04
Cash and other assets 4,624,251
Allowance for loan losses (380,925
$ 48,010,625
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Interest-bearing checking $ 6,710,178 38,592 0.58
Money market and savings deposits 7,927,030 46,979 0.59
Time deposits ‘©) 9,315,285 243,223 2.61
Foreign deposits 1,500,545 16,611 1.11
Federal funds purchased and securities sold
under agreements to repurchase 2,989,428 41,782 1.40
Other borrowed funds 342,452 10,062 2.94
Long-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances 5,578,765 233,993 4.19
Subordinated debt® 1,229,343 37,941 3.09
Senior notes® 99,869 2,505 2.51
Other long-term debt 798,714 17,948 2.25
Total interest-bearing liabilities 36,491,609 689,636 1.89
Net interest spread ¢! 3.15%
Noninterest-bearing demand deposits 6,561,938
Other liabilities © 1,605,324
Shareholders’ equity 3,351,754
§ 45010625
Net interest income/margin on a taxable equivalent basis 1,518,595 3.47%
Taxable equivalent adjustment:
Loans 24,658
Available-for-sale securities 2,529
Held-to-maturity securities 15,383
Total taxable equivalent adjustment 42,570
Net interest income 1,476,025

Notes:
(' Loans net of unearned incoine includes nonaccrual loans for all periods presented.

@ Interest income includes loan fees of $29,795,000, $44,695,000 and $49,219,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

) Certain amounts in the prior years have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.

@ Certain noninterest-earning, marketable equity securities are not included in available-for-sale securities.

©'The yield calculation for available-for-sale securities, total investment securities, total interest-earning assets, net interest spread and net interest margin excludes the market

valuation adjustment on available-for-sale securities.

© Statement 133 valuation adjustments related to time deposits, subordinated debt and senior notes are included in other liabilities.
' The computation of the taxable equivalent adjustment is based on the statutory federal income tax rate of 35%, adjusted for applicable state income taxes net of the related

federal tax benefit.
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2003 2002
Average Revenue/ Yield/ Average Revenue/ Yield/
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate
$ 28,511,159 $ 1,578,497 5.54% $  25921,769 1,686,744 6.51%
5,259,531 311,247 592 4,251,715 335,083 7.88
55,797 4,368 7.83 67,399 5,244 7.78
86,749 - 155,269 -
5,402,077 315,615 5.94 4,474,383 340,327 7.88
4,169,281 205,922 4.94 3,741,238 235,749 6.30
327,697 24,087 7.35 341,751 25,574 7.48
4,496,978 230,009 5.11 4,082,989 261,323 6.40
9,899,055 545,624 5.56 8,557,372 601,650 7.16
12,165 139 1.14 79,562 1,367 1.72
141,938 1,657 117 207,864 3,559 171
74,234 4,525 6.10 144,925 10,254 7.08
46,363 388 0.84 86,161 1,560 1.81
38,684,914 2,130,830 5.52 34,997,653 2,305,134 6.62
4,432,508 3,941,255
(386,906 (374,340)
$ 42,730,516 $ 38,564,568
$ 5,755,018 29,086 0.51 $ 5,244,737 45,556 0.87
7,576,751 46,310 0.61 6,762,350 75,503 112
8,910,764 267,781 3.01 8,561,378 310,740 3.64
854,067 7,606 0.89 467,926 5,894 1.26
2,153,606 20,554 0.95 2,012,721 27,693 1.38
139,534 4,177 2.99 88,322 3,898 4.41
5,756,904 253,148 4.40 5,273,442 272,339 5.16
1,221,902 39,242 3.21 877,026 36,073 411
99,798 2,088 2.09 99,726 2,673 2.68
76,698 1,824 2.38 3,475 107 3.08
32,545,042 671,816 2.06 29,391,103 781,476 2.66
3.46% 3.96%
5,486,016 4,907,143
1,582,096 1,235,421
3,117,362 3,030,901
$ 42,730,516 § 38,564,568
1,459,014 3.78% 1,523,658 437%
26,295 30,459
3,277 4,705
14,807 15,854
44,379 51,018
$ 1,414,635 1,472,640
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Also contributing to earning asset growth was a $2.3
billion increase in average investment securities during 2004.
The increase, which occurred principally during the first
six months of the year, resulted primarily from AmSouth
taking advantage of historically wide spreads between invest-
ment yields and cost of funds as well as efforts to manage
an essentially neutral interest rate risk position. Investment
securities represented 27.9 percent of average earning assets
in 2004, up from 25.6 percent in 2003. In future periods,
investment securities as a percent of earning assets are
expected to stabilize or decline. See additional discussion
of the composition of the securities growth within the
“Consolidated Balance Sheet Analysis —Investment Securities”
section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

AVERAGE EARNING ASSET MIX

b.28% 2004
a. Loans
. Investrnent Securities

a71% c. Other Interest-Earning Assets

2003

a. Loans
b. Investment Securities
c. Other Interest-Earning Assets

Funding Sources— Earning asset growth in 2004 was pri-
marily funded by $3.4 billion of growth in average deposits
in 2004 over 2003. While most deposit categories grew in
2004, low-cost categories, which were $2.4 billion higher
compared with 2003, accounted for the majority of this
growth. Low-cost deposits include noninterest-bearing and
interest-bearing checking, money market and savings deposits.
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The increase in low-cost deposits was primarily related to
AmSouth’s branch expansion program. AmSouth’s branch
network provided the platform to implement promotional
campaigns and incentive programs, which placed added
sales emphasis on low-cost deposit categories. Low-cost
deposit volumes were also favorably impacted by the current
low interest rate environment and capital markets volatility
which reduced the attractiveness of other investment alter-
natives for AmSouth’s customers.

Time deposits grew $379.5 million, led by an increase of
$1.2 billion in time deposits greater than $100,000 offset
by a decline in other time deposits of $809.8 million. This change
in time deposit mix reflects a more cost-effective funding
strategy utilizing national market deposits to replace the
runoff of higher cost retail deposits. The growth in time
deposits with balances greater than $100,000 reflected the
results of sales efforts focusing on public funds deposits of
local governments within AmSouth’s markets.

AmSouth also took advantage of favorable rates during
2004 to realign its liability structure through the prepayment
of $1.25 billion of higher-rate FHLB borrowings. These bor-
rowings were replaced with a variety of low-cost funding
instruments with an average maturity of approximately three
years, saving the Company 244 basis points in spread on the
amount restructured. AmSouth incurred cost of $129.6 mil-
lion related to this prepayment.

Provision for Loan Losses
The provision for loan losses is the charge to earnings neces-
sary to maintain the allowance for loan losses at an adequate
level to absorb losses inherent in the loan and lease portfolio.
Actual losses on loans and leases are charged against the
allowance for loan losses.

In 2004, AmSouth recorded a provision for loan losses
totaling $127.8 million, compared to $173.7 million in 2003.
The decrease in the provision in 2004 versus 2003 reflects the
decline in the ratio of net charge-offs to total loans from 0.60
percent in 2003 to 0.37 percent in 2004.
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TABLE 4 - VOLUME AND YIELD/RATE VARIANCES

2004 Compared to 2003 2003 Compared to 2002
Change Due to Change Due to
Yield/ Yield/

(Taxable equivalent basis - in thousands) Volume Rate Net Volume Rate Net
Interest Earned On:
Loans net of unearned income $ 144,587 § (132,249) $ 12,338 $ 158,412  $ (266,659) $ (108,247)
Available-for-sale securities:

Taxable 63,241 (54,122) 9,119 69,780 (93,616) (23,836)

Tax-free (690) 177 (513) (908) 32 (876)
Total available-for-sale securities 62,551 (53,945) 8,606 68,872 (93,584) (24,712)
Held-to-maturity securities:

Taxable 59,936 (11,967) 47,969 24,956 (54,783) (29,827)

Tax-free 696 216 912 (1,039) (448) (1,487)
Total held-to-maturity securities 60,632 (11,751) 48,881 23,917 (55,231) (31,314)
Total investment securities 123,183 (65,696) 57,487 92,789 (148,815) (56,026)
Trading securities (130) 223 93 (881) (347) (1,228)
Federal funds sold and securities

purchased under agreements to resell (1,202) 74 (1,128) (949) (953) (1,902)
Loans held for sale 8,721 31 8,752 (4,462) (1,267) (5,729)
Other interest-earning assets (128) (13) (141) (542) (630) (1,172)
Total interest-earning assets 275,031 (197,630) 77,401 244,367 (418,671) (174,304)
Interest Paid On:
Interest-bearing checking 5,191 4,315 9,506 4,082 (20,552) (16,470)
Money market and savings deposits 2,102 (1,433) 669 8,228 (37,421) (29,193)
Time deposits 5,880 (30,438) (24,558) 10,033 (53,992) (43,959)
Foreign deposits 6,817 2,188 9,005 3,812 (2,100} 1,712
Federal funds purchased and securities

sold under agreements to repurchase 9,663 11,565 21,228 1,828 (8,967) (7,139)
Other borrowed funds 5,963 (78) 5,885 1,792 (1,513) 279
Long-term Federal Home Loan

Bank advances (7,688) (11,467) (19,155) 23,552 (42,743) (19,191)
Subordinated debt 238 (1,539) (1,301) 12,188 (9,019) 3,169
Senior notes 1 416 417 2 (587) (585)
Other long-term debt 16,230 (106) 16,124 1,746 (29) 1,717
Total interest-bearing liabilities 44,397 (26,577) 17,820 67,263 (176,923) (109,660)
Net interest income on a taxable

equivalent basis $ 230,634 $ (171,053) 59,581 $ 177,104  $ (241,748) (64,644)
Add taxable equivalent adjustment 1,809 6,639
Net interest income $ 61,390 $ (58,005)

Notes:

1. The change in interest not due solely to volume or yield/rate has been allocated to the volume column and yield/rate column in proportion to the relationship of the absolute dollar

amounts of the change in each.

2. The computation of the taxable equivalent adjustment is based on the statutory federal income tax rate of 35%, adjusted for applicable state income taxes net of the related federal

tax benefit.

3. Certain noninterest-earning marketable equity securities are not included in available-for-sale securities,
4. Statemnent 133 valuation adjustments related to time deposits, subordinated debt, and senior notes are included in other liabilities.

49




AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

NET CHARGE-OFF RATIO

0.82%

2001

0.75%

0.60%
| 0.37%

2002 2003 2004

0.48%

|

2000

For the full year, credit quality in 2004 improved compared
to 2003, as evidenced by the lower levels of delinquencies, non-
performing loans and net charge-offs. The improvement in
credit performance reflected improved economic conditions
and the benefit of tighter underwriting of home equity and
indirect loans implemented in mid-2002. While Management’s
outlook on credit quality for 2005 is predicated on an improv-
ing economy and a moderately rising interest rate environment,
there were emerging risks late in 2004, including higher
energy prices and increases in short-term interest rates, that
adversely affected some borrowers, contributing to a higher
provision for loan losses in the fourth quarter of 2004.

Table 19 provides a detail of net charge-offs by loan
category for 2004 and 2003 and Table 21 provides a five-
year comparison of charge-off and recovery information
by loan category. As indicated in these tables, the $54.7 mil-
lion decrease in net charge-offs in 2004 compared to 2003
occurred primarily in the commercial, consumer indirect auto-
mobile and home equity lending portfolios. There were no
loan categories that experienced significant increases in
losses over the previous year.

Lower losses in the commercial portfolio, which includes
small business lending, primarily reflected improving eco-
nomic conditions. During 2004, net charge-offs of commercial
loans declined $14.2 million to $35.7 million. The ratio of
commercial net charge-offs to total commercial loans declined
from 0.56 percent in 2003 to 0.37 percent for 2004.

Within the consumer category, net charge-offs as a per-
cent of average indirect loans fell from 1.10 percent in 2003
to 0.57 percent in 2004. The lower net charge-off rate, in
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combination with a reduction in the size of the portfolio,
resulted in a decrease of $20.5 million in net charge-offs. The
lower net charge-off rate is reflective of a stronger economy,
increased recoveries due to higher prices on repossessed cars
at auctions and improvements in the collection process. The
portfolio has also benefited from stricter underwriting require-
ments which were implemented in recent years. Equity line
and loan net charge-offs as a percent of average outstanding
balances also decreased from 0.55 percent to 0.32 percent,
reflecting lower net charge-offs of $13.1 million. Higher credit
standards for home equity lending were adopted several years
ago. Loans underwritten against these more stringent stan-
dards are becoming an increasingly larger portion of total
equity line and equity loan volume, resulting in a generally
lower risk portfolio.

Beginning in late 2003, AmSouth began purchasing
insurance to protect against the credit risk for certain newly
originated equity loans and lines with loan-to-value ratios
up to 100 percent. The insurance policy provides for the sale
of the loan or line, at par, to the insurance company when the
loan or line becomes 120 days delinquent. AmSouth’s policy
is to charge down equity loans and lines to net realizable
value when they become 180 days delinquent. Therefore,
there are no material losses on these loans and lines expected
in the future. The insurance premiums are paid monthly
based on a percentage of the outstanding balances of the
funded loans and lines. As of December 31, 2004, approxi-
mately $338.9 million of loans and lines were insured. Included
in noninterest expense for the year ended December 31,
2004 is $1.9 million in related insurance premiums. Given the
volume and premium levels to date, the impact of the use
of this insurance on the provision and the allowance for loan
losses has not been material.

See the “Credit Risk Management Process and Loan Quality”
section of this report for a further discussion of the factors
used by Management to determine the appropriate level for
the allowance for loan losses.

Noninterest Revenues

Noninterest revenues represent fees and income derived from
sources other than interest-earning assets such as service charges
on deposit accounts, trust and consumer investment services.
Noninterest revenues represented 40.5 percent of total tax
equivalent net revenues in 2004 versus 37.0 percent in 2003. Each
of the major categories of noninterest revenue from 2000
through 2004 is shown in Table 5.
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TABLE 5 - NONINTEREST REVENUES AND NONINTEREST EXPENSES
Years Ended December 31
(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Noninterest revenues:
Service charges on deposit accounts $ 378,655 $ 337,945 § 289,226 § 258,089 $ 229,383
Trust income 117,973 103,657 105,428 112,078 114,353
Consumer investment services income 77,445 69,410 77,793 95,387 199,270
Gain on sale of credit card loans 166,103 -0- -0- -0- -0-
Other noninterest revenues 291,966 344,766 266,914 282,668 126,488
$ 1,032,142 $ 855778 $ 739361 $§ 748222 § 669,494
Noninterest expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits $ 674374 $ 638,843 $§ 584264 $ 5662838 $ 565,889
Net occupancy expense 147,225 133,479 118,548 113,174 114,783
Equipment expense 125,039 116,703 118,729 122,621 121,798
Settlement agreement and related professional fees 53,972 -0- -0- -0- -0-
FHLB prepayment cost 129,648 -0- -0- -0- -0-
Other noninterest expenses 326,680 316,552 305,081 355,149 546,060
$ 1,456,938 $ 1,205,577 $ 1,126,622 $ 1,157,232 $ 1,348,530

Noninterest revenue growth in 2004 was primarily driven
by a $166.1 million gain from the strategic sale of $550 mil-
lion in credit card loans. Increases in service charges on
deposits, higher trust and investment service income, and
increased interchange income were the contributing factors
to normalized noninterest revenue growth. Partially offset-
ting growth in these categories were lower mortgage and
investment portfolio income.

Service charges on deposit accounts represent revenues
from maintenance fees, check charges, overdraft fees on con-
sumer and small business deposit accounts, and corporate
analysis and treasury management fees on commercial deposit
accounts. In 2004, service charge revenues grew 12.0 percent
to $378.7 million, primarily the result of increases in overdraft
fees on consumer and small business accounts, driven by
increases in the volume of overdrafts. The additional volume
of overdrafts is primarily attributable to procedural changes
made during the year related to customers’ account balances.

Service charges also include corporate analysis fees which
represent service charges on commercial accounts. These
analysis fees were essentially flat for 2004 as compared to
2003, reflecting a shift in the mix of transactions being
processed in 2004. Electronic transactions, which carry lower

processing fees, are becoming a larger percentage of all trans-
actions processed. Lower overall transaction volume and
higher fee credits provided to customers as a result of higher
earnings credit rates and balance growth also pressured
corporate analysis fee growth. These trends are expected to
continue in 2005.

Trust revenues represent fees derived from trust ser-
vices, institutional investment services and natural resources
management and are generally based on a percentage of the
market value of assets under management. Trust income
was $118.0 million in 2004, an increase of $14.3 million or
13.8 percent compared with 2003, primarily due to improved
sales and market conditions, as well as various fee adjust-
ments. Discretionary trust assets under management at the
end of 2004 were $15.8 billion compared to $14.6 billion at
the end of 2003. Total trust assets were $26.7 billion at the
end of 2004 versus $25.3 billion at the end of 2003.

Consumer investment services revenues are derived from
annuity sales, mutual fund sales, brokerage fees and the sale
of other investment products. In 2004, consumer invest-
ment services income increased $8.0 million to $77.4 million.
The increase was primarily the result of higher sales of
insurance-related products, which were up $2.4 million, and

51




AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

an increase in mutual fund commissions and fees, which
were higher by $2.7 million over 2003. Annuity sales, the
largest revenue category within consumer investment ser-
vices, represent sales of fixed and variable annuity products
by trained and licensed professionals in AmSouth’s branches
and AmSouth Investment Services. Although equity mar-
kets performed better in 2004, low interest rates continued
to put pressure on fixed income and fixed annuity channels.
Revenues from annuity sales in 2004 were virtually equal
to those in 2003, at $38.6 million and $38.7 million, respec-
tively. Principal volume of annuity sales was relatively
unchanged at $776 million in 2004 versus $768 million in 2003.

AmSouth realized a gain on the sale of its credit card
portfolio in the amount of $166.1 million in the fourth quar-
ter of 2004. The gain was the result of selling $550 million of
credit card loans to MBNA Corporation. The decision to sell
this portfolio was made because this product line is now
dominated by larger financial institutions with a wide array
of credit card products. As part of the sale, AmSouth entered
into an agency agreement with MBNA Corporation, allow-
ing customers to continue carrying AmSouth branded cards
with a broader array of product offerings. This agreement
will also provide a continuing revenue stream tied to appli-
cation volume generated through AmSouths branch system.

Other noninterest revenues decreased $52.8 million in
2004 to $292.0 million compared with 2003. The decrease was
principally the result of a decrease in mortgage revenues
and decreased investment portfolio income offset by increased
interchange income.

Mortgage income decreased $30.0 million to $21.2 mil-
lion in 2004 versus 2003. The decrease was primarily associated
with a decrease in fixed rate mortgage originations in 2004.
Historically, AmSouth has elected to sell the majority of its
fixed rate production into the secondary market resulting in
gains on these sales. AmSouth has experienced a shift in
customer preference toward variable rate products. As such,
more of 2004 originations were made at adjustable rates and
the Company made a business decision to retain them on
the balance sheet. As a result, AmSouth recognized $19.7
million in income related to the sale of mortgage loans and
mortgage servicing rights in 2004, as compared to $24.9
million in 2003. The lower gain income will be somewhat oft-
set through increased net interest income from the loan
volume retained on the balance sheet.
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AmSouth’s mortgage production was down $0.4 billion
or 9 percent in 2004 from 2003, compared to the industry aver-
age reduction of 26 percent. AmSouth’s smaller percentage
decrease in mortgage production was driven by an increase
of 75 mortgage loan officers and AmSouth’s Loan-By-Phone
distribution channel in 2004.

Industry projections anticipate that mortgage markets
will contract another 17 percent in 2005. AmSouth expects
to counter this contraction through an increase in mort-
gage loan officers. AmSouth’s strategy to generate income
by selling a portion of mortgage originations is expected
to continue in 2005.

Portfolio income is derived from the sales of securities in
the available-for-sale portfolio. Revenue from this activity
was down significantly in 2004 to $29.1 million or a decrease
of $24.3 million from the 2003 level of $53.4 million. In 2003,
AmSouth generated relatively high securities gains, taking advan-
tage of favorable market conditions through the sale of
securities that were prepaying at a rapid rate. The lower level
of gains in 2004 was expected because, as rates began to rise
and prepayments slowed materially, opportunity to take
securities gains lessened.

Interchange income represents fees derived from elec-
tronic transactions, such as debit cards and automated teller
machines. In 2004, interchange income increased 15.2 per-
cent, or $10.2 million, to $77.6 million due primarily to
increases in the volume of CheckCards outstanding, increases
in transaction volumes and fee adjustments. AmSouth now
has 1.7 million CheckCards and more than 1,250 ATMs gen-
erating interchange fees. Transaction volumes increased to
154 million in 2004, a 17 percent increase over 2003.

Noninterest Expenses

Noninterest expenses primarily represent the operating
expenses of AmSouth. Each of the major categories of
noninterest expense from 2000 through 2004 is shown in
Table 5.

During 2004, noninterest expenses were $1.5 billion, an
increase of $251.4 million compared to 2003. This increase
includes costs associated with settlement agreements and
FHLB debt prepayment fees totaling $183.6 million. Much of
the remaining increase in noninterest expense reflects invest-
ments by AmSouth in revenue growth initiatives. As part of
these investments, AmSouth opened a total of 41 new branches
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during 2004, including 31 in the high-growth Florida mar-
ket, and hired a substantial number of professionals in sales
and key support areas of the Company. At the end of 2004,
AmSouth had more branches in Florida than any other state.
AmSouth also invested in new technology in 2004 that
enhances the Company’s ability to serve customers in branches
via the Internet and call centers.

Salaries and employee benefits expense was $674.4 million,
up 5.6 percent in 2004, reflecting higher benefit costs related
to pension benefits, an increase in performance-based incen-
tive payments, and general merit increases. Partially offsetting
increases in personnel costs was a net decrease in the num-
ber of employees, down four percent from December 31,
2003 to December 31, 2004.

Net occupancy expense increased $13.7 million, to $147.2
million in 2004, reflecting higher depreciation and other
costs associated with AmSouth’s branch expansion program.

The increase in equipment expense in 2004 versus 2003
was 7.1 percent and was associated with higher deprecia-
tion and maintenance costs.

Also contained in noninterest expense was the cost of
the settlement agreements and related professional fees total-
ing $54.0 million. See “Regulatory Agreements and Related
Settlements” on page 36 for a detailed description. In addi-
tion, AmSouth incurred $4.5 million of costs in 2004 and
expects costs of approximately $12 million in 2005, some
of which are one-time in nature, related to compliance efforts
with the Bank Secrecy Act. These costs consist primarily of
personnel, consulting and technology costs.

AmSouth also incurred $129.6 million of cost associated
with the prepayment of FHLB borrowings, which is included
in noninterest expense for 2004. This cost was the result of a
business decision AmSouth made, electing to prepay $1.25 billion
of long duration high-cost FHLB borrowings to lower fund-
ing cost going forward.

Other noninterest expense increased in 2004 primarily
due to higher marketing expenses and professional fees.
Partially offsetting increases in these categories of other non-
interest expense were lower costs for communications and
postage and supplies.

Excluding the settlement cost, total noninterest expense
for 2004 was up $197.4 million or 16.4 percent over 2003.
The efficiency ratio calculated on the same basis was 55
percent. (See Table 1, GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation
on page 37.)

EFFICIENCY RATIO

64.4%

$3.1% 57.1%
. [

49.8% 52.1%
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Income Taxes

AmSouth’s income tax expense was $300.0 million in 2004
and $265.0 million in 2003. Income tax expense for each
year fluctuates based on pre-tax income. The effective tax
rate for 2004 was 32.5 percent compared to 29.7 percent in
2003. The effective tax rate for 2004 increased due to higher
pre-tax income and the payment of the settlement charges
described earlier which are not tax deductible. Details of
the deferred tax assets and liabilities are included in
Note 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS

At December 31, 2004, AmSouth reported total assets of
$49.5 billion compared to $45.6 billion at the end of 2003.
Loans and deposits were the primary drivers of the Company’s
growth. Loan expansion reflected new business generation
resulting from increased business development efforts and
an improving economy. This asset growth was funded by
solid growth in deposits, particularly low-cost deposits.

Interest-Earning Assets

The primary types of interest-earning assets are loans and irvest-
ment securities. The proportion of interest-earning assets to
total assets measures the effectiveness of Management’s
efforts to invest available funds into the most profitable
interest-earning vehicles. The categories which comprise
interest-earning assets are shown in Table 2.
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Investment Securities

The size and composition of AmSouth’s securities portfolio,
detailed in Table 6, are largely dependent on liquidity needs
as well as the interest rate risk position of the Company.
AmSouth uses this portfolio primarily to manage liquidity
and interest rate risk and to take advantage of market con-
ditions that offer yield enhancement opportunities.

The total securities portfolio increased $456.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004, driven by an increase
in held-to-maturity (HTM) securities of $1.3 billion with
an offsetting decrease in the available-for-sale (AFS) port-
folio of $803.3 million. The 2004 increase in AmSouth’s HTM
portfolio reflected additional purchases of primarily shorter
duration and well-structured mortgage-backed securities
(MBS) and collateralized mortgage obligations (CMO). The
decrease in AmSouth’s AFS portfolio was the result of matu-
rities, prepayments and sales of securities.

DPortfolio Composition — The majority of AmSouth’s AFS
and HTM securities portfolios consists of mortgage-backed
securities and collateralized mortgage obligations, which
provide a source of interest income and monthly cash flow
and serve as collateral in connection with pledging require-
ments. A collateralized mortgage obligation is a debt security
that is secured by a pool of mortgages, mortgage-backed
securities, U.S. government securities, corporate debt or
other bonds. At December 31, 2004, AmSouth had approx-
imately $11.6 billion in CMO and mortgage-backed securities
or 92.8 percent of the portfolio. At the end of 2003, MBS and
CMO securities represented $10.9 billion or 90.0 percent of
the total portfolio. In 2004, AmSouth purchased approxi-
mately $5.1 billion in MBS and CMO securities, the majority
of which was used to replace normal runoff and sales of
securities. AmSouth’s strategy was to purchase high-quality
MBS and well-structured CMO securities, which would
provide predictable cash flows to be utilized as a funding
source for loan growth in 2004 and beyond.

TABLE 6 - SECURITIES
December 31

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Trading securities $ 2 $ 3 $ 48

Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities 82 247 67
State, county and municipal securities 49 56 70
Mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations 5,843 6,357 4,150
Equity securities 342 417 375
Other debt securities 7 49 83
6,323 7,126 4,745

Held-to-maturity securities:
U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities 53 64 24
State, county and municipal securities 348 304 340
Mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations 5,784 4,556 4,057
Other debt securities 3 4 4
6,188 4,928 4,425
$ 12,513 $ 12,057 $ 9218
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TABLE 7 - AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES AND HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES RELATIVE CONTRACTUAL
MATURITIES AND WEIGHTED-AVERAGE YIELDS

Due Within Due After One but Due After Five but Due After
One Year Within Five Years Within Ten Years Ten Years
(Taxable equivalent basis - dollars in thousands) ~ Amount  Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield
Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. Treasury and federal
agency securities $ 1,283 1.60% $ 4,349 3.54% $ 75,887 3.59% $ 3,629  4.99%
State, county and municipal
obligations 4,383 8.24 17,350 7.12 21,480 7.23 4,156 6.55
Mortgage-backed securities and
collateralized mortgage obligations -0-  0.00 30,103 7.35 242,038 3.72 5,607,420 4.61
Other debt securities -0-  0.00 -0- 0.00 -0-  0.00 4,793 5.00
$ 5,666 6.74% $51,802 6.95% $339,405 3.91% $ 5,619,998 4.61%
Taxable equivalent adjustment
for calculation of yield $ 124 $ 373 § 415 $ 45
Held-to-maturity securities:
U.S. Treasury and federal
agency securities $ 3,330 2.61% $ 9412 3.64% $ 35163 5.26% $ 5,011 5.84%
State, county and municipal
obligations 4,775 7.20 20,076 6.25 130,885 6.25 191,973 5.92
Mortgage-backed securities and
collateralized mortgage obligations 3 918 608 6.95 472,445 3.76 5,310,657 5.02
Other debt securities 25 550 2,647 6.07 1,000 6.03 -0-  0.00
$ 8133 532% $ 32,743 5.50% $639,493 4.36% $ 5,507,641 5.05%

Taxable equivalent adjustment
for calculation of yield $ 99 $ 206 $ 1,752 $ 2,291

Notes:

1. The weighted-average yields were computed by dividing the taxable equivalent interest income by the amortized cost of the appropriate securities, The computation of the taxable

equivalent adjustment is based on the statutory federal income tax rate of 35%, adjusted for applicable state income taxes net of the related federal tax benefit.

2. Mortgage-backed securities have stated long-term final maturities. According to mortgage industry standards, the estimated weighted-average remaining life of these securities held

in AmSouth's available-for-sale portfolio is approximately 4.6 years.

3. Mortgage-backed securities have stated long-term final maturities. According to mortgage industry standards, the estimated weighted-average remaining life of these securities held

in AmSouth's held-to-maturity portfolio is approximately 3.9 years.
4. Federal Reserve Barik stock, Federal Home Loan Bank stock, and equity stock of other corporations held by AmSouth are not included in the above table.
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Maturity Analysis— The average life of the AFS portfolio
at December 31, 2004, was estimated to be 4.6 years with a
duration of approximately 3.9 years. These metrics are con-
sistent with an estimated average life of 4.7 years with a
duration of approximately 4.0 years for the AFS portfolio
at December 31, 2003. The average life of the HTM port-
folio at December 31, 2004, was estimated to be 3.9 years
with a duration of approximately 3.3 years compared to
an average life of 4.1 years and a duration of 3.4 years at the
end of 2003. See Table 7 for additional information con-
cerning the composition of the AFS and HTM securities
portfolios as well as contractual maturities and weighted-
average vield information.

Portfolio Quality ~ AmSouth’s policy requires all secu-
rities purchased for the securities portfolio, except state,
county and local municipal obligations, which are typically
insured, to be rated investment grade or better. Securities
backed by the U.S. Government and its agencies, both on a
direct and indirect basis, represented approximately 82 per-
cent of the investment portfolio at December 31, 2004. State,
county and local municipal securities represented just three
percent of total securities at year-end 2004. Approximately
97 percent of these were rated single A or higher by the rat-
ing agencies or were escrowed in U.S. Treasury obligations.

Loans — Overview

Major categories of loans and leases from 2000 to 2004 are sum-
marized in Table 8 in this section. “Loans net of unearned
income” is the single largest component of interest-earning
assets at AmSouth and produces the highest level of revenues.

TOTAL LOANS
(In billions)
$32.8
529.3
$27.4
$246 $25.1 |
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
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The loan portfolio includes three main components: commer-
cial loans, commercial real estate loans and consumer loans.
The consumer loan category is comprised mainly of residen-
tial mortgage loans (which are represented separately from
other consumer loans above) and home equity lines and loans.
Total loans and leases increased $3.5 billion during 2004 to
$32.8 billion. The growth reflected increases across the commercial
and commercial real estate categories, as well as residential
mortgage and equity lines within the consumer category.
Efforts associated with AmSouth’ strategic initiative to
grow Commercial Banking with improved credit quality
were the primary catalyst for commercial and commercial real
estate loan growth. Key areas of expansion included AmSouth’s
commercial middle market and commercial real estate areas.
The middle market line posted strong new business gener-
ation resulting from its new relationship campaign, which
generated over 10,250 sales calls to prospects, resulting in
578 new relationships during 2004. Commercial real estate
loans were up 25.4 percent for the year ended December 31,
2004, driven primarily by growth in construction lending.
Consumer loan development was driven by efforts asso-
ciated with AmSouth’s strategic initiative to sustain growth
in Consumer Banking with a particular focus on growing
home equity lines of credit and residential first mortgages.
In 2004, AmSouth also benefited from the continued strong

a. Constimer

b. Commercial

¢. Commercial Real Estate
d. Residential

2003

a. Consumer

b. Commercial

¢. Commercial Real Estate
d. Residential




AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

TABLE 8§ - MAJOR LOAN CATEGORIES
December 31
(In millions) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Commercial:
Commercial and industrial $ 5,740 $ 5,264 $ 5,151 $ 5,272 $ 6,031
Commercial loans secured by real estate 2,245 2,026 1,726 1,682 1,765
Commercial leases 2,179 1,962 1,781 1,619 1,282
Total commercial 10,164 9,252 8,658 8,573 9,078
Commercial real estate:
Commercial real estate mortgages 2,868 2,359 2,305 2,137 2,323
Real estate construction 3,008 2,328 2,088 2,365 2,517
Total commercial real estate 5,876 4,687 4,393 4,502 4,840
Consumer:
Residential first mortgages 5,082 3,646 2,794 1,666 1,358
Equity loans and lines 7,757 7,005 6,360 5,404 4,656
Dealer indirect 3,312 3,610 3,731 3,382 2,990
Revolving credit 27 551 541 520 505
Other consumer 583 588 874 1,077 1,189
Total consumer 16,761 15,400 14,300 12,049 10,698
Total loans net of unearned income $ 32,801 $ 29,339 $ 27,351 $ 25,124 $ 24,616

mortgage lending environment and favorable interest rates.
Overall growth in the consumer lending category was some-
what offset by the sale of $550 million of credit card loans
in late 2004.

Commercial Loans — Commercial and industrial loans
represent loans to commercial customers for use in normal
business operations to finance working capital needs, equip-
ment purchases or other expansion projects. Commercial
loans secured by real estate are business loans collateralized
by owner-occupied real estate, where the source of repay-
ment is the operating cash flow from the business. In contrast,
commercial real estate loans are loans to companies or devel-
opers used for the purchase or construction of a commercial
property for which repayment will be generated by cash flows
related to the operation, sale or refinance of the property.

In total, commercial loans increased 9.9 percent during the
year, to $10.2 billion as of December 31, 2004. Growth was
driven primarily by new customer acquisitions and, to a lesser
extent, increasing line utilization. The increase has been broad-
based across all of AmSouth’s markets and geographies. Within

the commercial category, commercial and industrial loans were
up 9.0 percent in 2004, principally reflecting growth in com-
mercial middle market lending.

Commercial Real Estate Loans — Commercial real estate
loans are composed of two primary categories: commercial real
estate mortgages and real estate construction loans. During
2004, commercial real estate closings were $5.6 billion, a 34
percent increase over 2003. As of December 31, 2004, com-
mercial real estate loans totaled $5.9 billion, an increase of
$1.2 billion over the prior year. The increase in the commer-
cial real estate portfolio in 2004 reflects increased construction
project financing opportunities, somewhat offset by a higher
level of refinance activity resulting from low interest rates.

Substantially all of AmSouth’s real estate portfolio is
made up of loans to finance residential construction within
AmSouth’s markets; loans for construction projects that have
been presold, preleased or otherwise have secured permanent
financing; and loans to real estate companies that have sig-
nificant equity invested in each project and offer substantive
and meaningful guarantees.
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TABLE 9 - SELECTED LOAN MATURITIES AND SENSITIVITY TO CHANGE IN INTEREST RATES
Due in One Due After One but
Year or Less Within Five Years Due After Five Years
Fixed Variable Fixed Variable
(In millions) Rate Rate Total Rate Rate Total Total
Commercial and industrial $ 2,426 $ 458 $2,185 §$ 2,643 $ 161 $ 510 $ 671 $ 5,740
Commercial loans secured
by real estate 128 664 564 1,228 647 242 839 2,245
Commercial leases 23 201 -0- 201 1,955 -0- 1,955 2,179
Commercial real estate mortgages 856 323 1,484 1,807 95 110 205 2,868
Real estate construction 1,113 69 1,046 1,115 119 661 780 3,008
$ 4,546 $ 1,715 $5279 $ 6,994 $2,977 $1,523  $ 4,500 $ 16,040

Consumer Loans — The major categories of consumer
loans include residential first mortgages, home equity loans
and lines of credit, dealer indirect loans and other direct
consumer loans. Within consumer lending, AmSouth’s res-
idential mortgage and home equity lending programs produced
solid growth in 2004.

Residential first mortgages held in the portfolio increased
by $1.4 billion, or 37.6 percent in 2004, as consumers took
advantage of continued low interest rates to purchase new
homes. AmSouth has seen consumer preference shift toward
adjustable rate mortgages. This shift has enabled AmSouth
to retain a greater portion of 2004 mortgage originations
on the balance sheet since they complement AmSouth’s over-
all interest rate risk management strategies, as opposed to
fixed-rate mortgage products which AmSouth generally sells
into the secondary mortgage market.

Demand for home equity loans and lines of credit was strong
in all of AmSouth’s markets, with balances increasing $751.7
million, or 10.7 percent, for the year ended December 31,
2004, New home equity commitments totaled $4.2 billion
in 2004 compared with $5.4 billion in 2003. The credit qual-
ity of home equity originations during 2004 remained high
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as reflected by an average credit score of 741 for new home
equity line originations. The catalyst for the growth was
AmSouth’s Consumer Banking strategic initiative and the
initiative’s emphasis on originating home equity lines of credit
through the branches.

New home equity volumes were partially offset by a sale
in the first quarter of 2004 of $156.5 million of certain higher
risk loans and an increase in payoffs of existing home equity
loans and lines as customers took advantage of low rates to
refinance their mortgages during the year.

Dealer indirect loans consist primarily of loans made to
individuals to finance the purchase of new and used auto-
mobiles. Dealer indirect loans decreased in 2004 compared
with 2003 due mainly to increased competition from offers
of low-rate financing from automobile makers and from the
sale of $85 million of marine and recreational vehicle loans
during the year.

Also impacting total consumer loans was the sale of the
credit card portfolio to MBNA Corporation. This sale, which
is described further on page 52, occurred in the fourth
quarter of 2004 and reduced consumer loan outstandings
by $550 million.
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TABLE 10 - AVERAGE DEPOSITS
December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Noninterest-bearing demand $ 6,561,938 $ 5,486,016 $ 4,907,143
Interest-bearing checking 6,710,178 5,755,018 5,244,737
Money market and savings deposits 7,927,030 7,576,751 6,762,350
Time 9,315,285 8,910,764 8,561,378
Foreign 1,500,545 854,067 467,926

$ 32,014,976 $ 28,582,616 $ 25,943,534

Deposits deposit accounts. Additionally, customer preference for

Deposits are AmSouth’s primary source of funding and their
cost is the largest category of interest expense. The compo-
sition of AmSouth’s deposits can be found in Table 10.
Growth occurred in both low-cost deposits and time deposits.
Low cost deposits include noninterest-bearing demand,
interest-bearing checking, money market and savings deposits.
The increase in deposits during 2004 reflected AmSouth’s
continuing emphasis on deposit growth within each of its
strategic initiatives. Both commercial customer additions
and new retail checking account growth fueled an
outstanding year of deposit growth. This growth resulted
from extensive advertising and sales campaigns featuring
deposit products as well as incentive programs that encour-
age deposit growth. AmSouth’s ongoing branch expansion
and related household growth also positively impacted
deposit growth during 2004. During 2004, AmSouth opened
41 new branches. Through these new and existing branches
and other distribution channels, AmSouth currently serves
1.9 million households.

Low-cost Deposits— The $2.4 billion increase in average
low-cost deposits in 2004 represented an increase of 12.7
percent over 2003, Growth in transaction account deposits,
the largest component of low-cost deposits, was primarily
attributable to AmSouth’s branch expansion program. Through
the branch network, AmSouth emphasized deposit products
with a focus on expanding the customer base and customer

investments that provide high levels of liquidity in a low
interest rate environment augmented deposit volumes.
Interest-bearing checking also contributed to low-cost deposit
growth. Specifically; average consumer interest-bearing check-
ing was up $402.9 million driven primarily by growth in
households. On the commercial side, average public funds
checking was higher by $513.5 million, reflecting the suc-
cess of sales efforts with respect to these funds.

On a year ended basis, low-cost deposits were up $3.1
billion in 2004. This increase reflects strong growth in non-
interest-bearing deposits and money market deposits. Money
market deposit growth was especially strong toward the lat-
ter part of the year following the introduction of a special
promotional product which generated new business of nearly
$1.0 billion.

Time Deposits — Growth in time deposits during 2004
reflected strategies to more cost-effectively provide fund-
ing, through utilizing national market deposits to replace
the runoff of higher cost consumer deposits. During the
year, time deposits over $100,000 grew by $1.2 billion, largely
reflecting the issuance of national market certificates of
deposit, the majority of which mature in one year or less.
This increase was partially offset by consumer time deposits
which were down $809.8 million, reflecting the expected
runoff of approximately $700 million of higher cost con-
sumer CDs due to competitive market pricing pressures.
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As of December 31, 2004

(In thousands)

TABLE 11 - MATURITY OF DOMESTIC TIME DEPOSITS OF $100,000 OR MORE

Three months or less

Over three through six months
Qvwer six through twelve months
Over twelve months

$ 1,222,077
1,304,346
722,666
1,194,303

$ 4,443,392

Other Interest-Bearing Liabilities

Other interest-bearing liabilities include all interest-bearing
liabilities except deposits. Included in this category are short-
term borrowings such as federal funds purchased and
securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repurchase
agreements) and Treasury, tax and loan notes. Also included
is longer-term debt, such as FHLB advances, subordinated
debt and various long-term notes.

Federal Funds Purchased — Average federal funds purchased
and repurchase agreements were $3.0 billion in 2004,
a 38.8 percent increase from $2.2 billion in 2003. At
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, federal funds purchased
and repurchase agreements totaled $2.3 billion, $2.0 bil-
lion and $1.8 billion, respectively, with weighted-average
interest rates of 2.02 percent, 0.81 percent and 1.02 per-
cent, respectively. The maximum amount outstanding at
any given month-end during each of the last three years
was $4.0 billion, $2.8 billion and $2.1 billion, respectively.
The average daily balance and average interest rates for each
year are presented in Table 3.

Long-term Debt — Long-term debt consists of long-term
FHLB advances, subordinated notes and debentures, and
various long-term notes payable. Average long-term debt
increased $551.4 million to $7.7 billion during 2004. On
an ending basis, long-term debt outstanding decreased $581
million to $7.3 billion as of December 31, 2004. Changes
in long-term debt include the maturity of $150 million of
7.75 percent subordinated notes, the issuance of $350 mil-
lion of LIBOR-based notes under AmSouth’s Bank Note
program, and the issuance of $601 million of long-term
securities sold under agreements to repurchase. See Note
10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information.
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In November 2004, AmSouth prepaid $1.25 billion of
higher rate, longer duration FHLB advances. These borrow-
ings were replaced with a variety of lower cost instruments,
some of which were mentioned in the previous paragraph. These
new instruments include $200 million of bank notes, $600 mil-
lion of securities sold under agreements to repurchase and $450
million of Fed Funds, which were swapped to a three-year
fixed term. These new instruments have an average matu-
rity of three years and are expected to save 244 basis points
in the average cost of these funds. Prepayment cost in the
amount of $129.6 million was paid to the FHLB related to this
transaction and was recorded as a 2004 noninterest expense.

Shareholders’ Equity

The management of capital in a regulated banking environment
requires a balance between optimizing leverage and return
on equity while maintaining sufficient capital levels and related
ratios to ensure a strong capital position and satisfy regulatory
requirements. AmSouth’s goal is to generate attractive returns
on equity for the Company’s shareholders while maintaining
regulatory capital ratios that meet the requirements for a well-
capitalized company. At least annually, Management reevaluates
the capital policy and presents its findings to the Board of
Directors to ensure that the policy continues to support cor-
porate objectives and is consistent with the regulatory
environment and changes in market conditions. Refer to Table
12 and Notes 13 and 16 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for specific information.

Shareholders’ equity increased $339.2 million from year-
end 2003 to $3.6 billion at December 31, 2004. Average
diluted common shares outstanding increased by 3.6 mil-
lion shares from December 31, 2003, to 358.0 million average
diluted common shares outstanding at December 31, 2004.
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In early 2004, AmSouth repurchased 2.1 million common
shares at a cost of $51.0 million, the majority of which was
in connection with a previously announced buyback pro-
gram. As of December 31, 2004, AmSouth had 22.6 million
shares of stock remaining from its current repurchase plan,
which was approved by the Board of Directors in April 2003.

AmSouth paid $344.3 million, or $0.97 per share, in div-
idends to common shareholders in 2004 compared with
$324.5 million, or $0.93 per share, in 2003. This represented
a dividend payout ratio on earnings of 54.8 percent in 2004
and 52.0 percent in 2003.

As a regulated financial services company, AmSouth is gov-
erned by certain regulatory capital requirements. AmSouth’s tier
1 capital ratio increased 34 basis points from December 31,
2003, to 8.05 percent at December 31, 2004, driven prima-
rily by higher retained earnings. The minimum tier 1 capital
ratio is 4 percent. At December 31, 2004, AmSouth was clas-
sified as well-capitalized for regulatory purposes, the highest
classification. AmSouth’s total capital and leverage ratios were
10.93 percent and 6.73 percent, respectively, at December 31,
2004, and 11.22 percent and 6.66 percent, respectively at
December 31, 2003.

TABLE 12 - CAPITAL RATIOS
December 31
(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003
Risk-based capital:
Shareholders’ equity $ 3,568,841 $ 3,229,669
Less unrealized gains/(losses) on available-for-sale securities 30,223 9,715
Less accumulated net gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 25,048 21,994
Intangible assets (300,174) (300,854)
Other adjustments -0- (1,737)
Tier 1 capital 3,323,938 2,958,787
Adjusted allowance for loan losses* 369,770 388,939
Qualifying other long-term debt 819,852 954,743
Other 444 -0-
Tier 2 capital 1,190,066 1,343,682
Total capital $ 4,514,004 $ 4,302,469
Risk-adjusted assets $ 41,315,742 $ 38,362,226
Capital ratios:
Tier 1 capital to total risk-adjusted assets 8.05% 7.71%
Total capital to total risk-adjusted assets 10.93 11.22
Leverage 6.73 6.66
Ending equity to assets 7.20 7.08
Ending tangible equity to assets 6.64 6.46
*Includes $2,996 and $4,815 in 2004 and 2003, respectively, associated with reserves recorded in other liabilities for off-balance sheet credit exposures.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk identification and management are key elements in the
overall management of AmSouth. Management believes the
primary risk exposures are interest rate risk and associated pre-
payment risk, liquidity, credit, operating and legal risks. Interest
rate risk is the risk to net interest income due to the impact
of movements in interest rates, Prepayment risk is the risk
that borrowers may repay their loans or securities earlier
than at their stated maturities. Liquidity risk relates to
AmSouth’s ability to fund present and future obligations.
Credit risk represents the possibility that borrowers may
not be able to repay loans. Operating risk is the risk of loss
resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, peo-
ple or systems or from external events. Legal risk represents
the risk of legal proceedings against AmSouth as well as reg-
ulatory and government reviews or investigations that arise
in the course of AmSouth’s business.

External factors beyond Management’s control may from
time to time result in losses despite risk management efforts.
Management follows a formal policy to evaluate and docu-
ment the key risks facing each line of business, how those
risks can be controlled or mitigated, and how Management
monitors the controls to ensure that they are effective.
AmSouth’s Internal Audit Division performs ongoing, inde-
pendent reviews of the risk management process and assures
the adequacy of documentation. The results of these reviews
are reported regularly to the Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors.

Some of the more significant processes used to manage
and control interest rate, prepayment, liquidity and credit risks
are described in the remainder of Management’s Discussion
and Analysis.
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Interest Rate Risk

AmSouth maintains a formal asset and liability manage-
ment process to quantify, monitor and control interest rate
risk and to assist Management in minimizing the impact of
changes in the level and direction of interest rates on net
interest income. This is accomplished through the develop-
ment and implementation of lending, funding, pricing and
hedging strategies designed to achieve net interest income per-
formance goals while minimizing the potential variation of
net interest income under different interest rate scenarios.

Interest rate risk arises primarily as a result of AmSouth’s
core business activities of extending loans and accepting
deposits, and the associated balance sheet management
required to closely match maturities and repricing frequen-
cies of loans and investments to funding sources. AmSouth
follows an extensive process to actively manage its exposure
to interest rate risk. The principal objective of asset and lia-
bility management is to maximize net interest income while
operating within acceptable limits established for interest
rate risk and maintaining adequate levels of liquidity.

The Board of Directors, based upon recommendations
from Management, approves policies and risk limits for the
management of interest rate risk and monitors compliance
with these policies.

Since no single measurement system satisfies all man-
agement objectives, a combination of techniques is used to
manage interest rate risk including simulation analysis, asset
and liability repricing schedules and economic value of equity.
An Asset and Liability Committee, consisting of key mem-
bers of Management, and the Board of Directors regularly review
the results of these interest rate risk analyses.

AmSouth regularly evaluates net interest income under
various balance sheet and interest rate scenarios, using income
simulation analysis as its principal risk management tech-
nique. Management evaluates “base” net interest income
under what is believed to be the most likely twelve-month
asset/liability mix, growth scenario and current interest rate
environment. This base case is then evaluated against various
changes in interest rate scenarios. Assumptions for asset pre-
payment levels, yield curves and asset and liability replacement
rates are adjusted to be consistent with each interest rate sce-
nario. “Worst-case” scenarios are also tested to better understand
the full range of net interest income exposure.
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Key assumptions in the model include the magnitude
and timing of Federal Reserve rate changes and the associated
impact on the change in financial market rates across the
maturity spectrum; prepayment speeds on mortgage-related
assets; cash flows and maturities of derivatives and other
financial instruments held for purposes other than trading;
changes in market conditions, loan volumes and pricing;
deposit balances and rate sensitivities; customer preferences;
and Management’s financial and capital plans. These assump-
tions are inherently uncertain and as a result, the model
cannot precisely estimate net interest income or precisely
predict the impact of higher or lower interest rates on net
interest income. However, the model can indicate the likely
direction of change. Actual results will differ from simulated
results due to timing, magnitude and frequency of interest rate
changes and changes in market condition, customer behav-
ior and Management’s strategies, among other factors.

Currently, AmSouth is essentially neutral in terms of
interest rate sensitivity, meaning that parallel shifts in the
yield curve have little impact on net interest income over a
twelve-month forecast horizon. Table 13 illustrates the impact
of a gradual 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest
rates from the then-current rates on net interest income.
This modeling assumes a simultaneous parallel shift in the
yield curve. The changes shown indicate a level of interest rate
risk that is well within AmSouth’s policy guidelines. Current
policy states that net interest income should not fluctuate
more than 2.5 percent in the event that interest rates grad-
ually increase or decrease under the same scenario.

TABLE 13 - INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY

(In thousands)
Increase (Decrease) in
Net Interest Income
Changes in Interest Rates $ %
2004
+100 basis points $ 4,600 0.31%
- 100 basis points (11,400) (0.77%)
2003
+100 basis points $ 5,700 0.40%
- 100 basis points (17,400) (1.23%)

AmSouth uses derivatives as a cost-effective and capital-
efficient way to mitigate interest rate risk associated with assets
and liabilities on the balance sheet and anticipated transac-
tions, such as futare issuance of debt and mortgage loans to
customers who have locked-in interest rates (the mortgage
pipeline). The decision to use these instruments rather than
securities, debt or other alternatives depends on many factors
including the mix and cost of funding sources, liquidity,
capital requirements and interest rate implications.

Statement 133 requires the recognition of all derivative instru-
ments as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair
value and establishes specific accounting treatments for the
following types of hedges: hedges of changes in the fair value
of assets, liabilities or firm commitments, referred to as fair
value hedges; hedges of variable cash flows of forecasted
transactions, including variable rate instruments, referred to
as cash flow hedges; and hedges of foreign currency expo-
sures of net investments in foreign operations. The accounting
for each of the three types of hedges essentially results in rec-
ognizing earnings or losses to the extent that there is a
difference in the offsetting changes in value of, or cash flows
from, the hedging derivative and the hedged item. If a deriv-
ative instrument does not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment, the full change in the fair value of the derivative
instrument is reflected in earnings in the period of change.
During 2004 and 2003, AmSouth had both fair value hedges
and cash flow hedges. See Note 1 and Note 11 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion of derivatives.

The primary derivative instruments used by AmSouth to
manage interest rate risk are interest rate swaps. An interest
rate swap is an agreement between two parties to exchange
one interest stream, such as floating rate, for another, such
as fixed rate, based on a contractual amount, known as
“notional amount” AmSouth uses interest rate swaps to mit-
igate its exposure to interest rate risk on certain loans,
deposits, borrowed funds and long-term debt. See Note 11
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for tables that
detail notional amounts, fair values and items hedged.

The pay fixed interest rate swaps, which hedge long-term
bank notes, fed funds purchased and forecasted issuances
of long-term debt, were entered into in anticipation of a ris-
ing interest rate cycle. Consistent with AmSouth’s overall
asset and liability management process, pay fixed interest
rate swaps and additional long-term funding were put in
place to achieve the desired interest rate risk profile.
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While not significant, AmSouth also utilizes forward con-
tracts to protect against changes in interest rates and prices
of the Company’s mortgages and mortgage pipeline, which
AmSouth intends to sell. The forward contracts against mort-
gage loans held for sale are designated as fair value hedges. The
remaining forward contracts against the mortgage pipeline
do not qualify for hedge accounting under Statement 133
but do provide economic hedging of the mortgage pipeline.

Table 14 summarizes the activity, by notional amount, of
derivative financial instruments utilized in the asset and lia-
bility management process at AmSouth for the years 2004,
2003 and 2002.

Table 15 summarizes the expected maturities of AmSouth’s
swap positions at December 31, 2004, and the weighted-
average interest rates exchanged on swaps. Both the timing
of the maturities and the variable interest payments and
receipts vary as certain interest rates change. The maturi-
ties and interest rates exchanged are calculated assuming
that interest rates remain unchanged from average December
2004 rates. The information presented could change as future
interest rates increase or decrease.

AmSouth manages the credit risk of these instruments
in much the same way as it manages credit risk of the loan port-
folios by establishing credit limits for each counterparty and

TABLE 14 - INTEREST RATE SWAP ACTIVITY

Receive Pay
Fixed Rate Fixed Rate
(In millions) Swaps Swaps Total
Balance at January 1, 2002 $ 2,061 $ -0- $ 2,061
Additions -0- -0- -0-
Maturities (971) -0- (971)
Balance at December 31, 2002 1,090 -0- 1,090
Additions 1,833 750 2,583
Maturities (290) -0- (290)
Balance at December 31, 2003 2,633 750 3,383
Additions -0- 1,500 1,500
Maturities (300) -0- (300)
Terminations -0- (600) (600)
Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 2,333 $ 1,650 $ 3,983
TABLE 15 - MATURITIES AND INTEREST RATES EXCHANGED ON SWAPS
Mature During
(Dollars in millions) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009  Thereafter Total
Receive fixed swaps:
Notional amount $ 150 $ 33 $ -0- $ 1,475 $ 175 $ 500 $ 2,333
Receive fixed rate 6.25% 2.79% -0- 3.15% 6.22% 4.16% 3.79%
Pay LIBOR rate 2.28% 2.49% -0- 2.26% 2.28% 2.01% 2.21%
Pay fixed swaps:
Notional amount $ 300 $ 50 850 $ -0 $ -0- $ 450 $ 1,650
Pay fixed rate 1.96% 2.51% 3.01% -0- -0- 4.83% 3.30%
Receive variable rate 2.25% 2.25% 2.25% -0- -0- 2.56% 2.34%
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through collateral agreements for dealer transactions. For
non-dealer transactions, the need for collateral is evaluated
on an individual transaction basis and is primarily dependent
on the financial strength of the counterparty. Credit risk is
also reduced significantly by entering into legally enforce-
able master netting agreements. When there is more than
one transaction with a counterparty and there is a legally
enforceable master netting agreement in place, the exposure
represents the net of the gain and loss positions with that
counterparty. The “Credit Risk Management Process and Loan
Quality” section in Management’s Discussion and Analysis
has more information on the management of credit risk.

Prepayment Risk

AmSouth, like most financial institutions, is subject to chang-
ing prepayment speeds on mortgage-related assets under
different interest rate environments. Prepayment risk is a
significant risk to earnings and specifically to net interest
income (see discussion in section entitled “Net Interest
Income” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis). For
example, mortgage loans and other financial assets may be
prepaid by a debtor, so that the debtor may refinance its
obligations at lower rates. As loans and other financial assets
prepay in a falling rate environment, AmSouth must reinvest
these funds in lower yielding assets. Prepayments of assets
carrying higher rates reduce AmSouth’s interest income and
overall asset yields. Conversely, in a rising rate environment,
these assets will prepay at a slower rate resulting in oppor-
tunity cost by not having the cash flow to reinvest at higher
rates. AmSouth’s greatest exposure to prepayment risks pri-
marily rests in the Company’s mortgage-backed securities
portfolio and mortgage loan portfolio. AmSouth also has
prepayment risk that would be reflected in noninterest rev-
enue in the form of servicing income on loans sold.

Tools to hedge prepayment risk are limited and generally
involve complex derivatives that AmSouth has chosen not to
utilize. AmSouth does, however, actively monitor prepay-
ment exposure as part of the Company’s overall net interest
income forecasting and interest rate risk management.
Prepayment speeds were materially lower in 2004 with cash
flows from mortgage-related assets returning to more nor-
mal levels following the rapid prepayment speeds in 2003.

Liquidity and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

AmSouth’s goal in liquidity management is to satisfy the
cash flow requirements of depositors and borrowers, while
at the same time meeting its cash flow needs. This is accom-
plished through the active management of both the asset
and liability sides of the balance sheet. The liquidity posi-
tion of AmSouth is monitored on a daily basis by AmSouth’s
Treasury Division. In addition, the Asset and Liability
Committee, which consists of members of AmSouth’s Senior
Management team, reviews liquidity on a regular basis and
approves any changes in strategy that are necessary as a
result of asset/liability composition or anticipated cash flow
changes. Management also compares AmSouth’s liquidity
position to established corporate liquidity policies on a
monthly basis. At December 31, 2004, AmSouth was within
all of the Company’s established liquidity policies.

AmSouth has various financial obligations that require future
cash payments. The amount and timing of payments required
under debt obligations, noncancelable operating leases and
time deposit obligations are outlined in Table 16. AmSouth
also has off-balance sheet commercial commitments to cus-
tomers that may impact liquidity. These include commitments
to extend credit, standby letters of credit and commercial
letters of credit. Since many of these commitments expire
without being drawn upon, the total amount of commercial
commitments does not necessarily represent the future cash
flow requirements of AmSouth. Table 16 summarizes AmSouths
commercial commitments at December 31, 2004, and the
timing of the expiration of these commitments.

Maintaining adequate credit ratings on AmSouth’s debt
issues is an important factor for liquidity, because credit rat-
ings affect the ability of AmSouth to attract funds from
various sources on a cost competitive basis. Table 17 summarizes
AmSouth’s credit ratings at December 31, 2004.

For AmSouth Bank, the primary sources of liquidity on
the asset side of the balance sheet are maturities and cash
flows from both loans and investments as well as the abil-
ity to securitize, pledge or sell certain loans and investments.
Liquidity on the liability side is generated primarily through
growth in low-cost deposits and the ability to obtain eco-
nomical wholesale funding in national and regional markets
through a variety of sources. AmSouth’s most commonly
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TABLE 16 - CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

Payments Due By Period

(Dollars in thousands) Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5years  After 5 years
Borrowings $ 9,967,335 $ 3,322,227 $ 1,525,689 $ 865,263 $ 4,254,156
Operating leases 579,593 55,066 105,462 97,889 321,176
Time deposits® 9,476,271 6,468,176 2,390,819 606,262 11,014
Foreign deposits 1,647,381 1,647,381 -0- -0- -0-
Purchase obligations® 124,695 98,999 21,202 4,494 -0-

Total contractual cash obligations $ 21,795,275 $ 11,591,849 $ 4,043,172 $ 1,573,908 $ 4,586,346

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period

(Dollars in thousands) Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5years  After 5 years
Commercial letters of credit $ 52,457 $ 52,457 $ -0- % -0- $ -0-
Standby letters of credit 3,301,812 1,438,309 1,300,142 446,872 116,489
Commitments to fund low-income housing 49,199 45,352 3,847 -0- -0-
Commitments to extend credit® 15,454,337 11,003,411 3,414,103 980,542 56,281

Total commercial commitments $ 18,857,805 $ 12,539,529 $ 4,718,092 $ 1,427,414 $ 172,770

Notes:

2. Excludes $196,000 of FAS 133 valuation adjustments.

1. All maturities are based on contractual maturities. Excludes $25.3 million of FAS 133 valuation adjustments,

3. Purchase obligations represents obligations under agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally binding on AmSouth and that specify all significant terms,
including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. The majority of AmSouth’s
purchase obligations are comprised of commitments related to construction in process and maintenance agreements. The number includes contracts greater than $100,000.

4. Excludes $3.1 billion of loan commitments under equity lines and $684.9 million under revolving lines of credit which do not have scheduled expiration dates.

used sources of wholesale funding are (1) federal funds
(i.e., the excess reserves of other financial institutions);
(2) repurchase agreements, whereby U.S. Government and
government-sponsored agency securities are pledged as col-
lateral for short-term borrowings; and (3) pledges of acceptable
assets as collateral for public deposits and certain tax col-
lection monies.

In addition to these sources, AmSouth can access other
wholesale funding sources, such as foreign deposits and cer-
tificates of deposit. AmSouth Bank also has the ability to
borrow from the FHLB, the products of which are compet-
itively priced and are a reliable source of funds. While some
FHLB advances are callable, they are convertible by AmSouth
if called. The convertible feature provides that after a speci-
fied date in the future the advances will remain at a fixed
rate, or AmSouth will have the option to pay off the advance
or convert from a fixed rate to a variable rate at LIBOR. There
is no adverse impact on liquidity as the advances, at AmSouth’s
choice, remain outstanding, It is more likely that these advances
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would be called and therefore converted to a variable rate in
a high interest rate environment. Also, AmSouth Bank main-
tains a bank note issuance program with a borrowing capacity
of $3.0 billion; $1.0 billion was outstanding under the note
issuance program at December 31, 2004.

As an additional source of liquidity, AmSouth periodi-
cally sells commercial loans to qualifying special purpose
entities known as conduits in securitization transactions.
The conduits are financed by the issuance of securities to
asset-backed commercial paper issuers. The transactions are
accounted for as sales and allow AmSouth to utilize its asset
capacity and capital for higher yielding, interest-earning
assets, while continuing to manage customer relationships.
At December 31, 2004, the outstanding balance of commer-
cial loans sold to conduits was $592.5 million. While no longer
utilized as a source of funding, AmSouth, in prior years, also
sold residential mortgage loans to third-party conduits. The
remaining outstanding balance at December 31, 2004, asso-
ciated with these transactions was $580.7 million.
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While the conduit transactions have been a source of
funding, these off-balance sheet arrangements have the
potential to require AmSouth to provide funding to the
conduits in the event of a liquidity shortage. AmSouth pro-
vides credit enhancements to these securitizations by
providing standby letters of credit, which create exposure to
credit risk to the extent of the letters of credit. At December
31, 2004, AmSouth had $79.0 millicn of letters of credit
supporting the conduit sales. This credit risk is reviewed
quarterly, and a reserve for loss exposure is maintained in
other liabilities on the balance sheet.

AmSouth also provides liquidity lines of credit to sup-
port the issuance of commercial paper under 364-day
commitments. These liquidity lines can be drawn upon in the
unlikely event of a commercial paper market disruption or

other factors, such as credit rating downgrades of one of
the asset-backed commercial paper issuers or AmSouth (as
the provider of the credit support), which could prevent the
asset-backed commercial paper issuers from being able to
issue commercial paper. At December 31, 2004, AmSouth
had liquidity lines of credit supporting these transactions
of $1.2 billion. To date, there have been no drawdowns of
the liquidity lines; however, AmSouth includes this liquid-
ity risk in its monthly liquidity risk analysis to ensure that
sufficient sources of liquidity are available to meet demand.
AmSouth also reviews the impact of the drawdown of these
liquidity lines on its regulatory capital requirements. As of
December 31, 2004, this analysis showed that AmSouth
would retain a well-capitalized position even if the liquidity
lines were completely drawn down.

TABLE 17 - CREDIT RATINGS
Standard &

Moody’s Poor’s Fitch
AmSouth Bancorporation
6.625% Subordinated Notes Due 2005 A3 BBB+ BBB+
6.125% Subordinated Notes Due 2009 A3 BBB+ BBB+
6.75% Subordinated Debentures Due 2025 A3 BBB+ BBB+
7.25% Senior Notes Due 2006 A2 A- A-
Commercial paper P-1 A-2 F1
AmSouth Bank
4.85% Subordinated Notes Due 2013 A2 - A-
6.45% Subordinated Notes Due 2018 A2 A- -
Certificates of deposit Al A A
Short-term counterparty P-1 A-1 F1
Long-term counterparty Al A
Financial Strength Rating B - B
Table reflects ratings as of December 31, 2004.
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The main source of funding for the Holding Company to
meet liquidity requirements is provided through regular
dividends from its subsidiary, AmSouth Bank. In 2004,
AmSouth Bank paid the Holding Company a total of $444.0
million in dividends. During 2005, AmSouth Bank can pay
dividends to the Holding Company of up to $208.9 million
plus 2005 net income without prior regulatory approval.

Credit Risk Management Process and Loan Quality
AmSouth manages and controls risk in the loan portfolio
through adherence to consistent underwriting and account
administration standards established by Senior Management,
combined with a commitment to producing quality assets.
AmSouth has written credit policies which establish under-
writing standards, exposure limits and other limits or standards
as deemed necessary and prudent. Also included in the pol-
icy are various approval levels, ranging from the department
level to those which are more centralized, primarily based on
size and type of loan. AmSouth maintains a diversified port-
folio intended to spread risk and reduce exposure to economic
downturns, which may occur in different segments of the
economy or in particular industries. Diversification by indus-
try and loan type is reviewed quarterly.

Commercial real estate loans are categorized by the type
of collateral. Owner-occupied properties include mortgages
where the borrower is a primary tenant, such as factory or
warehouse loans. Nonowner-occupied lending represents
those loans where the primary source of repayment is antic-
ipated to come from the proceeds from the sale of or rental

income generated by the property, which generally has
inherently more risk than owner-occupied lending.

Each commercial loan recorded at AmSouth is assigned
arisk rating on a 13-point numerical scale by a loan officer
using established credit policy guidelines. Consumer loan
portfolios are assigned risk ratings based on a nine-point
scale that considers the type of loan and its payment per-
formance. All risk ratings are subject to review by an
independent Credit Review Department. In addition, regu-
lar reports are made to Senior Management and the Board
of Directors regarding the credit quality of the loan portfo-
lio as well as trends in the portfolio.

The credit function includes designated credit officers,
some of whom are industry specialists and all of whom are
organizationally independent of the production areas. Credit
officers oversee the loan approval process, ensure adherence
to credit policies and monitor efforts to reduce nonper-
forming and classified assets. Additionally, a centralized
Special Assets Department handles resolution and disposi-
tion of certain problem loans. Risk in the consumer loan
portfolio is further managed through the utilization of both
standard and customized credit scoring and in-depth analy-
sis of portfolio components, In addition, the consumer
collection function is centralized and automated to ensure
timely collection of accounts and efficient management of
the risk associated with delinquent accounts. A Portfolio
Risk Management unit within the credit function helps man-
age the risk of loss in the different portfolios as well as the
volatility of that risk under different economic scenarios.

TABLE 18 - NONPERFORMING ASSETS
December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Nonaccrual loans $ 88,488 $ 110,153 $ 158,829 $ 159,274 $ 179,659
Foreclosed properties 19,609 32,616 33,828 27,443 12,360
Repossessions 2,498 4,986 4,346 4,365 4,259

Total nonperforming assets* $ 110,595 $ 147,755 $ 197,003 $ 191,082 $ 196,278
Nonperforming assets* to loans net of

unearned income, foreclosed properties

and repossessions 0.34% 0.50% 0.72% 0.76% 0.80%
Accruing loans 90 days past due $ 51,117 $ 67,460 $ 91,045 $ 116,576 $ 85410
*Exclusive of accruing loans 90 days past due
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Finally, AmSouth’s independent Credit Review Department performs ongoing independent reviews of the risk management

process, adequacy of loan documentation, appropriateness of the risk ratings and the level of allowance for loan losses.

The results of its examinations are reported quarterly to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

TABLE 19 - NONPERFORMING LOANS AND NET CHARGE-OFFS/(RECOVERIES)
Nonperforming Loans* Net Charge-offs/(Recoveries)
% of % of % of % of
Ending Ending Average Average
Loans** Loans** Loans** Loans**
December 31 per  December 31 per December 31 per December 31 per
(Dollars in thousands) 2004 Category 2003 Category 2004 Category 2003 Category
Commercial:
Commercial and industrial $ 37,581 0.65% $ 46,826 0.89% §$ 32,972 0.60% $ 46,734 0.89%
Commercial loans secured
by real estate 18,617 0.83 19,920 0.98 1,221 0.06 1,338 0.07
Commercial leases 2,048 0.09 3,277 0.17 1,518 0.08 1,818 0.10
Total commercial 58,246 0.57 70,023 0.76 35,711 0.37 49,890 0.56
Commercial real estate
mortgages 3,074 0.11 3,548 0.15 (267) (0.01) 2,453 0.10
Real estate construction 1,286 0.04 7,581 0.33 1,792 0.07 1,233 0.06
Total commercial real estate 4,360 0.07 11,129 0.24 1,525 0.03 3,686 0.08
Consumer:
Residential first mortgages 21,899 0.43 15,987 0.44 2,884 0.07 2,475 0.07
Equity loans and lines 3,946 0.05 12,652 0.18 23,784 0.32 36,925 0.55
Dealer indirect 13 0.00 21 0.00 20,306 0.57 40,842 1.10
Revolving credit -0- 0.00 -0- 0.00 18,493 3.99 23,342 4.42
Other consumer 24 0.00 341 0.06 13,739 2.28 13,995 1.78
Total consumer 25,882 0.15 29,001 0.19 79,206 0.49 117,579 0.78
$ 88,488 0.27% $ 110,153 0.38% $ 116,442 0.37% $ 171,155 0.60%
*Exclusive of accruing loans 90 days past due
**Net of unearned income

Nonperforming Assets — Management closely monitors
loans and other assets that are classified as nonperforming
assets. Nonperforming assets include nonaccrual loans (i.e.,
loans that are still reflected in the loan portfolio but for which
no interest income is being accrued; interest income on these
loans is recorded on a cash basis), restructured loans, fore-
closed properties and repossessions. Commercial loans are
generally placed on nonaccrual status if full collection of
principal and interest becomes unlikely (even if all payments
are current), or if the loan is delinquent in principal or inter-
est payments for 90 days or more, unless the loan is well

secured and in the process of collection. The nonaccrual
status of consumer loans secured by residential mortgages
is not only based on the number of days past due but also on
the value of the residential property securing the loan. All other
consumer loans are charged-off in a timely fashion accord-
ing to regulatory guidelines and, therefore, do not need to be
placed on nonaccrual status based solely on days past due.
The Special Assets Department manages the collection of
commercial nonperforming loans and all foreclosed properties.
The Consumer Collections Department manages the collection
of consumer loans.
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The graph entitled Asset Quality Trends and Table 18
provide trend information and detailed components of non-
performing assets for each of the last five years. For all periods
presented in Table 18, AmSouth did not have any nonperform-
ing assets considered to be restructured loans. Table 19
presents nonperforming loans as a percentage of ending loans
and net charge-offs as a percentage of average net loans by cat-
egory for December 31, 2004 and 2003.

ASSET QUALITY TRENDS
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As outlined in Table 19, the improvement in the level of
nonperforming loans in 2004 was primarily driven by a
decrease in the commercial sector and, within consumer,
the equity loans and lines sector. The decrease reflects the impact
of the improving economy in 2004 and efforts by AmSouth
in recent years to strengthen commercial credit quality. The
increase in the level of nonperforming residential first mort-
gages reflected the impact of growth in that portfolio during
the year, as the percentage of residential nonperforming
loans remained stable at 43 basis points relative to residen-
tial loans outstanding.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, AmSouth had approx-
imately $28.9 million and $29.3 million, respectively, of
potential problem commercial loans which were not included
in the nonaccrual loans or in the accruing loans 90 days past
due categories at year-end, but for which Management had
concerns as to the ability of such borrowers to comply with
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their present loan repayment terms. Of the $29.3 million in
2003, only $5.6 million remained categorized as potential
problem loans at December 31, 2004. The remaining 2003 bal-
ance either migrated to nonperforming status or was no
longer considered a potential problem loan.

Allowance for Loan Losses — A detailed schedule of the
allowance for loan losses is included in Table 21. The allowance
as a percent of total loans decreased from 1.31 percent at
December 31, 2003 to 1.12 percent at December 31, 2004.
This reduction reflects the benefits of stricter underwriting
standards on the consumer portfolios implemented several years
ago, the sale of the credit card portfolio, a shift in the mix of
the portfolio to products/customers that have lower charge-
off characteristics, and improved general economic conditions.

The portfolio shift is the result of growth in consumer loans
secured by residential mortgages, which increased from 36
percent to 39 percent of total loans at December 31, 2003
and 2004, respectively. These loans historically have lower
net charge-offs and, accordingly, require lower levels of
reserves compared to other loan types. Additionally, the $550
million credit card portfolio, which has higher net charge-
offs and allowance allocations, was sold in 2004. The allowance
allocated to this portfolio, which was released at the time of
sale, was $25.6 million, or 4.65 percent of the loans sold.

The allowance is determined based on components in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan”
(Statement 114) for individually impaired loans and Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5, “Accounting for
Contingencies” (Statement 5) for pools of loans. The allowance
is established by a provision charged to earnings when losses
are estimated to have occurred. Loan losses are charged
against the allowance when uncollectability of all or part of
the loan balance is confirmed. Any subsequent recovery is cred-
ited to the allowance.

The allowance is maintained at a level considered to be
adequate to absorb estimated credit losses for specifically
identified loans, as well as estimated probable credit losses
inherent in the remainder of the loan portfolio at the bal-
ance sheet date. Actual losses can vary from Management’s
estimates. A formal review of the allowance is prepared quar-
terly to assess the risk in the portfolio and determine the
adequacy of the allowance. The allowance contains a specific
component for impaired commercial and commercial real
estate loans and a general component for loan pools.
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The specific component of the allowance includes the cal-
culations for individual impaired loans as required under
Statement 114. In this process, specific allowances are estab-
lished for all nonaccruing commercial loans greater than
$500,000 based on a thorough analysis of the most proba-
ble sources of repayment, including discounted cash flow
analysis, liquidation of collateral or the market value of the
loan itself. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the specific
allowance related to Statement 114 prescribed calculations
totaled $5.4 million and $14.2 million, respectively. The
decrease between the two periods was primarily due to an
overall improvement in credit quality and the decline in
the level of nonperforming loans.

The general component of the allowance for loan pools is
determined under Statement 5 by applying loan loss factors
to groups of loans within the portfolio that have similar char-
acteristics. These general allowance factors are based on
historical loss rates and trends in quarterly annualized charge-
off rates, which are adjusted for changes in these pools by
including current information on the credit performance of
each pool of loans. Homogenous consumer pools include
residential first mortgages, home equity lines and loans, indi-
rect automobile loans, direct consumer loans, credit card and
revolving credit. Commercial and commercial real estate
loans not reviewed for specific allowances are included in
the general allowance analysis. Every commercial and com-
mercial real estate loan is assigned a risk rating on a 13-point
numerical scale and each risk rating is assigned an alloca-
tion percentage which, when multiplied by the dollar value
of loans in that risk category, results in the amount of general
allowance allocated to these loans. Each of the allowance fac-
tors are reviewed quarterly.

Within the general allowance there is an unallocated
component that includes an estimate for inherent losses
related to specific economic stresses, variability in economic
conditions and geopolitical risks, and the overall impreci-
sion in the allowance estimation process. In Management’s
opinion, recent changes in economic factors and geopoliti-
cal risk cannot be fully captured in the general allowance
estimation process. For example, certain economic risks will
negatively affect financial performance, although the recent
nature of the risk would not be expected to be reflected in
the financial statements that borrowers have made available
to the Company. Included in the risks that, in Management’s
judgment, increased inherent losses at year-end 2004 are
higher and more volatile energy prices, higher commodity

prices and higher interest rates, all of which occurred in the
latter half of 2004. Management also recognizes that the
number of assumptions, calculations and other financial
information used in the estimation of the allowance results
in a level of imprecision in the overall process. As of December
31,2004 and 2003, the allowance related to specific economic
stresses, variability in economic conditions, geopolitical uncer-
tainty and overall imprecision in the allowance estimation
process represented 0.18 percent and 0.17 percent of total
loans, respectively.

The review of the impact of general economic conditions
and other risk factors on the losses inherent in the portfolio
is based on the effect of marketplace conditions and/or events
that could affect loan repayment. This element inherently
involves a higher degree of uncertainty, as it requires
Management to estimate the impact that economic trends or
other unique market and/or portfolio issues may have on
estimated losses. For example, in assessing economic risks
in the marketplace, Management might consider local unem-
ployment trends, population shifts within the region, real
estate absorption rates and expansion or contraction plans
for major employers. Consideration of other risk factors typ-
ically includes such issues as recent loss experience in specific
portfolio segments, trends in loan quality, changes in account
acquisition strategy or market focus, concentrations of credit,
and bank regulatory results together with any administra-
tive risk factors. The Chief Credit Officer reviews these
conditions quarterly with Executive Management. To the
extent that any of these conditions is evidenced by a specif-
ically identifiable problem credit or portfolio segment as
of the evaluation date, Management’s estimate of the effect
of such condition may be reflected as a specific allowance
applicable to such credit or portfolio segment. Where any
of these conditions is not evidenced by a specifically iden-
tifiable problem credit or portfolio segment as of the evaluation
date, Management’s evaluation of the inherent loss related
to such condition is reflected in the general allowance.

Concentrations of credit may affect inherent losses in the
loan portfolio and the level of the allowance. Concentrations
typically involve large exposures to a single borrower or
affiliated group of borrowers, an aggregate of exposures to bor-
rowers in the same industry or supported by the same type
of collateral, or concentrations by geographic area. AmSouth’s
credit portfolio is generally well diversified between com-
mercial and consumer loans and across industries within the
commercial loan category.
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In the commercial portfolio, house limits have been
established to control concentrations to single borrowers.
Exposures greater than $25 million are actively monitored
by Senior Management to ensure they present minimal
credit risk to the Company. Total commercial loans are diver-
sified by industry with no concentration greater than five
percent of the total loan portfolio. The largest concentrations
are in the education and government sectors representing
3.3 percent of the total loan portfolio, the retail sector at
3.2 percent and the transportation sector at 2.9 percent.
The majority of balances in the education and government,

and transportation sectors represent commercial leases to
AA and better investment grade entities. In 2004, AmSouth
reclassified a number of leases from transportation to gov-
ernment based on how the collateral was used to more
accurately reflect the inherent risk of these leases. The com-
mercial real estate component of the portfolio remains
diversified by property type and geography and makes
up 18 percent of the total portfolio at December 31, 2004,
compared to 16 percent at December 31, 2003.

AmSouth’s Credit Administration Department prepares
a comprehensive analysis of the allowance on a quarterly basis.

TABLE 20 - ALLOCATION OF THE ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES
December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003
Percentage of Percentage of
Loans in Each Loans in Each
Allowance Category to Allowance Category to
(Dollars in thousands) Allocation Total Loans Allocation Total Loans
Commercial:
Commercial and industrial $ 94,532 17.5% $ 91,635 17.9%
Commercial secured by real estate 17,749 6.9 29,212 6.9
Commercial leases 16,451 6.6 17,088 6.7
Total commercial 128,732 31.0 137,935 31.5
Commercial real estate;
Commercial real estate mortgages 34,847 8.7 24,628 8.1
Real estate construction 39,352 9.2 33,846 7.9
Total commercial real estate 74,199 17.9 58,474 16.0
Consumer:
Residential first mortgages 9,860 15.5 3,646 12.4
Equity loans and lines 39,966 23.6 43,757 239
Dealer indirect 39,938 10.1 48,735 12.3
Revolving credit 3,022 0.1 31,359 1.9
Other consumer 11,791 1.8 9,591 2.0
Total consumer 104,577 51.1 137,088 52.5
Unallocated 59,266 - 50,627 -
$ 366,774 100% $ 384,124 100.0%
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The review is presented to and approved by Senior
Management and subsequently reviewed and approved by the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

As of December 31,2004 and 2003, the general allowance
totaled $361.4 million and $369.9 million, respectively. The
decrease was primarily driven by the sale of the credit card
portfolio and an overall improvement in credit quality, partially
offset by an increase in the amount of loans outstanding and
identified risks related to specific portfolio segments. The
allocation of the allowance can be found in Table 20.

Management continuously monitors qualitative and
quantitative trends in the loan portfolio, including charge-
offs, credit concentrations, and the level of past due, criticized
and nonperforming loans. The distribution of the allowance
as described above does not diminish the fact that the
entire allowance is available to absorb credit losses in the
loan portfolio. The principal focus is on the adequacy of
the total allowance.

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000

Percentage of Percentage of Percentage of
Loans in Each Loans in Each Loans in Each
Allowance Category to Allowance Category to Allowance Category to
Allocation Total Loans Allocation Total Loans Allocation Total Loans

$ 104,362 18.8% $ 114,037 21.0% $ 134,499 24.5%
24,868 6.3 25,274 6.7 23,018 7.2
13,355 6.5 12,655 6.4 10,329 5.2
142,585 31.6 151,966 34.1 167,846 36.9
25,278 8.4 23,722 8.5 31,238 9.5
30,235 7.7 33,633 9.4 36,760 10.2
55,513 i6.1 57,355 17.9 67,998 19.7
2,794 10.2 1,666 6.6 2,445 5.5
31,218 233 20,232 21.5 14,843 18.9
54,105 13.6 45,658 13.5 32,291 12.1
28,919 2.0 26,038 2.1 24,885 2.1
15,1746 3.2 15,143 4.3 12,761 4.8
132,182 523 108,737 48.0 87,225 434
51,299 - 45,549 - 57,365 -

$ 381,579 100.0% $ 363,607 100.0% $ 380,434 100.0%
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TABLE 21 - ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES
(Dollars in thousands) ) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Balance at January 1 $ 384,124 § 381,579 § 363,607 $ 380,434 $ 354,679
Loans charged-off:
Commercial and industrial (44,848) (57,017) (66,406) (100,133) (40,138)
Commercial loans secured by real estate (1,607) (1,726) (1,137) (6,668) (14,617)
Commercial leases (2,260) (2,311) (14,315) (4,475) (152)
Total commercial (48,715) (61,054) (78,858) (111,276) (54,907)
Commercial real estate mortgages (679) (2,823) (883) (1,323) (312)
Commercial real estate construction (1,961) (1,287) (3,105) (832) (1,031)
Total commercial real estate (2,640) (4,110) (3,988) (2,155) (1,343)
Residential first mortgages (3,072) (2,518) (2,989) (2,341) (1,114)
Equity loans and lines (27,839) (39,717) (31,918) (18,157) (10,524)
Dealer indirect (40,462) (63,259) (72,578) (68,210} (71,659)
Revolving credit (21,517) (26,205) (26,093) (24,727) (19,650)
Other consumer (22,445) (23,195) (21,501) (23,020) (19,191)
Total charge-offs (166,690) (220,058) (237,925) (249,886) (178,388)
Recoveries of loans previously charged-off:
Commercial and industrial 11,876 10,283 6,202 5,094 6,709
Commercial loans secured by real estate 386 388 679 1,800 3,391
Commercial leases 742 493 -0- -0- -0-
Total commercial 13,004 11,164 6,881 6,894 10,100
Commercial real estate mortgages 946 370 206 311 522
Commercial real estate construction 169 54 97 508 368
Total commercial real estate 1,115 424 303 819 890
Residential first mortgages 188 43 333 273 127
Equity loans and lines 4,055 2,792 2,360 2,046 1,683
Dealer indirect 20,156 22,417 22,377 23,891 29,141
Revolving credit 3,024 2,863 2,537 3,383 3,750
Other consumer 8,706 9,200 7,556 8,653 8,346
Total recoveries 50,248 48,903 42,347 45,959 54,037
Net charge-offs (116,442) (171,155) (195,578) (203,927) (124,351)
Addition to allowance charged to expense 127,750 173,700 213,550 187,100 227,600
Reduction of allowance related to sold loans (28,658) -0- -0- -0- (74,591)
Allowance transferred to other liabilities -0- -0- -0- -0- (2,903)
Balance at December 31 $ 366,774 $ 384,124 $ 381,579 § 363,607 % 380,434
Loans net of unearned income,
outstanding at end of period $ 32,801,337  $ 29,339,364 $ 27,350,918 $ 25,124,493 $ 24,616,435
Average loans net of unearned income,
outstanding for the period $ 31,241,987  $ 28,511,159  $ 25,921,769 $ 24,763,798 $ 25,879,910
Ratios:
Allowance at end of period to loans
net of unearned income 1.12% 1.31% 1.40% 1.45% 1.55%
Allowance at end of period
to nonperforming loans* 414.49 348.72 240.25 228.29 211.75
Net charge-offs to average loans
net of unearned income 0.37 0.60 0.75 0.82 0.48
Allowance as a percentage
of net charge-offs 315.0 224.4 195.1 178.3 305.9
* Exclusive of accruing loans 90 days past due
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Loan Loss Allowance Allocation — The allowance allo-
cated to commercial loans decreased by 6.7 percent in 2004,
primarily reflecting improved credit quality within these
portfolios. The allowance allocated to commercial real estate
increased in 2004 compared to 2003, reflecting higher vol-
ume of outstanding loans.

In the consumer loan portfolio, the allowance allocated
to residential mortgages increased, reflecting growth in the
portfolio and an increase in the allocation rate. The alloca-
tion rate increase reflects the shift in mix to include more
adjustable rate mortgages, many of which are interest only,
and other portfolio risk factors. The allocated allowance for
home equity lines and equity loans decreased, primarily due
to lower allocation rates resulting from improved credit per-
formance, partially offset by additional allowance to support
the growth in the portfolio. The allocation rate on indirect
loans also was reduced in 2004, due to improving credit per-
formance. The allowance on revolving credit was lower,
primarily due to the sale of the credit card portfolio.

As a percent of total loans, the unallocated component
remained relatively stable at 0.18 percent of total loans at
December 31, 2004, versus 0.17 percent at December 31,
2003. Although credit quality improved in 2004 compared
to 2003, there were a number of emerging risks in the eco-
nomic environment toward the end of the year that adversely
impacted credit performance. Included in those risks were
higher and more volatile energy prices, increases in short-term
interest rates, and higher commodity prices.

Financial Disclosure and Internal Controls

AmSouth has always maintained internal controls over
financial reporting, which generally include those controls
relating to the preparation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements in conformity with accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States of America. As a bank
holding company, AmSouth is subject to the internal con-
trol reporting and attestation requirements of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act and, there-
fore, is very familiar with the process of maintaining and
evaluating internal controls over financial reporting. AmSouth’s
process starts with understanding the risks facing each of the
Company’s functions and areas; how those risks are con-
trolled or mitigated; and how Management monitors those
controls to ensure that they are in place and effective. These
risks, control procedures and monitoring tools are docu-
mented in a standard format. This format not only documents
the internal control structures over all significant accounts,
but also places responsibility on Management for estab-
lishing feedback mechanisms to ensure that controls are
effective. These monitoring procedures are also part of
Management’s testing of internal controls.

At least annually, each area updates this internal control
documentation. If changes are necessary, updates are made
more frequently. Senior Management of the areas then pre-
pares a standardized form documenting their review. This form
outlines the key risks and controls in their areas, any items
of particular concern in their areas (such as data processing
conversions, changes in legal or regulatory requirements,
personnel changes, etc.), and an assessment of their areas’
inherent risk, control strength and net exposure, as well as
whether that net exposure is decreasing, stable or increas-
ing. The form also documents their final conclusion as to
the adequacy of their internal controls.
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The Company also has established processes to ensure
appropriate disclosure controls and procedures are main-
tained. These controls and procedures as defined by the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) are generally
designed to ensure that financial and nonfinancial information
required to be disclosed in reports filed with the SEC is
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms, and that such information is communicated
to Management, including the Chief Executive Officer
(CEQ) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), as appropriate,
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

AmSouth’s Disclosure Review Committee, which includes
representatives from the legal, investor relations, account-
ing and audit departments, meets quarterly to review recent
internal and external events to determine whether all appro-
priate disclosures have been made. In addition, the CEO
and CFO meet quarterly with the SEC Filings Review
Committee, which includes senior representatives from the
treasury, accounting, legal, audit, credit administration and
investor relations departments, as well as from the core busi-
ness segments. The SEC Filings Review Committee reviews
Form 10-K and Form 10-Q filings and evaluates the ade-
quacy and accuracy of the disclosures. As part of the disclosure
process, each of the Committee members meets with his or
her senior staff and accounting representatives in the finance
division to review internal controls over financial reporting,
including the disclosure process. Accounting representa-
tives in the finance division also conduct further review with
independent auditors and counsel, as appropriate. Financial
results and other financial information also are reviewed
with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors on a
quarterly basis.

As required by applicable regulatory pronouncements,
the CEO and the CFO review and make various certifica-
tions regarding the accuracy of AmSouth’s periodic public
reports filed with the SEC, as well as the effectiveness of
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disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting. With the assistance of these commit-
tees, AmSouth will continue to assess and monitor disclosure
controls and procedures and internal controls over financial
reporting and will make refinements as necessary.

AmSouth’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) and, therefore, AmSouth is required to
comply with NYSE corporate governance listing standards.
During 2004, AmSouth submitted to the NYSE the CEO
Certification required under Section 303A of the NYSE cor-
porate governance listing standards. In addition, the CEOQ
and CFO Certifications that are required under section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are filed as Exhibits 31.1
and 31.2, respectively, to AmSouth’s annual report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.

LINE OF BUSINESS RESULTS
AmSouth segregates financial information used to assess
performance and allocate resources based on three reportable
segments. The three reportable segments include:

+ Consumer Banking
+ Commercial Banking
+ Wealth Management

The financial performance for each segment is deter-
mined based on the Company’s management accounting
process, which assigns balance sheet and income statement
items to each segment based on managerial responsibility.
Segments are also defined by customer base and product
type. Performance of the operating segments reflects the
management process and structure of AmSouth and is not
necessarily comparable with similar information for any
other financial institution. Selected financial information
and a description of the methodologies used to measure the
financial performance of the business segments are pre-
sented in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consumer Banking delivers a full range of financial ser-
vices to individuals and small businesses through the retail
branch and ATM networks, Telephone Banking and the
Internet. Services include loan and deposit products designed
to meet the personal finance needs of consumers and the
financial needs of small businesses and their owners. The
increase in net income in the Consumer Banking segment in
2004 reflected the continued success of AmSouth’s strategic
initiatives to grow the Consumer and Business Banking busi-
nesses. In 2004, the Consumer Banking segment produced
net income totaling $459.2 million compared to $428.0 mil-
lion in 2003. The increase over 2003 was the result of higher
net interest income, noninterest revenue, and a decrease in
provision, partially offset by higher noninterest expense.
Growth in net interest income was driven by higher levels of
consumer loans and deposits. The increase in noninterest
revenue was a result of growth in revenues from service
charges on deposits and from interchange transactions. The
decrease in provision reflects AmSouth’s continued efforts
in improving loan quality as evidenced by lower net
charge-offs. Noninterest expense growth represented the
costs associated with the mortgage initiative and branch
expansion during 2004.

Commercial Banking provides commercial and com-
mercial real estate lending, leasing, international, capital
markets, and corporate cash management services to large
and middle-market commercial custorners. In 2004, Commercial
Banking contributed $226.1 million of net income versus
$198.9 million in 2003. The higher level of income in 2004
was primarily associated with a higher level of net interest
income, noninterest revenue and a lower provision for loan
losses reflecting improving commercial loan credit quality.
The net interest income increase was driven by growth in
loans and commercial deposits in 2004.

Wealth Management provides financial and estate plan-
ning, investment management services for both institutional

and individual clients, trust services, annuity and mutual
fund product distribution through the branches and dis-
count brokerage services. This area contributed net income
of $93.9 million in 2004 compared to $64.6 million in 2003
through producing fee-based income and revenues associ-
ated with loans and deposits to Wealth Management customers.
The increase in net income was the result of an increase in
net interest income associated with growth in loans and
deposits of private client services (PCS) customers in addi-
tion to higher levels of noninterest revenue associated with
trust and consumer investment services. Revenues and
expenses associated with PCS customers’ loans and deposit
balances for segment reporting purposes are included in
the Wealth Management results because the Wealth
Management group is principally responsible for main-
taining relationships with these customers. However, revenues
associated with these loans and deposits are also included
in either Commercial or Consumer Banking’s results based
on the loan or deposit type. These shared revenues and
expenses are reversed within Treasury & Other to elimi-
nate double counting.

Treasury & Other represents balance sheet manage-
ment activities, corporate overhead, unallocated revenues
such as bank owned life insurance, and other one-time
gains, losses or special charges. Treasury & Other does not
represent a banking line of business, but encompasses all
other activities supporting the business segments. This
area reflected a net loss of $155.8 million in 2004 compared
to a loss of $65.4 million in 2003. The larger loss as com-
pared to 2003 was a result of higher noninterest expenses
primarily due to FHLB debt restructuring costs of $129.6
million and $54.0 million of settlement expenses. The
increase in noninterest revenue was a result of the gain
on sale of credit card loans.

77




AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

TABLE 22 - QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Selected quarterly results of operations for the four quarters are as follows:

2004 2003
Fourth Third  Second First Fourth Third Second First

(In thousands except per share data) Quarter  Quarter  Quarter Quarter  Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Interest income $ 566,108 $ 550,273 $ 524,644 $ 524,636 $ 521,200 $ 505,180 $ 522,446 $ 537,625
Interest expense 186,896 174,367 163,234 165,139 162,416 161,727 173,090 174,583
Net interest income 379,212 375906 361,410 359,497 358,784 343453 349,356 363,042
Provision for loan losses 44,250 28,800 26,600 28,100 44,500 41,800 42,700 44,700
Net gains on sales of

available-for-sale securities 5,088 5,329 7,709 8,494 10,443 15,418 14,025 4,976
Income before income taxes 254,835 197,799 241,292 229,553 226,881 223,882 218,752 221,621
Net income 176,857 119,579 166,963 160,099 158,552 157,388 154,825 155,356
Earnings per common share 0.50 0.34 0.47 0.46 0.45 0.45 0.44 0.44
Diluted earnings per

common share 0.49 0.33 0.47 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.44 0.44
Cash dividends declared

per common share 0.25 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.23 0.23 0.23
Market price range:

High 27.00 26.67 25.69 26.15 24.62 22.65 23.43 21.20

Low 24.25 23.80 21.91 23.01 21.28 20.66 19.05 19.18
Note: Quartetly amounts may not add to year-to-date amounts due to rounding.

COMPARISON OF 2003 WITH 2002
Net income in 2003 was $626.1 million, or $1.77 per diluted
share, an increase of 5.4 percent on a per share basis from
2002. ROE was 20.1 percent for both 2003 and 2002, while
ROA was 1.47 percent for 2003, down from the 2002 level
of 1.58 percent. The efficiency ratio was 52.1 percent in
2003, up from the 2002 level of 49.8 percent.

The increase in 2003 earnings was driven primarily by
higher noninterest revenues which were $855.8 million in
2003 versus $739.4 million in 2002, a 15.7 percent increase.
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The largest contributors to this increase were service charges,
other noninterest revenues, including mortgage income and
gains from the sale of securities, and a lower loan loss pro-
vision. The increase in service charge revenue was $48.7
million or 16.8 percent, driven primarily by increases in
consumer and small business accounts. Mortgage revenue
growth was the result of AmSouth’s mortgage sales initia-
tive, which helped generate $4.3 billion of originations in
2003 and $44.5 million in income related to the sale or secu-
ritization of mortgage loans and mortgage servicing rights.
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Gains on the sale of portfolio securities were also high in
2003 at $53.4 million, a $35.9 million increase over the 2002
level. Noninterest expenses were higher in 2003 as a result of
investments in growth initiatives by AmSouth including the
opening of 41 new branches, the addition of more than 400
revenue-producing personnel and the completion of a new
operations center that substantially modernized AmSouth’s
back-office operations. In total, noninterest expenses were up
$79.0 million in 2003 to $1.2 billion. The largest compo-
nents of this increase were salaries and employee benefits, and
occupancy expense, which were higher by $54.5 million and
$15.0 million, respectively.

The 2003 interest rate environment was challenging for
AmSouth. Historically low interest rates negatively impacted
net interest margin and net interest income. Weak loan
demand in commercial and small business lending due to
the economy also limited loan growth. In addition, the slow
recovery of market-based fees from trust and consumer
investment services limited this portion of noninterest
revenue growth.

Low interest rates caused rapid prepayments of loans
and investment securities and created lower reinvestment
rates for new loans and investments in 2003. The high level
of prepayments also resulted in substantially higher pre-
mium amortization on mortgage-backed securities and
collateralized mortgage obligations in the investment port-
folio, which reduced net interest income. The low reinvestment
rates pressured spreads between yvields on earning assets
and rates paid on funding sources. As a result, the net inter-
est margin declined from 4.37 percent in 2002 to 3.78 percent
for 2003, and net interest income declined from $1.47 billion
in 2002 to $1.42 billion in 2003.

Nonperforming assets declined 25 percent in 2003 from
2002. Nonperforming assets as a percentage of loans plus
foreclosed properties and repossessions was 0.50 percent as
of December 31, 2003 as compared to 0.72 percent at year-
end 2002. Nonperforming metrics improved in 2003 due
primarily to an improving economy in 2003 and efforts to
strengthen credit quality.

Net charge-offs decreased 12 percent from 2002, due
mainly to a decrease in commercial net charge-offs of $22 mil-
lion. The provision for loan losses declined $40 million, or
19 percent, in 2003 from 2002. In 2003, AmSouth’s provi-
sion for loan losses totaled $173.7 million, compared to
$213.6 million in 2002. The decrease in the provision in
2003 reflected improving credit quality trends during 2003
as evidenced by the lower level of loans charged-off and a
decline in the ratio of net charge-offs to total loans from
0.75 percent in 2002 to 0.60 percent in 2003. The allowance
for loan losses declined from 2002, reflecting reduced risk in
the corporate loan portfolio as a result of tightened under-
writing standards and the increase of lower risk, real estate
secured consumer loans in the portfolio.

Earnings increased in two of AmSouth’s three reportable
segments in 2003. Consumer Banking earnings increased
$36.5 million due to higher noninterest revenue, includ-
ing service charges and mortgage income, and solid loan
and deposit growth. Commercial Banking earnings were
higher by $24.1 million, or 13.8 percent, largely resulting
from higher net interest income and a lower provision for
loan losses reflecting improving commercial loan credit
quality. Wealth Management’s earnings decreased by $2.7
million in 2003 resulting from lower trust and investment
services revenue.

Stockholder’s equity increased 4 percent from 2002 to
$3.2 billion at December 31, 2003. AmSouth paid $324 mil-
lion in dividends to common stockholders in 2003 and $320
million in 2002. During 2003, AmSouth repurchased approx-
imately 8.0 million shares of its common stock at a cost of
$163.1 million. This level of shares repurchased was down
from the 13.3 million shares repurchased in 2002.

AmSouthss tier 1 capital and total capital ratios were 7.71
percent and 11.22 percent, respectively, at December 31,
2003, and 7.80 percent and 10.60 percent, respectively, at
December 31, 2002. The leverage ratio at December 31,
2003, was 6.66 percent and at December 31, 2002, it was
6.85 percent.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Statements made in this document which are not purely
historical are forward-looking statements as defined in the
“Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including
any statements regarding descriptions of Management’s
plans, objectives or goals for future operations, products
or services, and forecasts of its revenues, earnings or other

measures of performance.

Forward-looking statements are based on current
Management expectations and, by their nature, are subject
to risks and uncertainties. A number of factors — many of
which are beyond AmSouth's control — could cause actual con-
ditions, events or results to differ significantly from those
described in the forward-looking statements. Such factors
include, but are not limited to: customers’ and other third par-
ties’ reactions to the settlements with the United States and
regulators referred to in this report and the effects of such set-
tlements on AmSouth’s branch expansion plans; the execution
of AmSouth’s strategic initiatives; legislation and regulation;
general economic conditions, especially in the Southeast;
the performance of the stock and bond markets; changes in
interest rates, yield curves and interest rate spread relation-
ships; prepayment speeds within the loan and investment
security portfolios; deposit flows; the cost of funds; cost of
federal deposit insurance premiums; demand for loan prod-
ucts; demand for financial services; competition including
a continued consolidation in the financial services industry;
changes in the quality or composition of AmSouth’s loan
and investment portfolios including capital market ineffi-
ciencies that may affect the marketability and valuation of
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available-for-sale securities; changes in consumer spending
and saving habits; technological changes; the growth and
profitability of AmSoutl’s mortgage banking business, includ-
ing mortgage-related income and fees being less than expected;
adverse changes in the financial performance and/or condi-
tion of AmSouths borrowers, which could impact the repayment
of such borrowers’ outstanding loans; changes in account-
ing and tax principles, policies or guidelines and in tax laws;
other economic, competitive, governmental, and regulatory
factors affecting AmSouth's operations, products, services and
prices; the effects of weather and natural disasters such as
hurricanes; unexpected judicial actions and developments;
results of investigations, examinations, and reviews of reg-
ulatory and law enforcement authorities; the outcome of
litigation, which is inherently uncertain and depends on
the findings of judges and juries; the impact on AmSouth’s
businesses, as well as the risks set forth above, of various
domestic or international military or terrorist activities or
conflicts; and AmSouth’s success in managing the risks
involved in the foregoing.

Readers should also refer to other such factors discussed
in Management’s Discussion and Analysis including, but not
limited to, the factors discussed in “Earnings Outlook” on
page 41.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date
they are made. AmSouth does not undertake a duty to
update forward-looking staternents to reflect circumstances
or events that occur after the date the forward-looking
statements are made.




MANAGEMENT S REPORT

Management maintains and depends upon AmSouth’s accounting systems and related systems of internal control.
The system of internal accounting controls is designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and
transactions are properly recorded and executed. The design, monitoring and revision of the system of internal controls
involves, among other things, Management’s judgments with respect to the relative cost and expected benefits of specific
control measures. The effectiveness of the system of internal control over financial reporting is supported by the selection,
retention and training of qualified personnel and an organizational structure that provides an appropriate division of
responsibility and formalized procedures. The system of internal accounting controls is periodically reviewed and mod-
ified in response to changing conditions. An internal audit staff regularly monitors the adequacy and effectiveness of
internal accounting controls.

In addition to the system of internal control over financial reporting, Management maintains corporate policy guide-
lines that help monitor proper business conduct, possible conflicts of interest, compliance with laws and regulations and
confidentiality of proprietary and customer information. The guidelines are documented in the AmSouth Code of Conduct
and are reviewed on a periodic basis with members of Management.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable
assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting may vary over time. AmSouth’s system of internal control over financial reporting
contains self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting solely of outside directors, appoints the independent audi-
tors and receives and reviews the reports submitted by them. The Audit Committee meets several times during the year
with Management, the internal auditors and the independent auditors to discuss audit activities, internal controls and finan-
cial reporting matters. The internal auditors and the independent auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee.

MANAGEMENT S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial
reporting of AmSouth. Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the system of internal control over
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evaluation, Management concluded that
AmSouth’s system of internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004. Management’s assess-
ment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP,
an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.

81




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Board of Directors
AmSouth Bancorporation

We have audited Management’s assessment, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting,” that AmSouth Bancorporation and subsidiaries (AmSouth) maintained effective internal con-
trol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). AmSouth’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on Management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effec-
tive internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating Management’s assessment, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered neces-
sary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the trans-
actions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unau-
thorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inad-
equate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Management’s assessment that AmSouth Bancorporation and subsidiaries maintained effective inter-
nal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO
criteria. Also, in our opinion, AmSouth Bancorporation and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of earn-
ings, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 of AmSouth
Bancorporation and subsidiaries and our report dated March 10, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

. W ¥ LLP
Birmingham, Alabama

March 10, 2005
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Board of Directors
AmSouth Bancorporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AmSouth Bancorporation and subsidiaries (AmSouth)
as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated finan-
cial position of AmSouth Bancorporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements at December 31, 2003, AmSouth changed its con-
solidation policy.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of AmSouth Bancorporation and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control ~ Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 10, 2005, expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

LLP
Birmingham, Alabama et M

March 10, 2005
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December 31
(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003
Assets
Cashand due from banks ... ...ttt i i i e e e e s $ 966,993 $ 1,163,986
TrAdING SECUTIHIES . vttt it ettt ettt et et e e et e et et e r et e e e e e e s e e 1,883 2,721
Available-for-5ale SECUTITIES . . v vttt e ettt ettt e et e et e e e e e 6,322,665 7,125,971
Held-to-maturity securities (market value of $6,199,451 and $4,948,556, respectively) ...........cc..cn.. 6,188,010 4,928,195
Loans held for sale ... .. . et e e e 103,273 102,292
7o ' 33,512,398 30,088,814
Less: Allowance for Ioan loSSeS . .. .v vttt iruit et e e e 366,774 384,124
L0 57 P 1Tl I Vel o 1IN O 711,061 749,450
=10 Lo F ¥ T PN 32,434,563 28,955,240
Other INterest-earming @SSELS . .« ..ttt vt vttt et ettt te e e e i 36,149 40,218
Premises and eqQUIPINENt, TEL .+ . v\t v vuit it ettt et ettt e et et st e 1,060,574 964,692
Cash surrender value — bank owned life INSUFANCE ... vvvtviit ittt et it cie e 1,111,934 1,065,996
Accrued interest receivable and other 88Sets .. ...... vttt e e e 1,322,327 1,266,205
$ 49,548,371 $ 45,615,516
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Deposits and interest-bearing liabilities:
Deposits:
Noninterest-bearing demand ....... ... ... i $ 7,182,806 $ 6,273,835
Interest-bearing demand ... .. ..o 7,115,545 6,183,832
Money market and savings deposits .. ... ...t e 8,810,972 7,592,020
o 9,476,075 9,096,543
BOTelgn L e 1,647,381 1,294,123
Total dePOSITS L .vh vttt e 34,232,779 30,440,353
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to repurchase ........................ 2,291,988 2,026,253
Other Borrowed fUNAS . .. ..o e it e e e e e e 429,098 343,202
Long-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances . .........cooiiii i it 4,371,745 5,737,952
Otherlong-termdebt ... ... .ot e 2,899,773 2,114,482
Total deposits and interest-bearing liabilities .............. .. oo 44,225,383 40,662,242
Accrued expenses and other liabilities . ... ... . .. i e 1,754,147 1,723,605
Total HabIlitIes « . ..o v vt it ettt et et e e e e 45,979,530 42,385,847

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock — no par value:
Authorized - 2,000,000 shares; Issued and outstanding —none .............cccovviiiiiiniies -0- -0-
Common stock — par value $1 a share:
Authorized — 750,000,000 shares

Issued — 416,748,000 and 416,878,000 shares, respectively ............ooiniiiieneiineienaen., 416,748 416,878
Additional paid-in capital . . ... oui i e 726,411 715,663
Retained earmings ..........ouiiiiiii i e 3,492,873 3,228,533
Cost of common stock in treasury — 60,438,000 and 64,987,000 shares, respectively ................... (986,510) (1,076,644)
Deferred compensation on restricted StOCK .. ... .heut e et i (12,947} (14,501)
Accumulated other comprehensiveloss ....... ... i (67,734) (40,260)

Total shareholders’ equity ....... .. .o i 3,568,841 3,229,669
$ 49,548,371 $ 45,615,516

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Years Ended December 31
(In thousands except per share data) 2004 2003 2002
Interest Income
Loans ........... SO $ 1,566,177 $ 1,552,202 $ 1,656,285
Available-for-sale SECUItIES .. ..o vit ittt e e 321,692 312,338 335,622
Held-to-maturity securities ........oovuiiennereniniii i 263,507 215,202 245,469
Trading Securities . ........ieur ittt e 232 139 1,367
Loansheld forsale ........ovuiiiiiii i e e 13,277 4,525 10,254
Other interest-earning assets ...........v.euvenerierisuiieirunienruaaenns 776 2,045 5,119
Total INtEreStINCOME . vttt ettt et e et et e ir e inns 2,165,661 2,086,451 2,254,116
Interest Expense
Interest-bearing demand ......... .. .. 38,592 29,086 45,556
Money market and savings deposits .......... ..t 46,979 46,310 75,503
Time deposits ... vrni it e 243,223 267,781 311,740
Foreign deposits . ...t e 16,611 7,606 5,894
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to repurchase .. .. 41,782 20,554 27,693
Other borrowed fUnds ... ... vttt e s 10,062 4,177 3,898
Long-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances .............................. 233,993 253,148 272,339
Otherlong-termdebt ...... ... i 58,394 43,154 38,853
Total INTerest EXPemSe . ... .ouvineitere e 689,636 671,816 781,476
Net Interest INCOME .o\ttt it i e et iieeeenn 1,476,025 1,414,635 1,472,640
Provision for Joan L08ses . . ..t ver e 127,750 173,700 213,550
Net Interest Income After Provision for Loan Losses . ....vvvvivrervnrnnnnnennn 1,348,275 1,240,935 1,259,090
Noninterest Revenues
Service charges on deposit aCCOUNTS ... vuuvt it innii i 378,655 337,945 289,226
T Ve o o V- 117,973 103,657 105,428
Consumer Investment Services INCOIME ..o vt ittt veiiie e cieiiererenes 77,445 69,410 77,793
Other NONINTEIESt TEVEIIUES + .\ o o v vt vt et e teaterea e e e et it eitanraeens 458,069 344,766 266,914
Total NONINTErESt FEVENUIES . ..o\ ve ettt ittt eie e ie et eraanss 1,032,142 855,778 739,361
Noninterest Expenses
Salaries and employee benefits .......oooiniiiii i 674,374 638,843 584,264
INet OCCUPANCY EXPENSE .+ o\ttt vtettat e tn ettt ia it anens 147,225 133,479 118,548
EQUIpMent eXpenise . .....utiu it s 125,039 116,703 118,729
Other NONINtErest EXPENSES . . .. v vt tre ettt a i eiraaaenns 510,300 316,552 305,081
Total NONINTETest EXPEIISES . . . .o v v ttaeee i eeee i e e e treeanenas 1,456,938 1,205,577 1,126,622
Income Before INcome TaXes v oo v verenn i e it ieieane e ennaaas 923,479 891,136 871,829
65T 5 = =S 299,981 265,015 262,682
1 3 Tola ) o $ 623,498 $ 626,121 $ 609,147
Average common shares outstanding . ... ... ..ot i e 352,684 350,237 358,176
Earnings per common share .........vviiieiiii i $ 1.77 $ 1.79 $ 1.70
Diluted average common shares outstanding ...................... ol 357,952 354,308 362,329
Diluted earnings per common share ... $ 1.74 $ 1.77 $ 1.68

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Deferred  Accumulated
Additional Compensation Other
Common Stock Paid-in Retained Treasury  on Restricted Comprehensive
{In thousands) Shares Amount Capital Earnings Stock Stock  Income (Loss) Total
BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2002 363,035 $416,931 $ 699,863 $2,677,933 $ (848,005) $ (16,624) $ 25,001 $ 2,955,099
Comprehensive income:
Net income -0- -0- -0- 609,147 -0- -0- -0- 609,147
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Net change in unrealized gains
and losses on available-for-sale
securities* -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 87,021 87,021
Net change in unrealized gains
and losses on derivative
instruments* -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- (9,063) (9,063)
Comprehensive income 687,105
Cash dividends declared ($0.89 per share) -0- -0- -0- (320,129) -0- -0- -0- (320,129)
Common stock transactions:
Employee stock plans 3,182 (22) 6,105 (15,517) 64,858 670 -0- 56,094
Dividend reinvestment 481 -0- 113 (4) 9,823 -0- -0- 9,932
Purchase of common stock (13,274) -0- -0- -0- (272,104) -0- -0- (272,104)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2002 353,424 416,909 706,081 2,951,430 (1,045,428) (15,954) 102,959 3,115,997
Comprehensive income:
Net income -0- -0- -0- 626,121 -0- -0- -0- 626,121
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Net change in unrealized
gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities* -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- (103,168) (103,168)
Net change in unrealized
gains and losses on
derivative instruments* -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- (31,500) (31,500)
Additional minimum pension
liability adjustment* -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- (8,551) (8,551)
Comprehensive income 482,902
Cash dividends declared ($0.93 per share) -0- -0- -0- (324,456) -0- -0- -0- (324,456)
Common stock transactions:
Employee stock plans 5,956 (31) 9,568 (24,535) 122,094 1,453 -0- 108,549
Dividend reinvestment 474 -0- 14 (27) 9,782 -0- -0- 9,769
Purchase of common stock (7,963) -0- -0- -0- (163,092) -0- -0- (163,092)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2003 351,891 416,878 715,663 3,228,533 (1,076,644) (14,501) (40,260) 3,229,669
Comprehensive income:
Net income -0- -0- -0- 623,498 -0- -0- -0- 623,498
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Net change in unrealized
gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities* -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- (20,508) (20,508)
Net change in unrealized
gains and losses on
derivative instruments* -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- (3,055} (3,055)
Additional minimum pension
liability adjustment™* -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- (3,911) (3911)
Comprehensive income 596,024
Cash dividends declared ($0.97 per share) -0- -0- -0- (344,283) -0- -0- -0- (344,283)
Commen stock transactions:
Employee stock plans 6,060 (130) 9,034 (12,576) 130,809 1,554 -0- 128,691
Direct stock purchase and
dividend reinvestment 493 -0- 1,714 (2,299) 10,324 -0- -0- 9,739
Purchase of common stock (2,134) -0- -0- -0- (50,999) -0- -0- (50,999)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2004 356,310 $416,748 $ 726,411 $3,492,873  $ (986,510) $ (12,947) $ (67,734) $ 3,568,841

* See disclosure of reclassification adjustment amount and tax effect, as applicable, in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Years Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B85 o 1ol 1 V- O $ 623,498 $ 626,121 $ 609,147
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Provision for Ioan 10SSes . . . .o vt vttt e e 127,750 173,700 213,550
Depreciation and amortization of premises and equipment . .................... 111,367 99,132 92,638
Amortization of premiums and discounts on held-to-maturity securities
and available-for-sale securities .. .......oiii i e 39,530 51,646 6,076
Originations and purchases of loans held forsale ............................. (1,206,257) (1,063,442) (689,665)
Proceeds from sales of loansheld forsale .........coo i, 1,214,929 997,017 972,282
Net gains on sales of available-for-sale securities . (26,620) (44,862) (13,174)
Net gain on sale of credit cardloans ............... ... oo (166,103) -0- -0-
Net gains on sales of loans held for sale and mortgageloans .................... (12,128) (28,341) (12,606)
Net gains on sales of otherloans .. ..............oocoiiiiniin.., (9,224) (4,791) -0-
Net decrease (increase) in trading securities ...............c.ociiiiiienonn. 629 45,239 (34,985)
Net increase in accrued interest receivable, bank owned
life insurance and other assets ........vtveiiniii i e (106,450) (112,014) (99,243)
Net (decrease) increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities ................ (91,764) 24,392 63,003
Provision for deferred INCOME tAXES - ..o vvevr ettt 203,002 243,754 216,724
Amortization of intangibleassets ............. ... .. ... 4,169 4,793 5118
Prepayment cost on Federal Home Loan Bank advances 129,648 -0- -0-
Other operating activities, DBt . ..........iiiiiii i 125,905 105,349 51,146
Net cash provided by operating activities ................coooviiiiiia., 961,881 1,117,693 1,380,011
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from maturities and prepayments of available-for-sale securities .......... 1,136,578 2,466,765 1,634,027
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities ........................ 2,509,855 2,412,554 978,314
Purchases of available-for-sale securities ............oviiriii ittt (2,858,463) (7,067,052) (2,341,135}
Proceeds from maturities, prepayments and calls of held-to-maturity securities . .. ... 1,618,230 2,754,976 2,399,038
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities .............ooviiiiiiiiiiiiii i (2,992,725) (3,056,675) (2,733,495)
Net decrease in federal funds sold and securities purchased
under agreementsto resell ... .. -0- 26,018 373,982
Net decrease (increase) in other interest-earning assets .........ov.eeernverieenn.. 4,069 23,594 (23,354)
Net increase in loans, excluding guaranteed mortgage loan
securitizations and sales of 10aNS .. ...ttt e e (4,814,245) (3,719,501) (3,051,138)
Purchases of mortgageloans ... (143,946) -0- -0-
Proceeds from sale of credit card loans 700,545 -0- -0-
Proceeds from sales of mortgage loans 265,086 807,158 236,032
Proceeds from sales of other loans ....... ... i 428,158 210,757 -0-
Net purchases of premises and equipment (207,249) (230,939) (202,161)
Net cash used in investing activities (4,354,107) (5,372,345) (2,729,890}
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net increase i1 dePOSIS .. ..o uu ittt et 3,792,903 3,126,376 1,159,654
Net increase (decrease) in federal funds purchased and securities sold
under agreements to repurchase ......... .. o 265,735 256,706 (310,749)
Net increase in other borrowed funds ...t 85,896 192,184 71,564
Proceeds from issuance of long-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances
and otherlong-termdebt ....... ... ... ... 1,151,587 3,546,515 776,592
Payments for maturing Federal Home Loan Bank advances and other long-term debt . (467,014) (2,553,323) (32,353)
Payments for prepayment of Federal Home Loan Bank advances .................. (1,379,648) -0- -0-
Cashdividends paid .........oiiiiii i (337,334} (323,748) (318,777)
Proceeds from employee stock plans, direct stock purchase and
dividend reinvestment plan .. ........ i 134,107 115,035 56,476
Purchase of common stock .......c.oviiiiiiiiiie e (50,999) (163,092) (272,104)
Net cash provided by financing activities 3,195,233 4,196,653 1,130,303
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents .. ...........oovienni oo, (196,993) (57,999) (219,576)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . 1,163,986 1,221,985 1,441,561
Cash and cash equivalentsatend of period ........ ... .. .. oot $ 966,993 $ 1,163,986 $ 1,221,985

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AmSouth Bancorporation (AmSouth or the Company),
through its banking subsidiary, provides a broad array of
financial products and services through banking offices located
in six Southeastern states with leading market positions in
Alabama, Tennessee, Florida and Mississippi. In addition,
AmSouth provides select financial services outside of its bank-
ing markets through its other subsidiaries. AmSouths principal
activities include Consumer Banking, Commercial Banking
and Wealth Management. The accounting policies of AmSouth
and the methods of applying those policies that materially
affect the accompanying consolidated financial statements
are presented below and conform with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States and general prac-
tices within the financial services industry.

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of AmSouth, its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned,
and certain variable interest entities as described below. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated. Certain amounts in the prior years’ finan-
cial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2004
presentation. These reclassifications are immaterial and had
no effect on net income.

AmSouth considers a voting rights entity to be a sub-
sidiary and consolidates it if AmSouth has a controlling

financial interest in the entity. Variable interest entities (VIEs)
are consolidated if AmSouth is exposed to the majority of the
VIE’s expected losses and/or residual returns (i.e., AmSouth
is considered to be the primary beneficiary). Unconsolidated
investments in voting rights entities or VIEs in which AmSouth
has significant influence over operating and financing deci-
sions (usually defined as a voting or economic interest of
20% to 50%) are accounted for using the equity method.
Unconsolidated investments in voting rights entities or VIEs
in which AmSouth has a voting or economic interest of less
than 20% are generally carried at cost. See “Recent Accounting
Pronouncements and Accounting Changes” below and Note
24 for further discussion of consolidations of VIEs.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States requires Management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Flows

Cash and due from banks and time deposits in other banks
are considered cash and cash equivalents. The following
table summarizes supplemental cash flow information for
the years ended December 31:

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 691,432 $ 673,179 $ 795270

Income taxes 197,431 62,519 39,238
Transfers from loans to foreclosed properties 39,144 56,809 50,305
Transfers from foreclosed properties to loans 852 652 293
Transfers from loans to securities -0- 405,021 301,725
Transfers from loans to other assets 1,015 -0- 1,817
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Transfers from loans to available-for-sale and held-to-
maturity securities were made in connection with guaranteed
mortgage loan securitizations in which AmSouth retained
the securities in its investment portfolio. Transfers from loans
to other assets were associated with mortgage servicing rights
created as a result of guaranteed mortgage loan securitizations.

Securities

Securities are classified as either held-to-maturity, trading or
available-for-sale. AmSouth defines held-to-maturity secu-
rities as debt securities which Management has the positive
intent and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity
securities are stated at cost, adjusted for amortization of pre-
miums and accretion of discounts on the constant effective
yield method. Trading securities are carried at market value.
Market adjustments and realized gains or losses on the sale
of trading securities are reported as other noninterest rev-
enues. Available-for-sale securities are defined as equity
securities and debt securities not classified as trading secu-
rities or held-to-maturity securities. Available-for-sale
securities are carried at fair value. Unrealized holding gains
or losses, net of deferred taxes, on available-for-sale securi-
ties are excluded from earnings and reported in accumulated
other comprehensive income within shareholders’ equity.
AmSouth determines the appropriate classification of debt
securities at the time of purchase.

The market values of securities are generally based on
quoted market prices. If quoted market prices are not avail-
able, pricing is determined using pricing models, discounted
cash flow analysis, or quoted prices of similar instruments.
Gains and losses from sales of available-for-sale securities
are computed using the specific identification method.

The Company reviews its securities portfolio on a quar-
terly basis to determine if there are any conditions that
indicate that a security has other-than-temporary impairment.
Factors considered in this determination include the length
of time that the security has been in a loss position, the abil-
ity and intent to hold the security until such time as the
value recovers or the security matures, and the credit qual-
ity of the issuer. When a security has impairment that is
considered to be other-than-temporary, the security is writ-
ten down to fair value and a loss is recorded in earnings.

Loans Held for Sale

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, loans held for sale con-
sisted of residential mortgage loans held for sale. Loans held
for sale are carried at the lower of aggregate cost or market
value. Market adjustments and realized gains and losses are
classified as other noninterest revenues.

Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell

and Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase
Securities purchased under agreements to resell and secu-
rities sold under agreements to repurchase are generally
treated as collateralized financing transactions and are
recorded at the amount at which the securities were acquired
or sold plus accrued interest. It is AmSouth’s policy to take
possession of securities purchased under resale agreements.
The market value of the collateral is monitored and addi-
tional collateral obtained when deemed appropriate. Securities
sold under repurchase agreements are delivered to either
broker-dealers or to custodian accounts. The broker-dealers
may sell, loan or otherwise dispose of such securities to
other parties in the normal course of their operations, but
have agreed to resell to AmSouth identical securities at the
maturity of the agreements.

Loans and Leases

Loans are carried at the principal amount outstanding, net
of unearned income, including net deferred loan fees and
costs. AmSouth defers nonrefundable loan origination and
commitment fees and the direct costs of originating or acquir-
ing loans. The net deferred amount is amortized over the
estimated lives of the related loans as an adjustment to the
yield. Interest income on commercial and real estate loans is
accrued daily based upon the outstanding principal amounts
except for those classified as nonaccrual loans. Interest income
on certain consumer loans is accrued monthly based upon
the outstanding principal amounts except for those classified
as nonaccrual loans. Interest accrual on commercial and
commercial real estate loans is discontinued when it appears
that future collection of principal or interest according to the
contractual terms may be doubtful. The accrual status of
consumer loans secured by residential real estate is depen-
dent upon the level of collateral protection provided by the
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underlying collateral value of the residential real estate
securing the loan. Interest collections on nonaccrual loans
for which the ultimate collectability of principal is uncer-
tain are applied as principal reductions. Otherwise, such
collections are credited to income when received. AmSouth
determines past due or delinquency status of a loan based
on contractual payment terms.

AmSouth engages in both direct and leveraged lease
financing. The net investment in direct financing leases is
the sum of all minimum lease payments and estimated resid-
ual values, less unearned income. Unearned income is added
to interest income over the term of the leases to produce a
level yield. The investment in leveraged leases is the sum of
all lease payments (less nonrecourse debt payments), plus esti-
mated residual values, less unearned income. Income from
leveraged leases is recognized over the term of the leases
based on the unrecovered equity investment.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is determined based on vari-
ous components in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors
for Impairment of a Loan” (Statement 114) for individually
impaired loans and Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies” (Statement
5) for pools of loans. The allowance for loan losses is estab-
lished by a provision charged to operations when losses are
estimated to have occurred. Loan losses are charged against
the allowance when uncollectability of all or part of the loan
balance is confirmed. Any subsequent recoveries are credited
to the allowance.

The allowance for loan losses is maintained at a level
which is considered to be adequate to reflect estimated credit
losses for specifically identified loans, as well as estimated prob-
able credit losses inherent in the remainder of the loan
portfolio at the balance sheet date. Actual losses can vary
from Management’s estimates. A formal review of the allowance
for loan losses is prepared quarterly to assess the risk in the
portfolio and to determine the adequacy of the allowance
for loan losses. In determining the appropriate level for the
allowance, Management ensures that the overall allowance
appropriately reflects the current macroeconomic conditions,
industry exposure, and a margin for the imprecision inher-
ent in most estimates of expected credit losses. These factors
are reflected in an unallocated portion of the general allowance.
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Management reviews its allowance for loan losses versus the
actual performance of each of its portfolios and adjusts its
allocation rates to reflect the recent performance of the port-
folios, as well as current underwriting standards and other factors
which might impact the estimated inherent losses.

Impaired loans are specifically reviewed loans for which
it is probable that AmSouth will be unable to collect all
amounts due according to the terms of the loan agreement.
Impairment of a loan is measured by comparing the recorded
investment in the loan with the present value of expected
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest
rate, the loan’s observable market price, or the fair value of
the collateral if the loan is collateral-dependent. A valuation
allowance is provided to the extent that the measure of the
impaired loan is less than the recorded investment. A loan is
not considered impaired during a period of delay in pay-
ment if the ultimate collectability of all amounts due is
expected. Larger groups of homogenous loans such as con-
sumer installment, bankcard and residential real estate
mortgage loans are collectively evaluated for impairment.
Impaired loans are, therefore, primarily commercial and
commercial real estate loans. Payments received on impaired
loans for which the ultimate collectability of principal is
uncertain are generally applied first as principal reductions.
Impaired loans and other nonaccrual loans are returned to
accrual status if the loan is brought contractually current as
to both principal and interest, and future payments are rea-
sonably expected to continue and the repayment ability can
be reasonably demonstrated.

Commercial and commercial real estate loans and leases
are placed on nonaccrual status and generally charged-off
when payments or liquidation of collateral is not expected
to be sufficient to repay principal due, with the charge-off
occurring when available information reasonably confirms
that the loan is uncollectable and the loss is reasonably
quantifiable. Consumer loans secured by residential real
estate are generally charged-off to the extent principal and
interest due exceed 90% of the current appraised value of
the collateral and the loan becomes 180 days past due. All
other consumer loans are subject to mandatory charge-off
at a specified delinquency date and are usually not classi-
fied as nonperforming prior to being charged-off. Closed-end
consumer loans, which include automobile, student and
other installment loans, are generally charged-off in full
no later than when the loan becomes 120 days past due.
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Unsecured revolving credit loans, such as credit card loans,
are generally charged-off in full no later than when the
loan becomes 180 days past due.

Foreclosed Properties and Repossessions

Foreclosed properties are comprised principally of com-
mercial and residential real estate properties obtained in
partial or total satisfaction of nonperforming loans.
Repossessions are comprised of non-real estate properties,
including automobiles, obtained in partial or total satis-
faction of loans. Foreclosed properties and repossessions
are recorded at their estimated fair value less anticipated
selling costs based upon the property’s or item’s appraised
value at the date of transfer. Any differences between the
fair value of the property and the carrying value of the loan
are charged to the allowance for loan losses. Subsequent
changes in values are reported as adjustments to the car-
rying amount, not to exceed the initial carrying value of
the assets at the time of transfer. Gains or losses not previ-
ously recognized resulting from the sale of foreclosed
properties or other repossessed items are recognized on the
date of sale. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, AmSouth
had $19,609,000 and $32,616,000 of foreclosed properties,
respectively, and $2,498,000 and $4,986,000 of other
repossessed items, respectively.

Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumu-
lated depreciation and amortization, as applicable. The
provisions for depreciation and amortization are computed
generally by the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets or terms of the leases, as applica-
ble. The annual provisions for depreciation and amortization
have been computed principally using estimated lives of
five to forty years for premises and three to twelve years for
furniture and equipment.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets, primarily goodwill, are included in other
assets. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (Statement 142)
requires goodwill and certain other intangible assets to be tested
at least annually for impairment. AmSouth has determined
that its reporting units for purposes of this testing are its
reportable segments: Consumer Banking, Commercial

Banking and Wealth Management. AmSouth allocated good-
will to each reporting unit based on locations and revenue
contributions of past acquisitions.

The first step in this testing requires that the fair value
of each reporting unit be determined. If the carrying amount
of any reporting unit exceeds its fair value, goodwill impair-
ment may be indicated, and a second step of impairment
testing is required. If such were the case, AmSouth would
assume that the purchase price of the reporting unit is equal
to its fair value as determined in the first step and then allo-
cate that purchase price to the fair value of the unit’s assets
(excluding goodwill) and liabilities. Any excess of the assumed
purchase price over the fair value of the reporting unit’s assets
and liabilities represents the implied fair value of goodwill.
An impairment loss would be recognized, as a charge to earn-
ings, to the extent that the carrying amount of the reporting
unit’s goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill.

AmSouth uses the capital asset pricing model to deter-
mine the fair value of its reporting units and then compares
the computed fair value of each reporting unit with its car-
rying amount. Under Statement 142, if the fair value of a
particular reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, no
impairment is indicated and no further testing is required.
AmSouth performs the annual goodwill impairment test
during the fourth quarter as of October 1. As of October 1,
2004 and 2003, it was determined that no impairment existed.

Other identified intangible assets that have finite lives
are amortized over their estimated useful lives and are also
subject to impairment testing if events or changes in cir-
cumstances warrant such an evaluation. Other identified
intangibles, primarily core deposit intangibles, are amor-
tized over a period no greater than fifteen years. See Note 7
for additional information concerning AmSouth’s goodwill
and other intangible assets.

Interest Rate Contracts and Other Derivative
Financial Instruments
AmSouth has, from time to time, utilized various derivative
instruments such as interest rate swaps and forward con-
tracts to protect against the risk of adverse price or interest
rate movements on the value of certain assets and liabilities
and on future cash flows.

AmSouth carries all derivative instruments at fair value
as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheets. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
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“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” as amended (Statement 133), provides specific
accounting provisions for derivative instruments that qual-
ify for hedge accounting. To be eligible for hedge accounting
treatment, AmSouth must specifically designate a derivative
as a hedging instrument as well as identify the exact risk
being hedged. The derivative instrument then must meet
explicit effectiveness requirements under Statement 133 to
qualify for hedge accounting. During 2004 and 2003, AmSouth
had interest rate swaps and forward contracts designated
as fair value or cash flow hedges.

Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relation-
ship to mitigate exposure to changes in the fair value of an
asset, liability or firm commitment attributable to a partic-
ular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered to be fair
value hedges. Changes in the fair value of the derivative
instrument are recorded in noninterest revenues and are
offset by the fluctuations in the fair value of the risk being
hedged related to the hedged asset or liability. The corre-
sponding adjustment to the hedged asset or liability is
included in the basis of the hedged item, while the correspon-
ding change in the fair value of the derivative instrument is
recorded as an adjustment to other assets or other liabilities,
as applicable. AmSouth also enters into interest rate lock
commitments, which are commitments to originate loans
whereby the interest rate on the loan is determined prior to
funding and the customers have locked into that interest
rate. Accordingly, such commitments are recorded at fair
value with changes in fair value recorded in noninterest
income. Fair value is based on fees currently charged to enter
into similar agreements and for fixed-rate commitments also
considers the difference between current levels of interest rates
and the committed rates. AmSouth also has corresponding
forward sales commitments related to these interest rate
lock commitments, which are recorded at fair value with
changes in fair value recorded in noninterest income.

Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relation-
ship to mitigate exposure to variability in expected future
cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are
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considered to be cash flow hedges. For derivative instru-
ments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges,
the fair value of the derivative instrument is recorded in
the consolidated balance sheets as either a freestanding asset
or liability. The effective portion of the change in fair value
of the derivative instrument is recorded as a component of
other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings
in the same period or periods during which the hedged
transaction affects earnings. The remaining gain or loss on
the derivative instrument in excess of the cumulative change
in the present value of future cash flows of the hedged item,
if any, is recognized in noninterest revenue during the period
of change. For derivative instruments not designated as
hedging instruments, the derivative is recorded as a free-
standing asset or liability with the change in value being
recognized in current earnings during the period of change.

AmSouth, at the inception of any hedging relationship and
at least quarterly thereafter, performs a formal assessment to
determine whether changes in the fair values or cash flows
of the derivative instruments have been highly effective in off-
setting changes in the fair values or cash flows of the hedged
items and whether they are expected to be highly effective in
the future. Hedge accounting must be discontinued prospec-
tively when: (1) it is determined that the derivative is no
longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash
flows of a hedged itern; (2) the derivative expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised; (3) the hedged firm commitment no
longer meets the definition of a firm commitment; (4) it is
probable that the forecasted transaction will not occur by
the end of the specified time period; or (5) Management
determines that the fair value or cash flow hedge designation
is no longer appropriate.

When it is determined that the derivative no longer qual-
ifies as an effective fair value or cash flow hedge or Management
removes the hedge designation, the derivative will continue
to be recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at its fair
value, with changes in fair value recognized currently in
noninterest revenue. The asset or liability under a fair value
hedge will no longer be adjusted for changes in fair value
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and the existing basis adjustment is amortized to net inter-
est income. The component of other comprehensive income
related to discontinued cash flow hedges is amortized to net
interest income over the original term of the hedge contract.

When hedge accounting is discontinued because the
hedged item no longer meets the definition of a firm com-
mitment, or because it is probable that the forecasted
transaction will not occur by the end of the specified time period,
the derivative will continue to be recorded in the consoli-
dated balance sheets at its fair value, with changes in fair
value recognized currently in noninterest revenue. Any asset
or liability that was recorded pursuant to recognition of the
firm commitment is removed from the consolidated balance
sheets and recognized currently in noninterest revenue.
Gains and losses that were accumulated in other compre-
hensive income pursuant to the hedge of a forecasted transaction
are recognized immediately in noninterest revenue.

AmSouth enters into various derivative agreements with
customers desiring protection from possible adverse future
fluctuations in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates.
As an intermediary, AmSouth generally maintains a port-
folio of matched offsetting derivative agreements. These
contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting and are marked
to market through earnings and included in other assets
and other liabilities.

Income Taxes

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the accrual basis. When income and expenses are recognized
in different periods for financial reporting purposes and for
purposes of computing income taxes currently payable,
deferred taxes are provided on such temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the expected
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized
in the consolidated financial statements or tax returns.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to
be realized or settled.

Treasury Stock

The purchase of AmSouth common stock is recorded at cost.
At the date of the retirement or subsequent reissuance,
treasury stock is reduced by the cost of such stock with dif-
ferences recorded in additional paid-in capital or retained
earnings, as applicable.

Stock-Based Compensation

AmSouth has elected to follow APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees” (Opinion 25) and related
interpretations in accounting for its employee stock options.
Compensation cost for fixed and variable stock-based awards
is measured by the excess, if any, of the fair market price of
the underlying stock over the amount the individual is
required to pay. Compensation cost for fixed awards is mea-
sured at the grant date, while compensation cost for variable
awards is estimated until both the number of shares an indi-
vidual is entitled to receive and the exercise or purchase
price are known (measurement date). AmSouth recognizes
compensation expense related to the issuance of restricted
stock as prescribed by Opinion 25. Compensation expense
is recognized ratably over the life of the grant, which is typ-
ically one to three years, for restricted stock grants with
service-based vesting terms. AmSouth adopted the disclosure-
only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(Statement 123) which allows an entity to continue to mea-
sure compensation cost for those plans using the intrinsic
value-based method of accounting prescribed by Opinion 25.
AmSouth recognizes expense related to stock option grants
in its pro forma disclosures according to the accelerated
expense attribution model under FASB Interpretation No. 28,
“Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable
Stock Option Award Plans.”
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No option-based employee compensation cost is reflected
in reported net income, as all options granted had an exer-
cise price equal to the market value of the underlying
common stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense
related to restricted stock is reflected in the table below. For
purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value
of the options is amortized to expense over the options’

vesting period.The fair value for these options was esti-
mated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model. See Note 15 for a further description of the
assumptions used for preparing the pro forma disclosures
as prescribed by Statement 123. AmSouth’s pro forma
information follows (in thousands except for earnings per
share information):

2004 2003 2002
Net income:
As reported $ 623,498 $ 626,121 $ 609,147
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in
reported net income, net of tax 2,538 1,889 2,107
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value-based method
for all awards, net of related tax effects (33,082) (26,998) (26,648)
Pro forma $ 592,954 $ 601,012 $ 584,606
Earnings per common share:
As reported $ 1.77 $ 1.79 $ 1.70
Pro forma 1.68 1.72 1.63
Diluted earnings per common share:
As reported $ 1.74 $ 1.77 $ 1.68
Pro forma 1.66 1.70 1.62

Earnings Per Common Share

Earnings per common share is obtained by dividing net income
available to common stockholders by the weighted-average
outstanding shares of common stock. The diluted calculation
of earnings per common share is obtained by dividing net
income by the weighted-average outstanding shares of com-
mon stock adjusted for effects of stock options and restricted
stock outstanding. Certain members of Management and
directors have rights to be issued AmSouth common stock
in the future pursuant to deferred compensation plans. These
shares are considered outstanding for purposes of calculating
basic and diluted earnings per share. See Note 14 for the rec-
onciliation of the numerators and denominators of the earnings
per share and diluted earnings per share computations and Note
17 for a description of the deferred compensation plans.

Revenue Recognition

The largest source of revenue for AmSouth is interest rev-
enue. Interest revenue is recognized on an accrual basis driven
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by nondiscretionary formulas based on written contracts,
such as loan agreements or securities contracts. Loan origination
fees are amortized into interest income over the term of the
loan. Other credit-related fees, including letter of credit fees,
are recognized in noninterest income when earned. AmSouth
recognizes commission revenue and brokerage, exchange
and clearance fees on a trade date basis. Other types of
noninterest revenues such as service charges on deposits
and trust revenues are accrued and recognized into income
as services are provided and the amount of fees earned are
reasonably determinable.

Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of

Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities
AmSouth may periodically sell receivables, such as commer-
cial loans, residential mortgage loans and dealer loans, in
securitizations and to third-party conduits. When AmSouth
sells these receivables, it may retain a continuing interest in
these receivables in the form of interest-only strips, one or
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more subordinated tranches, servicing rights, or cash reserve
accounts. These retained interests are subject to the rules
contained in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities” (Statement 140).
Under these rules, the previous carrying amount of the assets
sold is allocated between the retained interests and the assets
sold based on their relative fair values at the date of trans-
fer. Any gain or loss on the sale of the receivables depends in
part on the previous carrying amount of the financial assets
involved in the transfer, allocated between the assets sold
and the retained interests based on their relative fair value
at the date of transfer. To obtain fair values, quoted market
prices are used, if available. However, quotes are generally
not available for retained interests, so AmSouth generally
estimates fair value based on the present value of expected
future cash flows using Management’s best estimates of the
key assumptions ~ expected credit losses, prepayment speeds,
weighted-average life, and discount rates commensurate
with the risks involved. In calculating prepayment rates,
AmSouth utilizes a variety of prepayment models depend-
ing on the loan type and specific transaction requirements.
The models used by AmSouth include the constant prepay-
ment rate model (CPR), the absolute prepayment speed
model (ABS) and the Bond Market Trade Association’s
Mortgaged Asset-Backed Securities Division’s prepayment
model (PSA). See Note 21 for the assumptions used by
AmSouth in 2004, 2003 and 2002. Servicing assets are recorded
in other assets and their amortization is determined in pro-
portion to, and over the period of, the estimated net servicing
income. Amortization is recorded in either mortgage income
for mortgage servicing assets or in other noninterest income
for servicing assets associated with non-mortgage loans.
On a quarterly basis, AmSouth ensures that any retained
interests are valued appropriately in the consolidated finan-
cial statements. Management reviews the historical performance
of each retained interest and the assumptions used to project
future cash flows. Assumptions are revised if past perform-
ance and future expectations dictate. The present value of cash
flows is then recalculated based on the revised assumptions.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

and Accounting Changes

In December 2003, the FASB issued a revision to Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 132, “Employers’
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirernent Benefits”
(Statement 132R). Statement 132R requires enhanced dis-
closures for defined benefit pension plans. Statement 132R
requires companies to provide more details about their plan
assets, investment strategy, measurement dates, benefit obli-
gations, cash flows, and components of net periodic benefit
cost recognized during interim periods. The disclosures
required by Statement 132R were effective for financial state-
ments with fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003,
except for disclosures regarding estimated future benefit
payments. Disclosures regarding estimated future benefit
payments were required for fiscal years ending after June
15, 2004. The interim-period disclosures required by this
statement were effective for interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2003. See Note 17 for the disclosures required
by this statement. As Statement 132R relates to changes in dis-
closures, its adoption did not have a material impact on
AmSouth’s consolidated financial condition or results of
operations.

In March 2004, the Securities and Exchange Commission
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 105, “Application of Accounting
Principles to Loan Commitments,” (SAB 105) to inform reg-
istrants of the Staff’s view that the fair value of recorded
loan commitments should not consider the expected future
cash flows related to the associated servicing of the future loan.
The provisions of SAB 105 must be applied to loan com-
mitments accounted for as derivatives that are entered into
after March 31, 2004. On April 1, 2004, AmSouth adopted
the provisions of SAB 105. AmSouth records the value of its
mortgage loan commitments at fair market value for mort-
gages it intends to sell. AmSouth does not currently include,
and was not including, the value of mortgage servicing or
any other internally developed intangible assets in the valu-
ation of its mortgage loan commitments. Therefore, the
adoption of SAB 105 did not have an impact on AmSouth’s
consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
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In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
which it subsequently revised in December 2003. Interpretation
46R addresses whether business enterprises must consolidate
the financial statements of entities known as “variable inter-
est entities” A variable interest entity is defined by Interpretation
46R to be a business entity which has one or both of the fol-
lowing characteristics: (1) The equity investment at risk is
not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities
without additional support from other parties, which is pro-
vided through other interests that will absorb some or all of
the expected losses of the entity; and (2) The equity investors
lack one or more of the following essential characteristics
of a controlling financial interest: (a) direct or indirect abil-
ity to make decisions about the entity’s activities through
voting rights or similar rights, (b) the obligation to absorb
the expected losses of the entity if they occur, which makes
it possible for the entity to finance its activities, or (c) the
right to receive the expected residual returns of the entity if
they occur, which is the compensation for risk of absorbing
expected losses. Interpretation 46R does not require con-
solidation by transferors to qualifying special purpose entities
and is effective no later than the end of the first interim or
annual period ending after December 15, 2003, to variable
interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and to vari-
able interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest
after that date. Interpretation 46R is effective no later than
the end of the first interim or annual period ending after
March 15, 2004, for entities created before February 1, 2003.
See discussion at Note 24 for additional information on the
impact of Interpretation 46R.

In December 2003, the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants issued SOP 03-3, “Accounting for Certain Loans
and Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer” (SOP 03-3).
SOP 03-3 addresses accounting for differences between con-
tractual cash flows expected to be collected and an investor’s
initial investment in loans or debt securities acquired in a
transfer if those differences are attributable, at least in part,
to credit quality. It includes loans and debt securities acquired
in purchase business combinations. SOP 03-3 limits the yield
that may be accreted (accretable vield) to the excess of the
investor’s estimate of undiscounted expected principal, inter-
est and other cash flows (cash flows expected at acquisition
to be collected) over the investor’s initial investment in the
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loan. SOP 03-3 requires that the excess of contractual cash flows
over cash flows to be collected (nonaccretable difference) not
be recognized as an adjustment of yield, loss accrual or
valuation allowance. SOP 03-3 prohibits investors from dis-
playing accretable yield and nonaccretable difference in the balance
sheet. Subsequent increases in cash flows expected to be col-
lected generally should be recognized prospectively through
adjustment of the loar's yield over its remaining life. Decreases
in cash flows expected to be collected should be recognized
as impairment. SOP 03-3 prohibits “carrying over” or cre-
ation of valuation allowances in the initial accounting of all
loans acquired in a transfer that are within the scope of SOP
03-3. The prohibition of the valuation allowance carryover applies
to the purchase of an individual loan, a pool of loans, a group
of loans, and loans acquired in a purchase business combi-
nation. SOP 03-3 is effective for loans acquired in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2004. The adoption of SOP
03-3 had no material impact on AmSouth’s consolidated
financial condition or results of operations.

Future Application of Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the FASB issued revised Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Share-Based
Payment” (Statement 123R). Statement 123R requires com-
panies to recognize in their financial statements the cost
resulting from all share-based payment transactions using a
fair value-based measurement model. Share-based payment
transactions include transactions in which the entity issues
stock, share options or other equity instruments in exchange
for goods or services. A fair value-based measurement model
requires the fair value of share-based payments issued to
nonemployees to be recorded at the fair value of the goods
or services received. For payments to employees, Statement
123R requires that share-based payments be recorded at
their fair value and be classified as either a liability or equity.
Entities are required to estimate the fair value of share-based
payments to employees using a mathematical model that
reflects the most accurate valuation given the information avail-
able and incorporates various factors, including exercise
price of the option, expected volatility of the entity’s stock,
expected term of the award, performance/service/market
conditions, expected dividends, the risk-free rate, and grant
date share price. Payments classified as liabilities are required
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to be remeasured at the end of each reporting period. The
fair value of awards classified as equity is required to be rec-
ognized over the requisite service period or the period during
which the employee is expected to provide service to earn the
award. Statement 123R replaces Statement 123 and super-
sedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees” (APB 25). Statement 123R will
become effective for AmSouth in reporting periods beginning
after June 15, 2005, requiring all share-based payments
granted or modified subsequent to the implementation date
to be accounted for under Statement 123R. AmSouth expects
to record quarterly compensation expense of approximately
$0.02 per share as a result of the adoption of Statement 123R
and has not yet determined the transition method. During
full implementation in 2005, AmSouth will be performing addi-
tional analyses to validate the various factors used in the
model as a result of the enhanced requirements of Statement
123R. The United States House of Representatives has passed
the “Stock Option Accounting Reform Act” (the “Bill”) that
requires public companies to expense the stock options
granted to certain highly compensated individuals. The Bill
is currently before the United States Senate. AmSouth will con-
tinue to monitor the outcome of the Bill and its potential
impact to its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”
or “Task Force”) reached a consensus on Issue 03-1, “Meaning
of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment” (Issue 03-1). The Task
Force reached a consensus on an other-than-temporary

impairment model for debt and equity securities accounted
for under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities” and cost method investments. The basic model
developed by the Task Force in evaluating whether an invest-
ment within the scope of Issue 03-1 is other-than-temporarily
impaired is as follows: Step 1) Determine whether the invest-
ment is impaired. An investment is impaired if its fair value
is less than its cost. Step 2) Evaluate whether the impair-
ment is other-than-temporary. Step 3) If the impairment is
other-than-temporary, recognize an impairment loss equal
to the difference between the investment’s cost and its fair value.
The three-step model used to determine other-than-
temporary impairments shall be applied prospectively to
all current and future investments in interim or annual
reporting periods beginning after final guidance is issued. On
September 30, 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position
EITF 03-1-1, “Effective Date of Paragraphs 10-20 of EITF Issue”
No. 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment
and Its Application to Certain Investments,” which delays
the effective date of paragraphs 10-20 (Steps 2 and 3) of
Issue 03-1 pertaining to measurement and recognition of
other-than-temporary impairment. The delay of the effective
date will be superseded concurrent with the final issuance of
FASB Staff Position EITF Issue 03-1-a, which is expected to
contain implementation guidance. The impact of adoption
of paragraphs 10-20 of Issue 03-1 will not be known until
the final implementation guidance is issued.
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NOTE 2 - AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES
The amortized costs of available-for-sale securities and the amounts at which they are carried (approximate fair market values)
at December 31 are summarized as follows:

2004 2003
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized  Carrying Amortized Unrealized Unrealized  Carrying
(In thousands) Cost Gains Losses  Amount Cost Gains Losses ~ Amount
U.S. Treasury and
federal agency
securities $ 85148 § 35 8§ 3055 $§ 82,128 $ 250471 $ 785 $ 4,493 $ 246,763
State, county and
municipal securities 47,369 1,880 53 49,196 52,776 3,093 -0- 55,869
Mortgage-backed
securities and
collateralized
mortgage obligations 5,879,561 21,995 58,808 5,842,748 6,364,040 56,884 63,817 6,357,107
Equity securities 340,471 2,128 1,141 341,458 417,601 357 569 417,389
Other debt securities 4,793 2,342 -0- 7,135 39,326 12,161 2,644 48,843
$ 6,357,342 $ 28,380 $ 63,057 $6,322,665 $7,124214 $ 73,280 $ 71,523 $ 7,125,971

The carrying amount and amortized cost of available-for-sale securities by maturity at December 31, 2004, are as follows:

Amortized Carrying

(In thousands) Cost Amount
Due within 1 year $ 5,666 $ 5,702
Due after 1 year through 5 years 21,699 24,855
Due after 5 years through 10 years 97,367 95,290
Due after 10 years 12,578 12,612
Mortgage-backed securities 5,879,561 5,842,748
Equity securities 340,471 341,458
$ 6,357,342 $ 6,322,665

J
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In 2004, 2003 and 2002, AmSouth realized gross gains of
$29,977,000, $45,475,000 and $13,869,000, respectively, and
gross losses of $3,357,000, $613,000 and $695,000, respec-
tively, on sales of available-for-sale securities. Included in
interest income on available-for-sale securities for 2004,
2003 and 2002 was $2,575,000, $2,919,000 and $3,531,000,
respectively, of interest income from tax-free state, county and
municipal securities. Equity securities included $278.8 mil-
lion and $342.5 million of amortized cost related to Federal
Reserve Bank stock and Federal Home Loan Bank stock as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, whose amor-
tized cost approximated carrying amount.

Available-for-sale securities with a carrying amount of
$3,946,028,000 and $3,509,621,000 at December 31,2004 and

2003, respectively, were pledged to secure short-term and
long-term borrowings, public deposits, trust deposits,
securities sold under repurchase agreements, and for other
purposes as required or permitted by law.

Provided below is a summary of available-for-sale securi-
ties which were in an unrealized loss position at December 31,
2004. The unrealized loss was comprised of 80 securities in
a continuous loss position for twelve months or more, which
consisted primarily of mortgage-backed securities. AmSouth
has the ability and intent to hold these securities until such
time as the value recovers or the securities mature. Further,
AmSouth believes the deterioration in value on these secu-
rities is attributable to changes in market interest rates and
not credit quality of the issuer.

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More
Carrying Unrealized Carrying Unrealized
(In thousands) Amount Losses Amount Losses
U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities $ 30,150 $ 839 $ 49066 $ 2,216
State, county and municipal securities -0- -0- 2,344 53

Mortgage-backed securities and

collateralized mortgage obligations 2,636,038 22,372 1,521,243 36,443
Equity securities 22,991 1,134 -0- -0-
$ 2,689,179 § 24,345 $ 1,572,653 $ 38,712

NOTE 3 - HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES

The amounts at which held-to-maturity securities are carried and their approximate fair market values at December 31

summarized as follows:

are

2004 2003
Gross Gross  Approximate Gross Gross  Approximate
Carrying Unrealized Unrealized Market Carrying Unrealized Unrealized Market
(In thousands) Amount Gains Losses Value Amount Gains Losses Value
U.S. Treasury and
federal agency
securities $ 52916 $ 952 § 102 $ 53766 $ 64,489 $ 543 § 138 § 64,894
State, county and
municipal securities 347,709 25,604 259 373,054 304,000 27,182 2 331,180
Mortgage-backed
securities and
collateralized
mortgage obligations 5,783,713 30,534 45,465 5,768,782 4,555,928 40,293 47,742 4,548,479
Other securities 3,672 177 -0- 3,849 3,778 225 -0- 4,003
$ 6,188,010 $ 57,267 $ 45,826 $6,199,451  $ 4,928,195 $ 68,243 $ 47,882 $ 4,948,556
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The carrying amount and approximate fair market value of held-to-maturity securities by maturity at December 31,

2004 are as follows:

Approximate

Carrying Market

(In thousands) Amount Value
Due within 1 year $ 8,130 $ 8,315
Due after 1 year through 5 years 32,135 34,437
Due after 5 years through 10 years 167,048 178,378
Due after 10 years 196,984 209,539
Mortgage-backed securities 5,783,713 5,768,782
$ 6,188,010 $ 6,199,451

There were no sales of held-to-maturity securities dur-
ing 2004, 2003 or 2002. Included in interest income on
held-to-maturity securities for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was
$16,397,000, $15,903,000 and $16,943,000, respectively, of
interest income from tax-free state, county and municipal
securities.

Held-to-maturity securities with a carrying amount of
$5,530,475,000 and $3,209,412,000 at December 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively, were pledged to secure short-term
and long-term borrowings, public deposits, trust deposits,
securities sold under repurchase agreements, and for other
purposes as required or permitted by law.

Provided below is a summary of held-to-maturity securi-
ties which were in an unrealized loss position at December 31,
2004. The unrealized loss was comprised of 75 securities
in a continuous loss position for twelve months or more,
which consisted primarily of mortgage-backed securities.
AmSouth has the ability and intent to hold these securities
until such time as the value recovers or the securities mature.
Further, AmSouth believes the deterioration in value is
attributable to changes in market interest rates and not
credit quality of the issuer.

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More

Unrealized Unrealized

(In thousands) Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses

U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities $ 6,441 % 83 $ 2216 % 19

State, county and municipal securities 13,429 259 -0- -0-
Mortgage-backed securities and

collateralized mortgage obligations 2,713,280 23,986 998,315 21,479

$ 2,733,150 $ 24,328 $ 1,000,531 $ 21,498
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NOTE 4 - LOANS

The major categories of loans net of unearned income at December 31 are summarized as follows:

Total commercial real estate
Consumer:
Residential first mortgages
Equity loans and lines
Dealer indirect
Revolving credit
Other consumer

Total consumer

2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands) Amount  Percent Amount  Percent
Commercial:
Commercial and industrial 5,740,153 17.5% $ 5,264,283 17.9%
Commercial loans secured by real estate 2,245,052 6.9 2,026,092 6.9
Commercial leases 2,179,074 6.6 1,962,437 6.7
Total commercial 10,164,279 31.0 9,252,812 31.5
Commercial real estate:
Commercial real estate mortgages 2,867,968 8.7 2,359,209 8.1
Real estate construction 3,008,313 9.2 2,327,512 7.9

5,876,281 17.9 4,686,721 16.0

5,081,775 15.5 3,646,329 12.4

7,756,745 236 7,005,061 23.9
3,312,120 10.1 3,610,005 12.3
27,230 0.1 550,521 1.9
582,907 1.8 587,915 2.0
16,760,777 51.1 15,399,831 52.5
32,801,337 100.0% $ 29,339,364 100.0%

Included in loans net of unearned income at December
31, 2004 and 2003 were $170,271,000 and $163,269,000,
respectively, of net deferred loan costs.

Included in commercial leases was $2,163,562,000 and
$2,094,424,000 of rentals receivable on leveraged leases,
$420,829,000 and $385,060,000 of estimated residuals on
leveraged leases, net of $763,709,000 and $796,189,000 of
unearned income on leveraged leases at December 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively. Pre-tax income from leveraged leases
for the years ending December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
was $81,627,000, $75,486,000 and $74,641,000, respec-
tively. The tax effect of this income was an expense of
$17,083,000, $13,989,000 and $10,691,000 for the years
ending December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
AmSouth transferred the responsibility for the management
of certain operations associated with lease assets located out-
side of the United States to a foreign subsidiary, thereby
lowering the effective tax rate on certain existing leveraged lease
investments. AmSouth intends to permanently reinvest earn-

ings of this foreign subsidiary and, therefore, in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes,” deferred taxes of $93.3 million,
$79.2 million and $64.2 million had not been provided as of
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, nonaccrual loans totaled
$88,488,000 and $110,153,000, respectively. The amount of
interest income actually recognized on these loans during
2004, 2003 and 2002 was approximately $1,760,000, $1,647,000
and $2,500,000, respectively. The additional amount of inter-
est income that would have been recorded during 2004, 2003
and 2002 if these loans had been current in accordance with
their original terms was approximately $6,045,000, $5,849,000
and $11,242,000, respectively. At December 31, 2004 and
2003, AmSouth had loans past due 90 days or more and still
accruing of $51,117,000 and $67,460,000, respectively.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the recorded invest-
ment in loans that were considered to be impaired was
$35,921,000 and $50,824,000, respectively (all of which were
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on a nonaccrual basis). There was approximately $5,390,000
and $14,223,000 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively, in the allowance for loan losses specifically allocated
to $21,696,000 and $34,456,000, respectively, of impaired
loans. No specific reserve was required for $14,225,000 and
$16,368,000 of impaired loans at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively. The average recorded investment in
impaired loans for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 was approximately $42,706,000, $73,487,000 and
$102,745,000, respectively. No material amount of interest
income was recognized on impaired loans for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

At December 31, 2004, AmSouth had $13.5 billion of

NOTE 5 - ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

loans pledged to secure borrowings from the Federal Home
Loan Bank. The loans pledged included commercial real
estate loans, residential first mortgage loans and equity loans
and lines.

Certain executive officers and directors of AmSouth and
their associates were loan customers of AmSouth during
2004 and 2003. Such loans are made in the ordinary course
of business at normal credit terms, including interest rates
and collateral, and do not represent more than a normal risk
of collection. Total loans to these persons at December 31,
2004 and 2003, amounted to approximately $27,373,000
and $36,941,000, respectively.

A summary of changes in the allowance for loan losses is shown below:

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Balance at January 1 $ 384,124 $ 381,579 $ 363,607
Loans charged-off (166,690) (220,058) (237,925)
Recoveries of loans previously charged-off 50,248 48,903 42,347
Net charge-offs (116,442) (171,155) (195,578)
Addition to allowance charged to expense 127,750 173,700 213,550
Reduction of allowance related to sold loans (28,658) -0- -0-
Balance at December 31 $ 366,774 $ 384,124 $ 381,579
NOTE 6 - PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Premises and equipment at December 31 are summarized as follows:
(In thousands) 2004 2003
Land $ 211,877 $ 158,360
Buildings 634,976 579,937
Furniture and fixtures 625,974 586,355
Software 187,911 159,894
Leasehold improvements 177,796 159,139
Construction in progress 129,433 131,228
1,967,967 1,774,913
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 907,393 810,221
$ 1,060,574 $ 964,692
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NOTE 7 - GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, AmSouth had goodwill
assets of $288.4 million included in other assets. The
balance of goodwill by reportable segment for December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 is listed below (in millions):

Consumer Banking $ 217.7
Commercial Banking 46.8
Wealth Management 23.9
Total $ 288.4

AmSouth has finite-lived intangible assets capitalized
in other assets on its balance sheets in the form of core
deposit intangibles. These intangible assets continue to be
amortized over their estimated remaining useful lives, which
range from 1 to 2 years. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the
gross carrying amount of core deposit intangibles was $32.9
million and $52.1 million, with accumulated amortization
of $28.3 million and $43.4 million, respectively. The aggre-
gate amortization expense recorded on core deposit intangibles
during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $4.2 million, $4.8 million
and $5.2 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the amortization expense,
in thousands, on core deposit intangibles over the next five years:

2005 $ 2,585
2006 1,991
2007 -0-
2008 -0-
2009 -0-

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, AmSouth also had a
nonamortizing intangible asset of $7.2 million and $3.7 mil-
lion, respectively, associated with a minimum pension liability
related to an unfunded pension obligation.

See Note 21 for information concerning mortgage servicing
rights and related amortization.

NOTE 8 - DEPOSITS

The aggregate amount of time deposits of $100,000 or more,
including certificates of deposit of $100,000 or more, was
$4,443,392,000 and $3,254,031,000 at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

At December 31, 2004, the aggregate maturities, in thou-
sands, of time deposits are summarized as follows:

2005 $ 6,468,176
2006 1,880,864
2007 509,759
2008 176,870
2009 429,392
Thereafter 11,014

$ 9,476,075
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NOTE 9 - SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
Short-term borrowings at December 31 are summarized as follows:

(in thousands) 2004 2003
Federal funds purchased $ 1,208,673 $ 505,319
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 1,083,315 1,520,934
Total federal funds purchased and securities sold
under agreements to repurchase 2,291,988 2,026,253
Treasury, tax and loan notes: 264,745 292,441
Term federal funds purchased 115,958 -0-
Commercial paper 1,597 3,965
Other borrowings 46,798 46,796
Total other borrowed funds 429,098 343,202
Total short-term borrowings $ 2,721,086 $ 2,369,455

The average rates paid on federal funds purchased and 2002, respectively. The average rates paid on other borrowed
securities sold under agreements to repurchase, including  funds were 2.94%, 2.99% and 4.41% for the years ended
the effects of interest rate swaps, were 1.40%, 0.95% and  December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

1.38% for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and

NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt at December 31 is summarized as follows:

(In thousands) 2004 2003
Long-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances $ 4,371,745 $ 5,737,952
Other long-term debt:
4.85% Subordinated Notes Due April 2013 (Issued by AmSouth Bank) 496,918 496,545
6.45% Subordinated Notes Due February 2018 (Issued by AmSouth Bank) 301,534 302,031
6.125% Subordinated Notes Due March 2009 174,815 174,770
6.75% Subordinated Debentures Due November 2025 149,985 149,968
7.75% Subordinated Notes Due May 2004 -0- 149,962
7.25% Senior Notes Due May 2006 99,905 99,833
6.625% Subordinated Notes Due December 2005 49,947 49,894
90-Day London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) floating-rate Bank Notes 800,000 450,000
2.82% Fixed-rate Bank Notes 200,000 200,000
Long-term securities sold under agreements to repurchase 601,000 -0-
Other long-term notes payable 401 620
Statement 133 valuation adjustments 25,268 40,859
Total other long-term debt 2,899,773 2,114,482
Total long-term debt $ 7,271,518 $ 7,852,434
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Long-term advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank
(FHLB) had maturities ranging from 2005 to 2024 and had
weighted-average interest rates of 3.79% at December 31,
2004, and 4.15% at December 31, 2003. These advances had
a combination of fixed and floating rates. Of the balances
outstanding at December 31, 2004, $4.2 billion is callable
by the FHLB. If called, these FHLB advances are convert-
ible by AmSouth. The convertible feature provides that after
a specified date in the future, the advances will remain at a
fixed rate or AmSouth will have the option to pay off the
advance or convert from a fixed rate to a variable rate based
on a LIBOR index. In 2004, AmSouth extinguished $1.25
billion in FHLB advances and incurred an extinguishment
loss as a result of prepayment costs of $129.6 million. Under
the Blanket Agreement for Advances and Security Agreement
with the FHLB, commercial real estate loans, residential
mortgage loans, mortgage-backed securities and home
equity lines and loans are pledged as collateral for the
FHLB advances outstanding. See Notes 2, 3 and 4 for
securities pledged and loans pledged to the FHLB at
December 31, 2004.

The 6.45% Subordinated Notes Due February 2018 were
issued with embedded put and call options that could require

AmSouth Bank to repurchase the notes at face value on
February 1, 2008. If the bank does not repurchase the debt,
the interest rate on the notes will be reset on February 1,
2008, based on a set formula. The 6.125% Subordinated
Notes Due March 2009 may be redeemed by AmSouth prior
to March 1, 2009, at the greater of 100% of the principal
amount or an amount based on a preset formula. The 6.75%
Subordinated Debentures Due November 2025 may be
redeemed on November 1, 2005, at the option of the regis-
tered holders thereof. All other Subordinated Notes and the
Senior Notes are not redeemable prior to maturity.

At December 31, 2004, long-term securities sold under
agreements to repurchase consisted of agreements to repur-
chase $622.9 million of Federal National Mortgage Association
(FNMA) and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
{(FHLMC) securities. These securities have been delivered to
the counterparty and are classified as available-for-sale.
These agreements had a weighted-average interest rate of
3.36% and the carrying amount was $621.8 million at
December 31, 2004.

The aggregate stated maturities, in thousands, of long-term
debt outstanding at December 31,2004, are summarized as
follows:

Other

FHLB Advances Long-Term Debt

2005 $ 100,000 $ 507,519
2006 -0- 449,905
2007 275,784 800,000
2008 340,448 12,489
2009 350,000 190,496
Thereafter 3,305,513 939,364
$ 4,371,745 $ 2,899,773

AmSouth uses interest rate swaps to hedge the change in
fair value of Subordinated Notes and the cash flows associ-
ated with other long-term debt as part of its interest rate
management strategy. Interest rate swaps hedging the fair
value of Subordinated Notes require AmSouth to pay vari-
able interest rates based on a LIBOR index. The modified
weighted-average interest rates on other long-term debt
including the effect of interest rate swaps were 2.74%, 3.09%

and 3.96% during the years ending December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. See Note 11 for further discussion of
AmSouth’s use of interest rate swaps.

At December 31, 2004, unused capacity under AmSouths
shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission totaled $325 million. This shelf reg-
istration can be utilized by AmSouth to issue senior or
subordinated debt securities up to the available capacity.
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NOTE 11 - DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL AGREEMENTS
AmSouth uses a variety of derivative financial instruments
to enable it to manage its exposure to changes in interest rates.
AmSouth also enters into similar instruments to help cus-
tomers manage their exposure to interest rate and foreign
currency fluctuations and to finance international activities.

Interest rate swaps are agreements to exchange interest pay-
ments computed on notional amounts. Swaps subject AmSouth
to market risk associated with changes in interest rates, as
well as the credit risk that another party will fail to perform.

Forward contracts provide AmSouth and its customers
a means of managing the risks of changing interest rates and
foreign exchange rates. These contracts represent commit-
ments either to purchase or sell securities, loans, other money
market instruments or foreign currency at a future date and
at a specified price. AmSouth is subject to the market risk asso-
ciated with changes in the value of the underlying financial
instrument as well as the credit risk that another party will
fail to perform. The gross contract amount of forward con-
tracts represents the extent of AmSouth’s involvement.
However, those amounts significantly exceed the future cash
requirements as AmSouth intends to close out open trad-
ing positions prior to settlement and thus is subject only to
the change in value of the instruments. The gross amount of
forward contracts represents AmSouth’s maximum expo-
sure to credit risk.

Market risk resulting from a position in a particular
derivative financial instrument may be offset by other bal-
ance sheet transactions. AmSouth monitors overall sensitivity
to interest rate changes by analyzing the net effect of poten-
tial changes in interest rates on the market value of both
derivative and other financial instruments and the related
future cash flow streams. Certain derivative contracts also pre-
sent credit risk because the counterparty may not meet the
terms of the contract. Credit risk, which excludes the effects
of any collateral or netting arrangements, is measured as the
cost to replace, at current market rates, contracts in a prof-
itable position. The amount of this exposure is represented
by the gross unrealized gains on derivative and foreign
exchange contracts. To mitigate credit risk, AmSouth deals
exclusively with counterparties that have high credit rat-
ings. AmSouth also manages the credit risk of counterparty
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defaults in these transactions by limiting the total amount of
arrangements outstanding, both by individual counterparty
and in the aggregate, and by monitoring the size and matu-
rity structure of the derivative portfolio. AmSouth requires
collateralization by a counterparty on credit exposure above
a specified credit limit. AmSouth also manages its exposure
to credit risk by entering into master netting arrangements
with interest rate swap and foreign exchange counterpar-
ties. These arrangements effectively reduce credit risk by
permitting settlement, on a net basis, of contracts entered
into with the same counterparty. AmSouth has not experi-
enced any material credit losses associated with derivative or
foreign exchange contracts.

INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT:

As part of managing interest rate risk, AmSouth uses a vari-
ety of derivative instruments to mitigate the risk of interest
rate movements affecting the value of certain assets and lia-
bilities or future cash flows. The nature and volume of derivative
instruments used by AmSouth to manage interest rate risk related
to loans, deposits, short-term debt, and long-term debt depend
on the level and type of these on-balance-sheet items and
AmSouth’s risk management strategies given the current and
anticipated interest rate environment. Note 1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements includes a summary of how derivative
instruments used for interest rate risk management are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements.

Hedging Strategies

AmSouth has entered into interest rate swap agreements for
interest rate risk exposure management purposes. The fol-
lowing table presents the notional amount, fair value, pay
structure, year-to-date ineffectiveness and weighted-
average maturity related to the applicable type of hedge.
There were no components of derivative instruments which
were excluded from the assessment of hedge ineffectiveness
during 2004, 2003 or 2002. AmSouth’ credit exposure related
to interest rate swaps used for interest rate risk management
purposes was $43.3 million and $55.9 million at December
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. This amount represents the
unrealized gains on these derivative instruments.
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2004
Ineffectiveness
Income/  Weighted-
Notional Fair Value (Expense) Average
(in millions)  (in thousands) Pay  (inthousands) Maturity
Fair Value Hedges
Interest rate swaps hedging time deposits $ 33 $ (196) Variable $ -0- 1.50yrs
Interest rate swaps hedging long-term debt 900 20,228 Variable 33 6.04
Cash Flow Hedges
Interest rate swaps hedging loans 1,300 (41,697) Variable 17 3.45
Interest rate swaps hedging long-term bank notes 200 1,222 Fixed 7 2.75
Interest rate swaps hedging federal funds purchased 1,000 9,798 Fixed (7) 2.12
Forward-starting interest rate swaps hedging the
forecasted issuance of long-term debt 450 (5,575) Fixed -0- 10.17
2003
Ineffectiveness
Income/  Weighted-
Notional Fair Value (Expense) Average
(in millions)  (in thousands) Pay (inthousands) Maturity
Fair Value Hedges
Interest rate swaps hedging time deposits $ 33 $ 281 Variable $ (233 2.50y1s
Interest rate swaps hedging long-term debt 1,000 37,216 Variable (409} 6.52
Cash Flow Hedges
Interest rate swaps hedging loans 1,475 (33,428) Variable (37) 397
Interest rate swaps hedging long-term bank notes 400 (161) Fixed -0- 1.92
Interest rate swaps hedging federal funds purchased 350 (255) Fixed 10 2.05

In 2002, AmSouth recognized $2.6 million and $48 thou-
sand in expense related to the ineffective portion of its fair
value hedges and cash flow hedges, respectively. The $1 bil-
lion of interest rate swap agreements hedging the anticipated
reissuance of federal funds purchases at December 31, 2004,
referenced in the table above, effectively convert a portion
of federal funds purchased to fixed rate. Approximately $300
million of these swaps expire in 2005, $50 million expire in
2006 and $650 million expire in 2007.

During 2004, AmSouth entered into forward-starting
interest rate swap agreements in the notional amount of
$450 million to hedge the future semi-annual interest pay-
ments on the forecasted issuance of ten-year subordinated debt.
At December 31, 2004, AmSouth also had $100 million
notional value of swaps that no longer qualified for hedge
accounting. These swaps had previously been designated as

fair value hedges of corporate debt. During the third quar-
ter of 2004, these hedging relationships were determined to
no longer be highly effective as defined by Statement 133
and AmSouth ceased hedge accounting on these swaps.
These swaps that lost hedge accounting mature in the fourth
quarter of 2005. During 2004, AmSouth terminated $600
million of swaps that had been designated as hedging long-
term floating rate bank notes. The amount related to the
effective portion of these hedging relationships will be amor-
tized into net interest income over the remaining life of the
long-term floating rate bank notes. At December 31, 2003,
AmSouth had $125 million notional value of swaps that no
longer qualified for hedge accounting. These swaps matured
in the first quarter of 2004. Ineffectiveness for both fair value
and cash flow hedges is reported in other noninterest revenue.
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During 2003, AmSouth began designating forward con-
tracts to hedge the fair value of specific pools of mortgage loans
held for sale against changes in interest rates. In addition to
the forward contracts treated as hedges under Statement
133, AmSouth’s derivative portfolio also included forward
contracts entered into to offset the impact of changes in
interest rates on AmSouth’s mortgage pipeline designated
for future sale, also referred to as interest rate lock commit-
ments. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, AmSouth had $112.9
million and $103.0 million, respectively, in open forward
contracts. Statement 133 also requires AmSouth to treat its
mortgage banking interest rate lock commitments as deriv-
atives. Accordingly, the change in the fair value of the forward
contracts entered into to hedge the mortgage pipeline, while
not qualifying as hedges under Statement 133, is somewhat
offset by changes in the fair value of the mortgage pipeline.
The mark-to-market of the forward contracts, the interest rate
lock commitments and mortgage loans held for sale was not
material to AmSouth. The impact of hedge ineffectiveness was
also not material to AmSouth. See Note 1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for an additional discussion of AmSouth's
accounting policy associated with these contracts.

During 2005, AmSouth expects to reclassify out of other
comprehensive income and into earnings approximately
$5.8 million in expense due to the receipt of variable inter-
est on its hedged variable rate loans and the payment of
interest on its long-term bank notes, federal funds purchased
and other long-term debt.

Customer Derivatives

In addition to using derivative contracts as an interest rate
risk management tool, AmSouth also enters into various
derivative instruments to help its corporate customers man-
age their exposure to interest rate and foreign currency
fluctuations. To mitigate the interest rate risk associated
with these customer contracts, AmSouth enters into offset-
ting derivative contract positions. AmSouth manages its
credit risk or potential risk of default by its corporate cus-
tomers through credit limit approval and monitoring
procedures. Both the derivative contracts entered into with
its customers and the offsetting derivative positions are
recorded at their estimated fair value. Market value changes
on these derivative instruments are recognized in nonin-
terest revenue in the period of change. At December 31,
2004, AmSouth had $50.3 million recorded in other assets
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and $50.0 million recorded in other liabilities associated
with $4.5 billion notional amount of open interest rate con-
tracts. At December 31, 2003, AmSouth had $84.8 million
recorded in other assets and $84.1 million recorded in other
liabilities associated with $3.9 billion notional amount of
open interest rate contracts. At December 31, 2004, AmSouth
also had $166,000 in recorded asset balances and $116,000
in recorded liability balances associated with $32 million
notional amount of open foreign exchange contracts. At
December 31, 2003, AmSouth had $463,000 in recorded
asset balances and $430,000 in recorded liability balances
associated with $11 million in notional amount of open for-
eign exchange contracts. The asset balances, or unrealized gains,
represent AmSouth’s credit exposure related to these inter-
est rate and foreign exchange contracts.

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND
GUARANTEES

AmSouth issues off-balance sheet financial instruments in
connection with commercial and consumer lending activ-
ities. The credit risk associated with these instruments is
essentially the same as that involved in extending loans to
customers and is subject to AmSouth’s credit policies.
Collateral is obtained based on Management’s assessment
of the customer. Credit risk associated with these instru-
ments is represented by the contractual amounts indicated
in the following table:

December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003
Unused commitments

to extend credit $ 19,284,111 $ 20,040,048
Standby letters

of credit 3,301,812 3,120,022
Commercial

letters of credit 52,457 43,512

Unused Commitments to Extend Credit

Commitments to extend credit are legally binding agreements
to lend to a customer, provided there is no violation of any
condition established in the contract. These commitments
generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination
clauses and may require payment of a fee, which is recog-
nized ratably over the life of the commitment. Since many
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commitments expire without being drawn upon, the total
contractual amount of commitments does not necessarily
represent future cash requirements of AmSouth but does
represent the maximum potential amount of future payments
that could be required to be made.

Standby Letters of Credit

AmSouth, as part of its ongoing business operations, issues
financial guarantees in the form of financial and perfor-
mance standby letters of credit. Standby letters of credit are
contingent commitments issued by AmSouth generally to
guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party. A
financial standby letter of credit is a commitment by AmSouth
to guarantee a customer’s repayment of an outstanding loan
or debt instrument. In a performance standby letter of credit,
AmSouth guarantees a customer’s performance under a con-
tractual nonfinancial obligation for which it receives a fee.
AmSouth has recourse against the customer for any amount
it is required to pay to a third party under a standby letter
of credit. Revenues are recognized ratably over the life of the
standby letter of credit. At December 31, 2004, AmSouth
had standby letters of credit outstanding with maturities
ranging from less than one year to eleven years. The con-
tractual amount of standby letters of credit represents the
maximum potential amount of future payments AmSouth
could be required to make and represents AmSouth’s max-
imum credit risk. At December 31, 2004, AmSouth had $44.0
million of liabilities associated with standby letters of credit
agreements entered into subsequent to December 31, 2002,
as a result of AmSouth’s adoption of Interpretation 45 on
January 1, 2003. Standby letters of credit agreements entered
into prior to January 1, 2003, have a carrying value of zero.
AmSouth holds collateral to support standby letters of credit
when deemed necessary. The fair value of cash collateral
held at December 31, 2004 was $63.2 million.

Commercial Letters of Credit

Commercial letters of credit are issued to facilitate foreign or
domestic trade transactions. Under the terms of a commer-
cial letter of credit, as a general rule, drafts will be drawn
when the underlying transaction is consummated as intended.
Since the conditions requiring AmSouth to fund letters of
credit may not occur, AmSouth expects its liquidity require-
ments to be less than the total outstanding commitments.

Conduit Transactions

AmSouth provides the credit enhancements associated with
its conduit securitizations by providing standby letters of
credit. At December 31, 2004, AmSouth had $79.0 million
of letters of credit supporting its conduit transactions.
AmSouth also provides liquidity lines of credit related to its
conduit securitizations to support the issuance of commer-
cial paper under 364-day commitments. These liquidity
lines can be drawn upon in the unlikely event of a com-
mercial paper market disruption or other factors, such as
credit rating downgrades of one of the asset-backed com-
mercial paper issuers or AmSouth, as the provider of the
credit support, which could prevent the asset-backed com-
mercial paper issuers from being able to issue commercial paper.
At December 31, 2004, AmSouth had liquidity lines of credit
supporting these transactions of $1.2 billion.

Margin Guarantees

AmSouth Investment Services, Inc. (AIS), a subsidiary of
AmSouth, guarantees the margin account balances issued
by its brokerage clearing agent on behalf of its customers.
If a customer defaults on the margin account, AIS has guar-
anteed to the brokerage clearing agent to buy in the account
s0 as to bring the account into compliance with applicable
margin or maintenance requirements. The margin account
balance as of December 31, 2004 was $32.3 million. The total
potential margin guarantee for AIS was $301.5 million as of
December 31, 2004, which is equal to 70% of customers’
account balances. In the event a customer defaults, AmSouth
would have recourse to the customer. AmSouth has no liability
recorded on its balance sheets related to this agreement.

Other Commitments and Contingencies
AmSouth and its subsidiaries lease land, premises and equip-
ment under cancelable and noncancelable leases, some of
which contain renewal options under various terms. The
leased properties are used primarily for banking purposes.
The total rental expense on operating leases for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $65,782,000,
$63,186,000 and $63,297,000, respectively. Rental income
received related to bank premises for 2004, 2003 and 2002
was $6,050,000, $8,370,000 and $8,562,000, respectively.
There were no material contingent rental expenses for 2004,
2003 or 2002.
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Future minimum payments, in thousands, by year and
in the aggregate, for noncancelable operating leases with
initial or remaining terms of one year or more consisted of
the following at December 31, 2004:

2005 $ 55,066
2006 53,859
2007 51,603
2008 49,360
2009 48,529
Thereafter 321,176

$ 579,593

Various legal proceedings are pending against AmSouth
and its subsidiaries. Some of these proceedings seek relief
or allege damages that are substantial. The actions arise in
the ordinary course of AmSouth’s business and include
actions relating to its imposition of certain fees, lending,
collections, loan servicing, deposit taking, investment, trust,
and other activities. Because some of these actions are com-
plex and for other reasons, it may take a number of years to
finally resolve them. Although it is not possible to deter-
mine with certainty AmSouth’s potential exposure from
these proceedings, based upon legal counsel’s opinion,
Management considers that any liability resulting from the
proceedings would not have a material impact on the finan-
cial condition or results of operations of AmSouth,

AmSouth’s federal and state income tax returns are sub-
ject to review and examination by government authorities.
In the normal course of these examinations, AmSouth is
subject to challenges from federal and state authorities regard-
ing amounts of taxes due. These challenges may alter the
timing or amount of taxable income or deductions, or the allo-
cation of income among tax jurisdictions. AmSouth is currently
under examination by a number of the states in which it
does business. AmSouth is also under examination by the
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for the years ended December
31,2000 through December 31,2002. AmSouth is currently
appealing the assessments proposed by the IRS in its exam-
ination report for the years ended December 31, 1998,
September 30, 1999 and December 31, 1999 with respect to
AmSouth’s tax treatment of certain leveraged lease transac-
tions that were entered into during the years under examination.
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Management believes that AmSouth’s treatment of these
leveraged lease transactions was in compliance with existing
tax laws and regulations and intends to vigorously defend
its position. Management does not expect that resolution of
the state or IRS audit issues will have a material impact on
AmSouth’s financial position or operating results.

NOTE 13 - SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

AmSouth offers a Direct Stock Purchase and Dividend
Reinvestment Plan, whereby investors can purchase shares
of common stock directly from AmSouth and reinvest div-
idends to acquire shares of common stock. Shareholders
may invest additional cash up to $10,000 per transaction
and $120,000 in any calendar year with no brokerage com-
missions or fees charged.

AmSouth has a Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement
which attaches a Right to every common share outstanding.
Each Right entitles its registered holder, upon occurrence of
certain events, to purchase from AmSouth one one-thou-
sandth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock, without par
value, for $88.89, subject to adjustment for certain events.
The Rights will be exercisable only if a person or group
acquires 15% or more of AmSouth’s common stock or com-
mernces a tender offer that will result in such person or group
owning 15% or more of AmSouth’s common stock. The Rights
may be redeemed by action of the Board for $.0044 per Right.

On September 19, 2001, AmSouth’s Board approved a
plan to repurchase up to 25,000,000 shares of its outstand-
ing common stock over a two-year period. During 2003 and
2002, AmSouth purchased 7,672,000 and 13,274,000, respec-
tively, at a cost of $156,881,000 and $272,103,000, respectively,
under this authorization. This authorization expired dur-
ing the third quarter of 2003.

On April 17, 2003, AmSouth’s Board approved a plan
to repurchase up to 25,000,000 shares of the Company’s
outstanding common stock. The common shares may be
repurchased in the open market or in privately negotiated
transactions. The reacquired common shares will be held as
treasury shares and may be reissued for various corporate
purposes including employee benefit programs. During
2004 and 2003, AmSouth repurchased 2,134,000 and
291,000 shares, respectively, at a cost of $50,999,000 and
$6,211,000, respectively, which were primarily executed
under this authorization.
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At December 31, 2004, there were 2,287,000 shares reserved for issuance under the Direct Stock Purchase and Dividend
Reinvestment Plan, 56,976,000 shares reserved for issuance under stock compensation plans (32,235,000 shares represent
stock options outstanding), 979,000 shares reserved under the AmSouth deferred compensation plans, and 1,035,000 shares
reserved for issuance under the employee stock purchase plan for a total of 61,277,000 shares.

In 2004, AmSouth increased its dividend per share to $0.97 per common share, compared to $0.93 in 2003 and $0.89
in 2002.

NOTE 14 - EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of earnings per common share and diluted earnings per common share:

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Earnings per common share computation:
Numerator:
Net income $ 623,498 $ 626,121 $ 609,147
Denominator:
Average common shares outstanding 352,533 350,237 358,176
Shares issuable under deferred compensation arrangements 151 -0- -0-
Average common shares outstanding — basic 352,684 350,237 358,176
Earnings per common share $ 1.77 $ 1.79 $ 1.70
Diluted earnings per common share computation:
Numerator:
Net income $ 623,498 $ 626,121 $ 609,147
Denominator:
Average common shares outstanding 352,533 350,237 358,176
Shares issuable under deferred compensation arrangements 151 -0- -0-
Dilutive effect of options issued 5,268 4,071 4,153
Average common shares outstanding — diluted 357,952 354,308 362,329
Diluted earnings per common share $ 1.74 $ 1.77 $ 1.68

The effect from assurmed excercise of 960 thousand, 2.8 million and 12.4 million shares of stock options was not included
in the computation of diluted earnings per common share for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, because such shares
would have had an antidilutive effect on earnings per share.
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NOTE 15 - LONG-TERM INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLANS
AmSouth has long-term incentive compensation plans which
permit the granting of incentive awards in the form of stock
options, restricted stock awards and stock appreciation rights
{(at December 31, 2004, there were no stock appreciation
rights outstanding). Generally, the terms of these plans stip-
ulate that the exercise price of options may not be less than
the fair market value of AmSouth’s common stock at the
date the options are granted. Options granted generally vest
between one and three years from the date of the grant which
is determined on the grant date by the Human Resources
Committee of the Board. All of the options granted during

2004 and 2003 expire ten years from the date of grant. All other
options granted generally expire not later than ten years
from the date of the grant.

Statement 123 requires pro forma information regard-
ing net income and earnings per share. This pro forma
information has been determined as if AmSouth had accounted
for its employee stock options under the fair value method
of that statement. The fair value of these options was estimated
at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following weighted-average assumptions for
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively:

2004 2003 2002
Risk-free rate 3.92% 3.81% 4.92%
Dividend yield 3.99% 4.49% 4.36%
Volatility factor 30.88% 31.40% 31.39%
Expected life 7.0 yrs 7.0yrs 7.0 yrs
Fair Value $ 569 $ 449 $ 493

The following table summarizes AmSouth’ stock option activity and related information during 2002, 2003 and 2004:

Number Exercise Price ~ Weighted-Average

of Options Range per Share Exercise Price

Balance at January 1, 2002 21,332,021 $ 431 - $3292 $ 17.28
Options exercised (2,376,150) 431 - 2242 13.90
Options forfeited (1,044,674) 6.11 - 2749 21.15
Options granted 8,932,100 18.33 - 22.81 20.42
Balance at December 31, 2002 26,843,297 5.14 - 3292 18.43
Options exercised (5,161,082) 514 - 2255 15.48
Options forfeited (1,331,716) 6.23 - 31.21 19.58
Options granted 9,392,150 1931 - 2396 20.53
Balance at December 31, 2003 29,742,649 634 - 3292 19.56
Options exercised (5,052,627) 6.34 - 24.69 17.69
Options forfeited (1,629,468) 8.12 - 2632 21.31
Options granted 9,174,000 2202 - 26.67 24.31
Balance at December 31, 2004 3292 21.09

32,234,554 775 -

Of the options outstanding at December 31, 2004, those
options granted since January 1, 2002, had vesting periods
between one and three years from the date of grant. All other
options outstanding were exercisable. At December 31, 2004,
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2003 and 2002, options exercisable totaled 16,309,744,
15,456,677 and 12,055,611, respectively, and had a weighted-
average exercise price per share of $19.67, $18.70 and $18.23,
respectively.
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The following table presents the weighted-average remaining life as of December 31, 2004, for options outstanding

within the stated exercise price ranges.

Outstanding Exercisable 1
Exercise Price Number of Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Number of Weighted-Average
Range Per Share Options Exercise Price Remaining Life Options Exercise Price
$7.75-$10.80 252,431 $5.07 0.61 years 252,431 $9.07
11.97-17.44 6,004,679 16.46 5.48 years 6,004,679 16.46
17.54 - 26.10 25,020,774 22.03 7.92 years 9,101,464 21.12
26.32-32.92 956,670 28.87 4.07 years 951,170 28.89

AmSouth also has issued common stock as restricted stock awards to key officers with the restriction that they remain
employed with AmSouth for periods of one to three years or longer. The following table summarizes AmSouth’s restricted
stock grants and the weighted-average fair values at grant date:

2004 2003 2002
Shares granted 193,426 102,438 166,028
Weighted-average fair value of restricted stock granted during the year $ 24.89 $ 20.83 $ 2068

NOTE 16 - REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS
Capital is the primary tool used by regulators to monitor
the financial health of insured banks and savings institu-
tions. The Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation have historically had similar capital
adequacy guidelines involving minimum leverage capital
and risk-based capital requirements. Under the capital ade-
quacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt
corrective action, AmSouth and its banking subsidiary must
meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative
measures of their assets, liabilities and certain off-balance
sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting prac-
tices. The capital amounts and classification are also subject
to qualitative judgments by the regulators about compo-
nents, risk weightings and other factors. Based on the
risk-based capital rules and definitions prescribed by the
banking regulators, should an institution’s capital ratios
decline below predetermined levels, it would become subject
to a series of increasingly restrictive regulatory actions.
AmSouth and its subsidiary bank are required to have core

capital (tier 1) of at least 4% of risk-weighted assets, total cap-
ital of 8% of risk-weighted assets and a leverage ratio of 3%
of adjusted quarterly average assets. Tier 1 capital consists prin-
cipally of shareholders’ equity, excluding unrealized gains
and losses on securities available-for-sale and the effective
portion of cash flow hedges, less goodwill and certain other
intangibles. Total capital consists of tier 1 capital plus certain
debt instruments and the reserve for credit losses, subject
to limitation. The leverage ratio reflects tier 1 capital divided
by average assets for the quarter. Average assets used in the
calculation exclude certain intangible and mortgage servic-
ing assets. The regulations also define well-capitalized levels
of tier 1 capital, total capital and leverage as ratios of 6%, 10%
and 59, respectively, for banking entities. AmSouth’s bank-
ing subsidiary had tier 1 capital, total capital and leverage
ratios above the well-capitalized levels at December 31, 2004
and 2003. Management believes that no changes in conditions
or events have occurred since December 31, 2004, which
would result in changes that would cause AmSouth Bank to
fall below the well-capitalized level.
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The actual capital ratios and amounts for AmSouth and AmSouth Bank are as follows:

2004 2003

(Dollars in thousands) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Tier 1 capital:

AmSouth $ 3,323,938 8.05% $ 2,958,787 7.71%

AmSouth Bank 3,507,133 8.49 3,313,759 8.65
Total capital:

AmSouth $ 4,514,004 10.93% $ 4,302,469 11.22%

AmSouth Bank 4,557,365 11.04 4,442,698 11.59
Leverage:

AmSouth $ 3,323,938 6.73% $ 2,958,787 6.66%

AmSouth Bank 3,507,133 7.10 3,313,759 7.46

On October 12, 2004, AmSouth entered into a deferred
prosecution agreement with the U.S. Attorney for the Southern
District of Mississippi relating to deficiencies in AmSouth
Bank’s reporting of suspicious activities under the Bank
Secrecy Act. At the same time, AmSouth entered into a cease
and desist order with the Federal Reserve and the Alabama
Department of Banking, as well as an order with the Financial
Crimes Enforcement Network, relating to AmSouth’s defi-
ciencies in compliance with the Bank Secrecy Act. Provided
that AmSouth complies with the obligations under the
deferred prosecution agreement for a period of twelve
months, the U.S. Attorney has agreed not to take further
action against the Company in connection with this matter.
The Federal Reserve has also indicated it will restrict the
Company’s expansion activities, including the branch expan-
sion program, until such time as it believes that AmSouth
is in substantial compliance with the requirements of the
cease and desist order. Pursuant to the settlement agree-
ments, AmSouth has taken additional actions to ensure
compliance with the Bank Secrecy Act. Among other things,
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these actions include independent third-party reviews of
all of the Company’s activities related to compliance with the
Bank Secrecy Act, enhanced training of personnel, sub-
mission of a revised compliance program, and the adoption
of new policies and procedures.

AmSouth’s banking subsidiary is required to maintain
reserve balances with the Federal Reserve Bank based on a
percentage of deposits reduced by its cash on hand. The
average amount of those reserves was approximately $12,973,000
and $17,211,000 for the years ended December 31,2004 and
2003, respectively.

Certain restrictions exist regarding the ability of bank-
ing subsidiaries to transfer funds to the parent Company as
loans, advances or dividends. The subsidiary bank can ini-
tiate dividend payments in 2005, without prior regulatory
approval, of an amount equal to $208.9 million plus its net
profits for 2005, as defined by statute. Substantially all of
the parent Company’s retained earnings at December 31,
2004 and 2003, represented undistributed earnings of its
banking subsidiary.
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NOTE 17 - PENSION AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
AmSouth sponsors the Retirement Plan, a noncontributory
defined benefit pension plan (the “pension plan”), covering
substantially all regular full-time employees and part-time
employees who regularly work one thousand hours or more
each year. Benefits are generally based on years of service
and the employee’s earnings during the five consecutive cal-
endar years out of the last ten years of employment that
produce the highest average. Actuarially determined pen-
sion costs are charged to current operations using the projected
unit credit method. AmSouth’s funding policy is to con-
tribute an amount that meets the minimum funding
requirements set forth in the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, plus such additional allowable amounts
as the Company determines to be appropriate.

AmSouth also sponsors a nonqualified Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”). The SERP provides
benefits that would otherwise be denied to participants under
the pension plan because of Internal Revenue Code limita-
tions on qualified plan benefits, as well as additional benefits
that serve to attract and retain senior executives. There are
two types of retirement benefits in the SERP: a regular ben-
efit and a targeted benefit. The annual average covered

compensation for both benefits is based on the highest three
consecutive years of base salary plus bonus out of the last
ten years worked. The amount of the regular SERP retirement
benefit is determined by the length of the retiree’s credited
service up to 35 years. Participants vest in this benefit after
five years of service or attainment of age 55. The regular
SERP benefit is available to all eligible SERP participants.
The targeted SERP retirement benefit is available only to a
select group of senior officers, including executive officers.
The targeted SERP benefit provides a percentage of annual
average covered compensation based on years of credited
service ranging from 40% at 10 years up to a maximum of
65% at 35 years.

In addition to pension benefits, AmSouth provides postre-
tirement medical plans to all current employees who retire
between the ages of 55 and 65 with five calendar years of
service and provides certain retired and grandfathered retired
participants with postretirement healthcare benefits past
age 65. Postretirement life insurance is also provided to a
grandfathered group of employees and retirees. Costs asso-
ciated with these postretirement benefit plans are charged to
current operations based on actuarial calculations.
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AmSouth uses a September 30 measurement date for its plans. The following table summarizes the change in benefit obli-
gation and plan assets and the funded status of the pension and other postretirement plans at September 30, 2004 and 2003:

Retirement Plans Other Postretirement Benefits
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2004 2003
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 712,280 $ 618,194 $ 41,922 $ 48,619
Service cost 21,433 18,813 807 854
Interest cost 42,057 40,118 2,324 2,513
Amendments 4,922 -0- -0- (9,190)
Actuarial loss 59,683 67,692 (592) 2,498
Benefits and expenses paid (32,658) (32,537) (3,646) (3,372)
Benefit obligation at end of period $ 807,717 $ 712,280 $ 40,815 $ 41,922
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period $ 710,322 § 558,183 $ 4,516 $ 4,463
Actual return on plan assets 80,717 93,709 55 148
Employer contributions 25,917 90,967 -0- -0-
Benefits and expenses paid (32,658) (32,537) (225) (95)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period 784,298 710,322 4,346 4,516
Funded status (23,419) (1,958) (36,469) (37,406)
Unrecognized actuarial loss 310,330 282,684 15,123 16,993
Unamortized prior service cost (credit) 4,055 (821) (5,396) (6,266)
Unrecognized net transition obligation 1,348 1,540 348 391
Prepaid/(accrued) benefit cost at September 30 292,314 281,445 (26,394) (26,288)
Employer contributions from October 1
to December 31 170 146 759 714
Prepaid/(accrued) benefit cost at December 31 $ 292,484 $ 281,591 $  (25,635) $ (25,574)
Amounts recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets:
Prepaid benefit cost $ 323,005 $ 305,126 $ 181 $ 518
Accrued benefit liability (57,649) (40,907) (25,816) (26,092)
Intangible asset 7,156 3,668 -0- -0-
Other comprehensive income 19,972 13,704 -0- -0-
Net amount recognized $ 292,484 $ 281,591 $  (25,635) $  (25574)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $747,878,000 and $674,189,000 as of
September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Information for the SERP, which has an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:

SERP
(In thousands) 2004 2003
Projected benefit obligation $ 65277 $ 47,072
Accumulated benefit obligation 57,649 40,907
Fair value of plan assets -0- -0-

Net periodic benefit cost/(credit) includes the following components for the years ended December 31:

Retirement Plans Other Postretirement Benefits

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Service cost $ 21,433 $ 18,813 $ 15,510 $ 807 $ 854 3 915
Interest cost 42,057 40,118 38,001 2,324 2,513 3,208
Expected return on plan assets (64,793) (61,346) {61,576) (213) (239) (243)
Amortization of prior service

cost/{credit) 46 (300) (300) (870) (870) 93
Amortization of transitional

obligation/(asset) 192 192 192 43 43 221
Recognized actuarial loss 16,113 1,633 367 1,030 1,038 775
Net periodic benefit (credit)/cost $ 15,048 $  (890) $ (7,806) $ 3,121 $ 3,339 $ 4,969

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at September 30 (the measurement date):

Retirement Plans Other Postretirement Benefits
2004 2003 2004 2003

Weighted-average discount rate 5.85% 6.00% 5.85% 6.00%
Rate of annual compensation increase 5.00 3.75 N/A N/A

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31:

Retirement Plans Other Postretirement Benefits
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Weighted-average discount rate 6.00% 6.65% 7.50% 6.00% 6.65% 7.50%
Weighted-average expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets 8.50 8.75 9.50 5.00 5.50 6.50
Weighted-average rate of annual
compensation increase 413 4.40 5.25 N/A N/A N/A
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The 8.50% long-term weighted-average expected rate of return on plan assets for determining net periodic pension
cost for 2004 was chosen by AmSouth from a range of best estimates based upon the anticipated long-term returns and long-
term volatility for asset categories based on the target asset allocation of the plans.

The following table summarizes the estimated benefits to be paid (in thousands) in the following periods:

Other

Retirement Postretirement

Plans Benefits

2005 $ 32,668 $ 3,690
2006 33,968 3,742
2007 35,771 3,692
2008 39,001 3,808
2009 40,816 3,965
2010-2014 243,094 19,901

The expected benefits above were estimated based on
the same assumptions used to measure AmSouth’s benefit
obligation at December 31, 2004, and includes benefits attrib-
utable to estimated future employee service.

For measurement purposes, the increase in the per capita
cost of covered healthcare benefits varies by medical bene-
fit and date of retirement. For the majority of participants,
AmSouth’s subsidies for all medical benefits are capped at a

level dollar amount. For a grandfathered group of retirees,
the rates are graded, starting at 11.0% in 2004 and drop-
ping to an ultimate rate of 5.0% in ten years. Assumed
healthcare cost trend rates have an insignificant effect on
the costs and the liabilities reported for the healthcare plan.

A one-percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost
trend rates would have the following effects:

1-Percentage 1-Percentage

(In thousands) Point Increase Point Decrease
Effect on total of service cost and interest cost components 3 19 $ (19)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 205 (200)

AmSouth’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at September 30, 2004 and 2003, by asset category, are as follows:

2004 2003
Asset Category:

Large Cap Equity Securities 35% 34%
Small/Mid Cap Equity Securities 15 14
Debt Securities 32 27
International Securities 14 10
Other 4 15
Total 100% 100%
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The pension plan is invested in a diversified manner to
provide consistent returns. The portfolio as of September
30, 2004 was in transition. The AmSouth Benefits Committee
decided at its November 2003 meeting to diversify the port-
folio by adding small cap value, real estate and hedge funds
as limited portions of the portfolio. The search for appro-
priate vehicles for these new asset classes has been completed,
and new managers have been hired. Implementation was
completed in the fourth quarter of 2004. The Plan now has
65% in equities and 35% in bonds. The equity portion will
consist of 25% large cap domestic stocks, 15% small/mid
cap domestic stocks, 15% international stocks, 5% in real
estate investment trusts and 5% in hedge funds. The equity
portion of the Plan is further diversified among managers
and styles and between active and passive investing.

The pension plan has a portion of its investments in
AmSouth common stock. The number of shares and
the market value of the common stock were 1,080,307
and $26,359,000, respectively, as of September 30, 2004,
which represents approximately 3% of plan assets at
September 30, 2004. Dividends paid on the AmSouth
common stock totaled $1,026,000 during the most recent
plan year.

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, AmSouth’s other postre-
tirement benefit plans were invested 100% in fixed income
securities. The primary objective of this strategy is preser-
vation of principal to meet future insurance policy premiums.
The target asset allocations are 90% to 100% fixed income
with the remainder in cash.

Company contributions to the pension plan and SERP
totaled $26 million in 2004. AmSouth expects to make con-
tributions of approximately $0.7 million to the SERP and
approximately $3.2 million to its other postretirement ben-
efit plans in 2005.

On December 8, 2003, the President signed the Medicare
Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of
2003 (the Act) into law. The Act introduces a prescription
drug benefit under Medicare (Medicare Part D) as well as
a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree healthcare benefit plans
that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent
to Medicare Part D. The assumptions and measures con-
tained in this note relating to the postretirement benefit
plans do not reflect any amount associated with the sub-
sidy because AmSouth has not yet concluded whether the
benefits provided by the plans are actuarially equivalent to
Medicare Part D under the Act.

Other Plans

The AmSouth Thrift Plan (the “thrift plan”) is a defined
contribution plan that covers substantially all regular full-
time employees and part-time employees who regularly
work one thousand hours or more each year. The thrift
plan utilizes a thrift formula and contains a cash or deferred
arrangement under Internal Revenue Code Section 401 (k).
AmSouth matches pre-tax contributions dollar for dollar
on the first 6% of base pay that each employee contributes
to the thrift plan. After-tax contributions to the thrift plan
are matched at 50 cents for every dollar contributed by an
employee through the first 6% of base pay. Employees
may make both pre-tax and after-tax contributions, but
no matching contributions are made on any employee
contributions above 6%, with pre-tax contributions
being matched first. Effective January 1, 2005, company-
matching contributions were changed to dollar for dollar
matching on the first 4% of base pay contributed to the thrift
plan. All company-matching contributions are made in
AmSouth common stock and are allocated to the AmSouth
common stock investment option. Effective March 1, 2002,
participants were allowed to transfer company-matching
contributions out of the AmSouth common stock invest-
ment option to other investment options at any time. The
cost of the thrift plan for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 was $17.9 million, $16.8 million and $15.8
million, respectively. The thrift plan held 6,922,325 shares
of AmSouth common stock at December 31, 2004, and
received $6,657,000 in dividends on AmSouth common
stock for the year ended December 31, 2004.

AmSouth has adopted the AmSouth Bancorporation
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “employee stock pur-
chase plan”), which allows all employees who work more
than 20 hours per week to purchase shares of common stock.
Under the employee stock purchase plan, an employee may
invest up to $2,000 each calendar year in purchases of
AmSouth common stock, and AmSouth will contribute a
matching 25% toward the purchase. Participants are immediately
vested in the company match. Additional purchases of up to
$8,000 may be made on an unmatched basis with no admin-
istrative or brokerage fees charged. The cost of the employee
stock purchase plan for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 was $842,000, $660,000 and $774,000, respec-
tively. Under the employee stock purchase plan, 172,957 and
185,070 shares of AmSouth common stock were purchased
during 2004 and 2003, respectively, with weighted-average
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fair values of $21.26 and $20.47, respectively. Refer to Note
13 for shares reserved for issuance under the employee stock
purchase plan.

AmSouth maintains a deferred compensation plan, which
was amended and restated as of January 1, 2000, and an
amended and restated deferred compensation plan for Directors
of AmSouth Bancorporation (the “deferred compensation
plans”). Members of Management and highly compensated
employees are eligible to participate in the former and Directors
of AmSouth are eligible to participate in the latter. Under
the deferred compensation plans, a participant may elect to
defer a portion (from 25% to 100%) of his or her annual
bonus (or a portion of his or her retainer and meeting fees in
the case of Directors) into a deferred stock account. The
deferral election must specify a payment date, which may
not be sooner than the third anniversary of the first day of the
plan year to which the deferral relates. The cash amount of
the bonus being deferred is exchanged for an equivalent num-
ber of “deemed” shares of AmSouth common stock based on
the fair market value of such stock. That number of shares of
AmSouth common stock will be distributed to the participant
on the selected payment date. The participant may elect to have
such shares distributed in a lump sum or in installments,
but must make such election in advance of the deferral. All
deferred amounts are fully vested and are not subject to for-
feiture. The shares held by the deferred compensation plans
are considered outstanding for purposes of calculating basic

NOTE 18 - INCOME TAXES

and diluted earnings per share. Effective January 1, 2005,
contributions to the deferred compensation plan are deemed
to mirror the participants’ thrift plan elections and distri-
butions are made in cash.

AmSouth maintains an executive incentive plan and a
management incentive plan (the “incentive plans”), which are
designed to align Executive Officer pay, as well as the pay
of certain members of Management, with the annual per-
formance of AmSouth and the annual performance of the
respective area of responsibility; as applicable. Traditionally,
the two factors which have been used to measure AmSouth’s
performance for purposes of the incentive plans were growth
in earnings per share and return on average equity. The
Human Resources Committee of the Board may also eval-
uate performance for purposes of the incentive plans by
considering one or more factors (e.g., return on average
assets, credit quality measures, efficiency ratio, loan growth,
deposit growth, or noninterest revenue growth). Payments
under the incentive plans are based on a percentage of the
employee’s base pay, multiplied by a factor based on the
Company’s results or the employee’s performance rating.
The Human Resources Committee may use its discretion
to adjust payments downward from these amounts. The
expense associated with the incentive plans was $25,916,000,
$25,109,000 and $27,714,000 for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The provisions for inceme taxes charged to earnings are summarized as follows:

Years Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Current tax expense:
Federal $ 94,028 $ 18,855 $ 44,433
State 2,951 2,406 1,525
96,979 21,261 45,958
Deferred tax expense
Federal 172,691 216,467 191,806
State 30,311 27,287 24,918
203,002 243,754 216,724
$ 299,981 $ 265,015 $ 262,682
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The differences between the actual income tax expense and the amount computed by applying the statutory federal
income tax rate to income before income taxes are as follows:

Years Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Tax at statutory federal income tax rate $ 323,218 $ 311,897 $ 305140
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefits 21,620 19,300 17,188
Tax exempt interest (8,302) (8,317) (8,898)
Bank owned life insurance income (20,184) (21,552) (24,273)
Penalty 17,500 -0- -0-
Lease residual option benefit (14,058) (15,005) (17,152)
Tax credits (14,566) (8,254) (5,793)
Other (5,247) (13,054) (3,530)

$§ 299,981 $ 265,015 $ 262,682

The significant temporary differences that created deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

(In thousands) 2004 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Loan loss reserves $ 140,225 $ 147,434
Mortgage servicing rights 14,459 13,331
State net operating loss carryforwards 18,785 21,911
Statement 133 equity adjustment 13,488 11,843
Other 27,874 24,321
214,831 218,840
Deferred tax liabilities:
Leasing activities (1,237,824) (1,062,123)
Depreciation (9,355) (8,598)
Employee benefits (67,212) (57,750)
Statement 115 equity adjustment 13,324 (241)
Other (32,025) (22,953)
(1,333,092) (1,151,665)
Net deferred tax liability $ (1,118,261) $  {932,825)
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AmSouth has a deferred state tax asset of $18.8 million
resulting from net operating loss carryforwards. These car-
ryforwards begin expiring in 2005, with the last one expiring
in 2024. There was no valuation allowance recorded in 2004
because it is more likely than not that all deferred tax assets
will be realized.

AmSouth’s federal and state income tax returns are sub-
ject to review and examination by government authorities.
In the normal course of these examinations, AmSouth is
subject to challenges from federal and state authorities
regarding amounts of taxes due. These challenges may alter
the timing or amount of taxable income or deductions, or
the allocation of income among tax jurisdictions. AmSouth
is currently under examination by a number of the states in
which it does business. AmSouth is also under examina-
tion by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for the years

ended December 31, 2000 through December 31, 2002.
AmSouth is currently appealing the assessments proposed
by the IRS in its examination report for the years ended
December 31, 1998, September 30, 1999 and December 31,
1999 with respect to AmSouth’s tax treatment of certain
leveraged lease transactions that were entered into during
the years under examination. Management believes that
AmSouth’s treatment of these leveraged lease transactions
was in compliance with existing tax laws and regulations
and intends to vigorously defend its position. Management
does not expect that resolution of the state or IRS audit
issues will have a material impact on AmSouth’s financial posi-
tion or operating results. As a result of the resolution of
certain tax matters, AmSouth was able to reduce its tax
accrual by $2,382,000 and $11,725,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

NOTE 19 - OTHER NONINTEREST REVENUES AND OTHER NONINTEREST EXPENSES

The components of other noninterest revenues and other noninterest expenses are as follows:

Years Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Other noninterest revenues:
Interchange income $ 77,642 $ 67,404 $ 63,429
Bank owned life insurance policies 48,417 52,216 59,899
Gains on sales of available-for-sale securities 26,620 44,862 13,174
Mortgage income 21,192 51,181 24,148
Other portfolio income 2,493 8,583 4,337
Gain on sale of credit card loans 166,103 -0- -0-
Other 115,602 120,520 101,927
$ 458,069 $ 344,766 $ 266914
Other noninterest expenses:
Postage and office supplies $ 45,191 $ 47,050 $ 49,091
Professional fees 41,732 32,579 31,051
Marketing 38,392 36,504 35,609
Communications 24,151 28,218 28,438
Amortization of intangibles 4,169 4,793 5,161
Settlement agreements and related professional fees 53,972 -0- -0-
FHLB prepayment cost 129,648 -0- -0-
Other 173,045 167,408 155,731
$ 510,300 $ 316,552 $ 305,081
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NOTE 20 - BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

AmSouth has three reportable segments: Consumer Banking,
Commercial Banking and Wealth Management. Each of these
units provides unique products and services to a variety of cus-
tomer groups and has its own management team. Consumer
Banking delivers a full range of financial services to individ-
uals and small businesses. Services include loan products
such as residential mortgages, equity lending, credit cards, and
loans for automobile and other personal financing needs,
and various products designed to meet the credit needs of small
businesses. In addition, Consumer Banking offers various
deposit products that meet customers’ savings and transac-
tion needs. Commercial Banking meets corporate and
middle market customers’ needs with a comprehensive array
of credit, treasury management, international, and capital
markets services. Included among these are several specialty
services such as real estate finance, asset-based lending, and
commercial leasing. Wealth Management is comprised of
trust, institutional, retirement, private client services (PCS)
and broker-dealer services, and provides primarily fee-based
income. Wealth Management includes not only traditional
trust services, but also a substantial selection of investment
management services including AmSouth’s proprietary
mutual fund family, This area also includes commercial and
consumer loan and deposit products associated with PCS
customers. Treasury & Other is comprised of balance sheet
management activities that include the investment portfo-
lio, nondeposit funding and gains and losses associated with
derivative hedging strategies. Treasury & Other also includes
income from bank owned life insurance policies, gains and
losses on sales of fixed assets and other assets, expenses
related to the settlement agreements and related professional
fees, gains related to the sale of the credit card portfolio,
expenses related to the FHLB prepayment cost, and corpo-
rate expenses such as corporate overhead and the amortization

of core deposit intangibles for all years shown. In addition,
Treasury & Other includes the reversal of revenues and
expenses associated with PCS customers’ loan and deposit
balances to eliminate any double counting which occurs as
a result of including these revenues and expenses in the
Wealth Management segment as well as in either the
Commercial or Consumer segments.

AmSouth evaluates performance and allocates resources
based on profit or loss from operations. The accounting poli-
cies of the reportable segments are the same as those described
in Note 1, except that AmSouth uses matched maturity trans-
fer pricing to fairly and consistently assign funds costs to
assets and earnings credits to liabilities with a corresponding
offset in Treasury & Other. AmSouth allocates noninterest
expenses to match revenues based on various activity sta-
tistics. AmSouth is disclosing net interest income in lieu of
interest income. Performance is assessed primarily on net
interest income by the chief operating decision makers.
Excluding the internal funding and the impact of recording
PCS customer revenue and expenses in Wealth Management,
AmSouth does not have intracompany revenues or expenses.
The provision for loan losses for each segment reflects the net
charge-offs in each segment. The difference between net
charge-offs and the provision is included in Treasury &
Other. Additionally, segment income tax expense is calcu-
lated using the marginal tax rate. The difference between
the marginal and effective tax rate is included in Treasury &
Other. Management reviews average assets by segment.

AmSouth operates primarily in the United States; accord-
ingly, geographic distribution of revenue and long-lived assets
in other countries is not significant. Revenues from no indi-
vidual customer exceeded 10% of consolidated total revenues.
AmSouth’s segments are not necessarily comparable with
similar information for any other financial institution.
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The following table details AmSouth’s business segment results for the years ended December 31:

Consumer Commercial Wealth Treasury &

(In thousands) Banking Banking Management Other Total
2004
Net interest income before

internal funding $ 809,092 $ 471,637 $ 164,183 $ 31,113 $ 1,476,025
Internal funding 313,384 (44,236) (1,844) (267,304) -0-
Net interest income/(expense) 1,122,476 427,401 162,339 (236,191) 1,476,025
Noninterest revenues 474,596 139,192 201,262 217,092 1,032,142
Total revenues 1,597,072 566,593 363,601 (19,099) 2,508,167
Provision for loan losses 90,863 15,257 1,394 20,236 127,750
Noninterest expenses 770,272 189,006 211,670 285,990 1,456,938
Income/(Loss) before income taxes 735,937 362,330 150,537 (325,325) 923,479
Income taxes 276,712 136,236 56,602 (169,569) 299,981
Segment net income/(loss) 3$ 459,225 $ 226,094 $ 93,935 $  (155756) § 623,498
Revenues from external customers $ 1,283,688 $ 610,829 $ 188,867 3 424,783 $ 2,508,167
Ending assets 21,567,643 13,380,237 5,329,178 9,271,313 49,548,371
Average assets 21,194,037 12,520,354 4,718,065 9,578,169 48,010,625
Average loans 19,739,572 11,494,932 4,690,615 (4,683,132) 31,241,987
Average deposits 23,010,869 7,430,051 3,560,653 (1,986,597) 32,014,976
2003
Net interest income before

internal funding $ 791,932 $ 458,809 $ 146,510 $ 17,384 $ 1,414,635
Internal funding 320,545 (60,493) (17,988) (242,064) -0-
Net interest income/(expense) 1,112,477 398,316 128,522 (224,680) 1,414,635
Noninterest revenues 448,654 126,241 177,728 103,155 855,778
Total revenues 1,561,131 524,557 306,250 (121,525) 2,270,413
Provision for loan losses 138,890 26,092 1,064 7,654 173,700
Noninterest expenses 736,386 179,713 201,650 87,828 1,205,577
Income/(Loss) before income taxes 685,855 318,752 103,536 (217,007) 891,136
Income taxes 257,881 119,851 38,930 (151,647) 265,015
Segment net income/(loss) $ 427,974 $ 198,901 $ 64,606 3 (65,360) § 626,121
Revenues from external customers $ 1,240,586 $ 585,050 $ 167,761 $ 277,016 $ 2,270,413
Ending assets 19,791,586 11,504,000 3,938,731 10,381,199 45,615,516
Average assets 19,381,919 11,245,087 3,608,971 8,494,539 42,730,516
Average loans 18,129,878 10,366,385 3,576,554 (3,561,658) 28,511,159
Average deposits 22,480,766 5,350,696 3,023,035 (2,271,881) 28,582,616
2002
Net interest income before

internal funding $ 764,814 $ 506,921 $ 138,078 $ 62,827 $ 1,472,640
Internal funding 338,734 (130,161) (29,785) (178,788) -0-
Net interest income/(expense) 1,103,548 376,760 108,293 (115,961) 1,472,640
Noninterest revenues 368,428 120,352 187,902 62,679 739,361
Total revenues 1,471,976 497,112 296,195 (53,282) 2,212,001
Provision for loan losses 144,136 42,130 911 26,373 213,550
Noninterest expenses 700,408 174,923 187,360 63,931 1,126,622
Income/{Loss) before income taxes 627,432 280,059 107,924 (143,586) 371,829
Income taxes 235,914 105,302 40,580 (119,114) 262,682
Segment net income/(loss) $ 391,518 $ 174,757 $ 67,344 $ (24,472)  § 609,147
Revenues from external customers $ 1,133,242 $ 627,273 $ 180,263 $ 271,223 $ 2,212,001
Ending assets 18,514,111 10,858,314 3,253,880 7,944,967 40,571,272
Average assets 17,222,587 10,742,399 3,107,998 7,491,584 38,564,568
Average loans 15,879,082 10,035,327 3,045,782 (3,038,422) 25,921,769
Average deposits 21,799,402 4,029,766 2,179,741 (2,065,375) 25,943,534
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NOTE 21 - TRANSFERS AND SERVICING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
During 2004, 2003 and 2002, AmSouth sold commercial
loans to third-party, multi-issuer conduits. In years prior to
2002, AmSouth also sold dealer loans to third-party multi-
issuer conduits and sold dealer loans and residential mortgage
loans in securitization transactions in which AmSouth
retained servicing responsibilities. In addition, AmSouth
has previously retained an interest in excess interest spreads
and in some cases, subordinated interests. In 2004, AmSouth
exercised its cleanup call on a previous dealer securitization.
Also in 2004, AmSouth purchased the remaining beneficial
interests of $13,509,000 in a dealer conduit and, as a result,
is now consolidating this entity. As part of the sale and secu-
ritization of loans to conduits, AmSouth provides credit
enhancements to the conduits in the form of letters of credit for
which liabilities of $2,792,000, $4,474,000 and $6,247,000 were
recorded at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

AmSouth also provides liquidity lines of credit to support the
issuance of commercial paper under 364-day loan commit-
ments. These liquidity lines can be drawn upon in the unlikely
event of a commercial paper market disruption or other fac-
tors, which could prevent the asset-backed commercial paper
issuers from being able to issue commercial paper. AmSouth
had liquidity lines of credit supporting these conduit trans-
actions of $1.2 billion and $1.6 billion at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively. No gains or losses were recog-
nized on commercial loans sold to third-party conduits nor
was any retained interest recorded due to the relatively short
life of the commercial loans sold into the conduits (average
life of 30 days).

The following table summarizes amounts recognized in
the consolidated financial statements related to guaranteed
mortgage loan securitization transactions to federal agen-
cies for the years ended December 31:

gain of $1,138,000 and a servicing asset of $544,000 associated with the transaction.

(In thousands) 2004@ 2003 2002
Principal sold $ 1,228,132 $ 1,775,834 $ 232,708
Net gains 10,732 28,341 3,324
Servicing retained 1,015 -0- 1,817

® During 2003, AmSouth sold $65,888,000 in residential mortgages, where AmSouth retained the servicing associated with those mortgages and received $66,941,000 in cash.
Due to recourse provisions of the sale, the transaction was accounted for as a secured borrowing in 2003. The recourse provisions lapsed in 2004 at which time AmSouth recorded a

The following table summarizes the key assumptions used in the calculation of retained servicing and the gain or loss

on the sales and securitization transactions:

2004 2003

Guaranteed Guaranteed 2002

Residential Residential Residential

Mortgage Mortgage Mortgage

Securitization Securitization Securitization

Valuation assumptions at the time of the transactions:

Discount rate 9.50% 9.50% 8.75%

Prepayment rate 298 PSA 314 PSA 483 PSA

Weighted-average life (years) 6.39 5.95 3.59

Expected credit losses 0.35% 0.35% N/A
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Provided in the table below is information concerning cash flows received from and paid to third parties in connection
with guaranteed mortgage loan securitizations and third-party conduits during 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Guaranteed
Residential Residential

Mortgage Mortgage Dealer Dealer
(Dollars in millions) Securitization Conduit Conduit Securitization
2004:
Proceeds from sales $ 1,1914 N/A N/A N/A
Servicing fees and retained interests $ 0.8 $ 261 $ 3.2 $ 8.8
2003:
Proceeds from sales $ 1,801.0 N/A N/A N/A
Proceeds from sales accounted for as secured borrowings $ 669 N/A N/A N/A
Servicing fees and retained interests $ 1.5 $ 442 $ 102 $ 4.4
2002:
Proceeds from sales $ 2376 N/A N/A N/A
Servicing fees and retained interests $ -0- $ 667 $ 201 $ 153

The assumptions used in the subsequent valuation of immediate 10% and 20% adverse change in the current
retained interests at December 31, 2004, and the sensitiv-  assumptions are also provided below:
ity of the current fair value of residual cash flows to the

Guaranteed
Residential Residential
Mortgage Mortgage

(In millions) Securitization Conduit
Valuation assumptions at December 31, 2004:

Discount rate 9.50% 15-20%

Prepayment rate 307 PSA 30%CPR

Weighted-average life 6.14 2.58

Expected credit losses 0.35% 0.05%

Weighted average cost of capital/

Variable returns to transferees 6.41 8 to 10 basis points
over LIBOR

Residual cash flow sensitivity:

Fair value of servicing and retained interests at December 31, 2004 §1.2 $6.9
Prepayment speed:

10% change (0.1) (0.4)

20% change (0.1) (0.8)
Credit losses:

10% change -0- -0-

20% change -0- (0.1)
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This sensitivity test is hypothetical and isolates the poten-
tial impact of changes in a single assumption on total fair
value. These and other assumptions used in the calculation
of fair values may in fact exhibit some positive correlation
(which would potentially magnify the impact of a scenario)
or may exhibit some negative correlation (which would
potentially have some partial offsetting benefit). Also, changes
in assumptions do not provide linear results. Thus, it is not
possible to extrapolate the impact of other scenarios from
these projections.

Included in the retained interest information above are
capitalized mortgage servicing rights and servicing rights
associated with dealer loans. At December 31, 2004 and
2003, AmSouth had approximately $2.9 million and $4.2
million, respectively, of capitalized mortgage servicing rights
with an estimated fair value of $5.5 million and $5.8 mil-
lion, respectively. The following table presents a rollforward
of the servicing assets balance:

(In millions)

Mortgage servicing rights 2004 2003 2002
Beginning of year $ 4.2 $ 100 $ 9.9
Recognized during year 1.0 -0- 1.8
Amortization (2.3} (5.0) (1.7)
Sold during year -0- (0.8) -0-
End of year $ 2.9 $ 42 $ 100
Dealer servicing rights 2004 2003 2002
Beginning of year $ 0.1 $ 0.6 $ 1.8
Amortization (0.1) (0.5) (1.2)
End of year $ 0.0 $ 0.1 $ 0.6

The aggregate amortization expense recorded on mortgage servicing rights during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $2.3 mil-
lion, $5.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively. The estimated future amortization expense, in thousands, associated with

mortgage servicing rights is as follows:

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009

$ 1,133
657

507

98

82
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The following table presents managed loan informa-
tion for those loan categories in which there have been loan
sales or securitizations where AmSouth had a continuing
retained interest at December 31, 2004. This information
includes the total principal amount outstanding, the por-
tion that has been derecognized and the portion that
continues to be recognized in the consolidated balance

sheets as of December 31, 2004, along with quantitative
information about delinquencies and net credit losses (in
millions). In addition to the sales of loans discussed above,
the following table also includes mortgage loans which
were securitized through real estate mortgage investment
conduits (REMICs) in 1998:

Residential Equity Loans Commercial
(Dollars in millions) Mortgages and Lines Loans
QOutstanding as of December 31, 2004:
Loans held in portfolio $ 5,081.8 $ 7,756.7 $ 10,1643
Loans securitized/sold 670.7 -0- 592.5
REMIC (bond portfolio) 37.3 320 -0-
Total managed loans $ 5,789.8 $ 7,788.7 $ 10,756.8
Total delinquencies as of December 31, 2004 $ 1177 $ 90.8 $ 107.6
Delinquencies as a percent of ending managed loans 2.03% 1.17% 1.00%
Net credit losses during 2004 $ 2.9 $ 23.8 $ 357
Net credit losses as a percent of
ending managed loans 0.05% 0.31% 0.33%
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NOTE 22 - CONDENSED PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31
(In thousands) 2004 2003
Assets
Investment in subsidiaries $ 3,749,199 $ 3,581,782
Investment in Eurodollars 419,143 392,055
Available-for-sale securities 9,339 -0-
Other assets 35,583 20,472
$ 4,213,264 $ 3,994,309
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Commercial paper $ 1,597 $ 3,965
Subordinated debt 374,747 524,594
Other borrowed funds 130,388 128,669
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities 137,691 107,412
Total liabilities 644,423 764,640
Shareholders’ equity 3,568,841 3,229,669
$ 4,213,264 $ 3,994,309
STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
Years Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Income
Dividends from bank subsidiary $ 444,000 $ 629,000 $ 628,000
Interest and other 6,967 1,420 2,063
450,967 630,420 630,063
Expenses
Interest 23,512 31,277 35,724
Other 6,081 2,970 2,673
29,593 34,247 38,397
Income before income taxes and equity in
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 421,374 596,173 591,666
Income tax credit 10,829 12,339 13,657
Income before equity in earnings of subsidiaries 432,203 608,512 605,323
Equity in undistributed subsidiaries’ annual earnings 191,295 17,609 3,824
Net Income $ 623,498 $ 626,121 $ 609,147
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Operating Activities
Net income $ 623,498 $ 626,121 $ 609,147
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Net (gains) losses on available-for-sale securities (4,098) 160 -0-
Other amortization and depreciation 443 609 727
Net increase in accrued interest receivable and other assets (20,179) (19,535) (940)
Net increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities 28,333 18,277 10,255
Equity in subsidiaries’ undistributed annual earnings (191,295) (17,609) (3,824)
Net cash provided by operating activities 436,702 608,023 615,365
Investing Activities
Net increase in available-for-sale securities (5,280) -0- -0-
Net increase in other interest-earning assets (27,088) (184,969) (81,969)
Net cash used in investing activities (32,368) (184,969) (81,969)
Financing Activities
Net decrease in commercial paper (2,368) (1,191) (4,749)
Payments for maturing subordinated debt (150,000) (50,000) -0-
Net increase in other borrowed funds 1,648 446 84
Cash dividends paid (337,334) (323,748) (318,777)
Proceeds from employee stock plans, direct stock purchase
and dividend reinvestment plan 134,107 115,035 62,245
Purchases of common stock (50,999) (163,092) (272,104)
Net cash used in financing activities (404,946) (422,550) (533,301)
(Decrease) increase in cash (612) 504 95
Cash at beginning of year 1,013 509 414
Cash at end of year $ 401 $ 1,013 $ 509
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NOTE 23 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

For purposes of this disclosure, the estimated fair value of financial instruments with immediate and shorter-term matu-
rities (generally 90 days or less) is assumed to be the same as the recorded book value. These instruments include the
consolidated balance sheet lines captioned cash and due from banks, loans held for sale, other interest-earning assets, fed-
eral funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to repurchase, and other borrowed funds.

The carrying amount and estimated fair value of other financial instruments at December 31 are summarized as follows:

2004 2003
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
(In thousands) Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Financial assets:
Net loans, excluding leases $ 30,622,263 $ 31,682,908 $ 27,376,927 $ 28,500,958
Derivative asset positions 61,968 61,968 114,397 114,397
Financial liabilities:
Deposits 34,232,779 34,223,048 30,440,353 30,553,483
Long-term FHLB advances 4,371,745 4,516,272 5,737,952 6,153,659
Other long-term debt 2,899,773 2,893,636 2,114,482 2,198,075
Derivative liability positions 75,635 75,635 110,206 110,206

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time
and are based on relevant market information which is con-
tinuously changing. Because no quoted market prices exist
for a significant portion of AmSouth’s financial instruments,
fair values for such instruments are based on Management’s
assumptions with respect to future economic conditions,
estimated discount rates, estimates of the amount and tim-
ing of future cash flows, expected loss experience, and other
factors. These estimates are subjective in nature involving
uncertainties and matters of significant judgment; there-
fore, they cannot be determined with precision. Changes in
the assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

Fair value estimates include certain financial instru-
ments without attempting to estimate the value of anticipated
future business and the value of assets and liabilities that
are not considered financial instruments. For example,
AmSouth has a substantial trust department that contributes
net fee income annually. The trust department is not considered
a financial instrument, and its value has not been incorpo-
rated into the fair value estimates. Other significant assets and
liabilities that are not considered financial assets or liabili-
ties include the mortgage banking operation, brokerage
network, premises and equipment, core deposit intangibles,

and goodwill. In addition, the tax ramifications related to
the realization of the unrealized gains and losses can have a
significant effect on fair value estimates and have not been
considered in the estimates. As a result, the fair value dis-
closures should not be considered an indication of the fair
value of the Company taken as a whole.

The following methods and assumptions were used by
AmSouth in estimating its fair value disclosures for financial
instruments:

Loans The fair value of the loan portfolio, net of leases,
was estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, incor-
porating assumptions relating to repricing rates and
prepayment speeds, where applicable.

Securities and Loans Held for Sale Fair values for securi-
ties and loans held for sale are based on quoted market prices,
where available. Where quoted market prices are not avail-
able, fair values are based on quoted market prices of similar
instruments, adjusted for any significant differences between
the quoted instruments and the instruments being valued.
Available-for-sale securities, trading securities and loans
held for sale are carried at their estimated fair value. See
Note 3 for estimated fair market value information related
to held-to-maturity securities.
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Derivative Instruments The fair value of derivatives uti-
lized by AmSouth for interest rate risk management purposes
is obtained from AmSouth’s in-house pricing system and
compared to dealer quotes for reasonableness. These values
represent the estimated amount the Company would receive
or pay to terminate the contracts or agreements, taking into
account current interest rates and, when appropriate, the
current creditworthiness of the counterparties. The fair value
of derivative contracts entered into for the benefit of cor-
porate customers is based on counterparty quotes.

Deposits The fair value of indeterminate-maturity
deposits, which include noninterest-bearing demand deposits,
savings and money market accounts and interest-bearing
checking accounts, is the amount payable on demand (i.e.,
the carrying amount). The fair values for time deposits are
estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation incor-
porating repricing rates where applicable.

Long-term Borrowings The fair values of long-term bor-
rowings (other than deposits) are estimated using discounted
cash flow analyses.

Commitments to Extend Credit and Standby Letters of
Credit The estimated fair value of unused commitments to
extend credit and standby and commercial letters of credit
is approximated by the fees currently charged to enter into
similar arrangements, considering the remaining terms of
the agreements and any change in the credit quality of the coun-
terparties since the agreements were entered into. Thus, fair
value approximates carrying value. This estimate of fair
value does not take into account the significant value of the
customer relationships as AmSouth does not believe that it
would be practicable to estimate a representational fair value
for these relationships. See Note 12 for further discussion
of commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit.

132

NOTE 24 - VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

FASB Interpretation 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities,” provides guidance on consolidation of an entity
depending on whether the entity is a variable interest entity
(“VIE”) or a voting rights entity. A VIE is defined by
Interpretation 46R to be a business entity which has one or
both of the following characteristics: (1) The equity invest-
ment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance
its activities without additional support from other parties,
which is provided through other interests that will absorb some
or all of the expected losses of the entity; and (2) The equity
investors lack one or more of the following essential char-
acteristics of a controlling financial interest: (a) direct or
indirect ability to make decisions about the entity’s activities
through voting rights or similar rights, (b) the obligation to
absorb the expected losses of the entity if they occur, which
makes it possible for the entity to finance its activities, or
(¢) the right to receive the expected residual returns of the
entity if they occur, which is the compensation for risk of
absorbing expected losses. Interpretation 46R does not
require consolidation by transferors to qualifying special
purpose entities. AmSouth has reviewed many areas of its oper-
ations for potential consolidation. Areas in which VIEs were
identified included: affordable housing projects, leveraged lease
transactions, trusts, and commercial real estate lending.
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AmSouth has limited partnership investments in afford-
able housing projects, for which it provides funding as a
limited partner and receives tax credits related to its invest-
ments in the projects based on its partnership share. At
December 31, 2004, AmSouth had recorded investments in
other assets on its balance sheet of approximately $161.3 mil-
lion that were associated with limited partnership investments
in affordable housing projects. AmSouth currently adjusts
the carrying value of these investments for any losses incurred
by the limited partnership through earnings. AmSouth has deter-
mined that these structures meet the definition of VIEs.
AmSouth has determined that it will not need to consoli-
date any direct limited partnership investments in affordable
housing projects. In some cases, AmSouth is the sole limited
partner in a fund that invests in affordable housing projects.
AmSouth has determined that it is required to consolidate the
funds in which it is the sole limited partner. However, since
these funds are not required to consolidate the underlying
affordable housing projects in which they invest, there is no
financial statement impact associated with their consolida-
tion by AmSouth. At December 31, 2004, AmSouth’s maximum
exposure to loss on these limited partnerships was limited
to the $161.3 million of recorded investment.

AmSouth also reviewed the structures utilized in its
leveraged lease transactions. In these transactions, AmSouth,
as the lessor, finances a minimal amount of the purchase
but has total equity ownership. A third party (debt partic-
ipant) finances the remainder. The property is then leased to
another party. Based on its review, AmSouth determined
that these lease structures meet the definition of VIEs.
However, AmSouth’s current accounting for these leverage
leases is not impacted by Interpretation 46R. At December
31, 2004, AmSouth had a recorded investment in leveraged
leases of $1.8 billion, which represents AmSouth’s maximum
exposure to loss on these leveraged lease transactions.

AmSouth, through its Trust area, acts as a fiduciary to trust
entities which meet the definition of VIEs. AmSouth’s inter-
est is limited to the right to receive fees. AmSouth has
determined that it is not required to consolidate these enti-
ties. AmSouth’s exposure to future loss related to these entities
is limited to fee revenues generated from these trusts.

AmSouth, as a commercial real estate lender, periodi-
cally lends money for the construction or acquisition of
commercial real estate. At December 31, 2004, AmSouth
had approximately $5.9 billion of commercial real estate
loans outstanding and approximately $3.6 billion in unused
commercial real estate commitments to lend money. AmSouth
has determined that some of the entities to which it lends for
commercial real estate purposes meet the definition of VIEs.
AmSouth has reviewed these structures and determined that
any that met the definition of a VIE were not required to be
consolidated. AmSouth’s maximum exposure to loss assaciated
with these commercial real estate transactions is no greater
than the outstanding balance in commercial real estate lend-
ing and any outstanding commitments to lend money
associated with these transactions at December 31, 2004.

NOTE 25 - COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Comprehensive income is the total of net income and all
other non-owner changes in equity. Items that are to be rec-
ognized under accounting standards as components of
comprehensive income are displayed in the consolidated
statements of shareholders’ equity.

In the calculation of comprehensive income, certain
reclassification adjustments are made to avoid double-count-
ing items that are displayed as part of net income for a period
that also had been displayed as part of other comprehen-
sive income in that period or earlier periods.
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The disclosure of the reclassification amount for the three years ended December 31 is as follows:

2004
Before Tax Net of
(In thousands) Tax Effect Tax
Net Income 3 923,479 $  (299,981) $ 623,498
Other Comprehensive Income:
Net unrealized holding gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities arising during the period (7,510) 3,293 (4,217)
Less: reclassification adjustment for net securities
gains realized in nét income 26,620 (10,329) 16,291
Net change in unrealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities (34,130) 13,622 (20,508)
Net unrealized holding gains and losses on
derivatives arising during the period 8,244 (3,222) 5,022
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income 12,944 (4,867) 8,077
Net change in unrealized gains and losses on derivative instruments (4,700) 1,645 (3,055)
Additional minimum benefit liability adjustment (6,268) 2,357 (3,911)
Comprehensive Income $ 878,381 $ (282,357) $ 596,024
2003
Before Tax Net of
(In thousands) Tax Effect Tax
Net Income $ 891,136 $  (265,015) $ 626,121
Other Comprehensive Income:
Net unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale
securities arising during the period (129,813) 54,639 (75,174}
Less: reclassification adjustment for net securities
gains realized in net income 44,862 (16,868) 27,994
Net change in unrealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities (174,675) 71,507 (103,168)
Net unrealized holding gains and losses on derivatives
arising during the period (25,970) 8,504 (17,466)
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income 22,491 (8,457) 14,034
Net change in unrealized gains and losses on derivative instruments (48,461) 16,961 (31,500)
Additional minimum benefit liability adjustment (13,704) 5,153 (8,551)
Comprehensive Income $ 654,296 $  (171,394) $ 482,902
2002
Before Tax Net of
(In thousands) Tax Effect Tax
Net Income $ 871,829 $  (262,682) $ 609,147
Other Comprehensive Income:
Net unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale
securities arising during the period 133,640 (38,398) 95,242
Less: reclassification adjustment for net securities gains
realized in net income 13,174 (4,953) 8,221
Net change in unrealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities 120,466 (33,445) 87,021
Net unrealized holding gains and losses on derivatives
arising during the period 12,495 (5,061) 7,434
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income 26,438 (9,941) 16,497
Net change in unrealized gains and losses on derivative instruments (13,943) 4,880 (9,063)
Comprehensive Income $ 978,352 $  (291,247) $ 687,105
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Ronald L. Kuehn, Jr.

Mr. Kuehn is Chairman of the Board of El Paso Corporation,
North America’s leading provider of natural gas services.
Previously, he was Chief Executive Officer of El Paso Corporation,
from March to September 2003. He is also a former Chairman
of the Board, President and Chief Executive of Sonat Inc., an energy
holding company.

Claude B. Nielsen

Mr. Nielsen is Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
of Coca-Cola Bottling Company United, Inc. Coca-Cola United
is the third largest Coca-Cola Bottler in the U.S. operating 19 fran-
chises in the states of Alabama, Georgia, Louisiana, Mississippi,
Tennessee and South Carolina.

C. Dowd Ritter

Mr. Ritter is Chairman of the Board, President and Chief
Executive Officer of AmSouth Bancorporation and AmSouth
Bank. He has served the Company for 36 years, entered senior
management 24 years ago, and became Chairman of the Board
in 1996.

James R. Malone
Mr. Malone is the Founding and Managing Partner of Qorval
LLC, a financial and business restructuring and consulting firm.

Earnest W. Deavenport, Jr.

Mr. Deavenport was Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer of Eastman Chemical Company, a producer of chemi-
cal, plastic and fiber products, from 1994 to December 2001. He
is also a former Chairman of the National Association of
Manufacturers.

Martha R. Ingram

Ms. Ingram is Chairman of the Board of Ingram Industries
Inc., one of America’s largest privately held companies, with
businesses in marine transportation, book distributing and
insurance. In 2001, The Tennessean newspaper named her
“Tennessean of the Year”

Charles D. McCrary

Mr. McCrary is President and Chief Executive Officer of Alabama
Power Company, a public utility. Before joining Alabama Power,
he was President of Southern Company Generation and Energy
Marketing, a major producer of electrical power.

Cleophus Thomas, Jr.

Mr. Thomas is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of A.G.
Gaston Corp., the holding company for Booker T. Washington
Insurance Co.

Directors are listed chronologically by when they were elected,
earliest to latest.
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C. Dowd Ritter, Chairman, President, and

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Ritter has devoted his entire 36-year career to AmSouth.
After more than a decade gaining leadership experience in posi-
tions throughout the Company, he joined senior management
24 years ago and became Chairman of the Board in 1996.

O. B. Grayson Hall, Jr., Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Hall is head of AmSouth’s Lines of Business/Operations
and Technology Group. The Lines of Business include Consumer
Banking, Commercial Banking, and Wealth Management.
Operations and Technology includes all of the Company’s oper-
ational and technology functions, which he has led for more
than half of his 24-year career with AmSouth.

W. Charles Mayer, 111, Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Mayer is head of the General Banking Group at AmSouth.
General Banking includes the Alabama, Florida and Tennessee
Banking Groups, as well as Mississippi, Louisiana and Georgia.
His 26-year career with AmSouth includes serving as head of
Commercial Banking and AmSouth Bank of Tennessee.

Candice W. Bagby, Senior Executive Vice President

Ms. Bagby heads AmSouth’s Consumer Banking Group. She
joined AmSouth as Executive Vice President in 1994. Her 32
years of banking experience includes senior positions at Bank
One and United Banks of Colorado.

David B. Edmonds, Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Edmonds is head of the Human Resources Division at
AmSouth. He joined the Company in 1994 from Pepsi-Cola,
where he headed Human Resources for the Southeastern region.
He began his 25-year career in human resources at Mobil Qil
Corporation.

John M. Gaffney, Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Gaffney heads the Commercial Banking Group at AmSouth.
He has spent his entire 27-year career at the Company, includ-
ing senior positions in Corporate and Commercial Banking,
and Area Executive for North Central Alabama.
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Susan A. Martinez, Senior Executive Vice President

Ms. Martinez heads AmSouth’s Florida Banking Group. She
previously served as the Area Executive for West Coast Florida.
Ms. Martinez joined AmSouth in 1998 after a 25-year career
at Barnett Bank.

Beth E. Mooney, Senior Executive Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer

Ms. Mooney is head of AmSouth’s Chief Financial Officer Group.
She joined AmSouth in 2000 as head of the Tennessee/North
Louisiana Banking Group. Her 27-year banking career also
includes serving as president of Bank One Ohio and manage-
ment positions at Citicorp and First Republic Bank.

E. W. Stephenson, Jr., Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Stephenson heads the Tennessee Banking Group at AmSouth.
He has held numerous management posts in his 34-year career
at the Company, including head of the Florida/Mississippi
Banking Group and Consumer Banking.

Geoffrey A. von Kuhn, Senior Executive Vice President

M. von Kuhn is head of AmSouth’s Wealth Management Group
and Chairman of AmSouth Investment Services. He joined the
Company in 2001 after leading Citigroup’s U.S. Private Bank. His
32-year banking career began at Lehman Brothers and includes
positions with Bank One and Bankers Trust.

William C. Wells, I1, Senior Executive Vice President

and Chief Risk Officer

Mr. Wells heads AmSouth’s Risk Management Group. He joined
AmSouth in 2004 from SouthTrust Corporation, where he served
as Executive Vice President and Chief Risk Officer. Prior to join-
ing SouthTrust in 1998, he was a commissioned National Bank
Examiner with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency.
His 25-year banking career began as an auditor with First
Columbus National Bank.




CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Headquarters
AmSouth Bancorporation
AmSouth Center

1900 Fifth Avenue North
Birmingham, AL 35203

Mailing Address
Post Office Box 11007
Birmingham, AL 35288

Internet Address
www.amsouth.com

Annual Meeting

AmSouth Bancorporation’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders
is scheduled for Thursday, April 21, 2005, at 11:00 a.m.,,
Central Time, at the AmSouth Upper Lobby Auditorium in
the AmSouth Harbert Plaza at 1901 Sixth Avenue, North,
Birmingham, Alabama.

Common Stock

AmSouth common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange and is traded under the symbol ASO. It is listed in
The Wall Street Journal as AmSoBcp.

Debt Ratings
For a complete listing of all debt ratings, see page 67.

Stock Transfer Agent

The Bank of New York
Post Office Box 11002
Church Street Station
New York, NY 10286-1002

Shareholders requiring a change of address or information about
certificates or dividend checks should contact:

Shareholders’ Services

(877) 679-5704 (Toll Free)

or (205) 326-5807

Direct Deposit

With Direct Deposit, shareholders may enjoy the convenience
of having dividends or interest payments directly deposited
into their AmSouth checking or savings account. There is no
cost for this service. Shareholders may obtain further informa-
tion about Direct Deposit by contacting Shareholders’ Services
at (877) 679-5704, or by writing AmSouth’s corporate head-
quarters in care of the Investor Relations Department.

Direct Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Through the AmSouth Bancorporation Direct Stock Purchase
and Dividend Reinvestment Plan, investors can make initial
investments in AmSouth common stock, reinvest their
AmSouth dividends in additional shares of common stock,
and make additional optional cash investments. AmSouth
assumes all costs associated with the purchase of shares under

the Plan. Participating shareholders also have the option to
deposit certificates into their Dividend Reinvestment Plan
account. For more information and a Plan prospectus,
you can go online to www.stockbny.com and select AmSouth
Bancorporation’s Direct Stock Purchase and Dividend
Reinvestment Plan from the “Company List” tab, or contact:

The Bank of New York

Dividend Reinvestment Department

P.O. Box 1958

Newark, NJ 07101-9774

1-800-432-0140

Investor Inquiries

Analysts, investors and others seeking information should contact:
M. List Underwood, Jr. or  Tobin N. Vinson
Investor Relations Investor Relations
(205) 801-0265 (205) 326-4891

Media Inquiries

Media representatives secking general information should contact:
Richard C. Swagler, Jr.
Media Relations
(205) 801-0105

Investor Relations Resource Center
AmSouth offers all of its financial publications including
annual and quarterly reports to shareholders and Securities
and Exchange Commission filings at its Investor Relations
Resource Center at www.amsouth.com. The resource center
also offers investors the latest news and information about
AmSouth including news releases and recent management
presentations, as well as research tools for investors.
Additional copies of the corporation’s Annual Report, Form
10-K, quarterly reports and other corporate publications are
also available on request by writing or calling our
Investor Relations Department at the corporate headquarters,
(205) 581-7890.

Enroll Now for Electronic Delivery

Shareholders can enjoy the benefits and convenience of receiv-
ing Proxy Statements, Annual Reports and other shareholder
materials online, reducing paper mailed to your home and
helping AmSouth communicate with shareholders more effi-
ciently. To receive shareholder communications via the
Internet, simply go to www.icsdelivery.com/aso and
follow the instructions. When information on AmSouth
becomes available electronically, you will be sent an e-mail
notification. Investors may also sign up at the Investor
Relations Resource Center at www.amsouth.com.
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